

City of Dallas

Agenda Information Sheet

File #: 19-344 Item #: 2.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY: Government Performance and Financial Management

AGENDA DATE: March 27, 2019

COUNCIL DISTRICT(S): N/A

DEPARTMENT: City Controller's Office

EXECUTIVE: Elizabeth Reich

SUBJECT

An ordinance authorizing (1) the issuance and sale of City of Dallas, Texas, General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 2019A, in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed \$271,020,000; (2) levying a tax in payment thereof; (3) awarding the sale thereof and approving execution of a Purchase Agreement, and a Deposit Agreement; (4) approving the official statement; (5) enacting other provisions relating to the subject; and (6) declaring an effective date - Not to exceed \$720,000 - Financing: 2019A General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bond Funds

BACKGROUND

Pursuant to elections held in November 2006, 2012, and 2017, the residents of Dallas voted and authorized the City to issue general obligation bonds for the purpose of providing funds for permanent public improvements. The City's Financial Advisors recommend: (1) refunding and retirement of commercial paper notes issued for interim financing; and (2) issuance of improvement bonds to finance capital improvement projects at the City, in an amount not to exceed \$271,020,000.

The City's financial advisors, PFM Financial Advisors LLC, recommend issuing up to \$271,020,000 in refunding and improvement bonds for the purpose of funding capital improvements, refunding outstanding commercial paper notes, and refunding special obligations of the City.

This ordinance authorizes City staff and financial advisors, subject to parameters, to competitively bid the sale and issuance of City of Dallas, Texas, General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 2019A, and establishes the maximum par amount of bonds to be issued at \$271,020,000.

ESTIMATED SCHEDULE OF PROJECT

Authorized Preparation for Issuance of Bonds
Approval of Parameters Ordinance
Pricing

December 2018
March 2019
April 2019

Delivery of Proceeds May 2019

PRIOR ACTION/REVIEW (COUNCIL, BOARDS, COMMISSIONS)

The Government Performance and Financial Management Committee was briefed on this item on December 3, 2018.

On December 12, 2018, City Council authorized the preparation of plans for issuance of General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2019A, by Resolution No. 18-1756.

FISCAL INFORMATION

Series 2019A General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bond Funds - \$720,000 (See Attachment I)

M/WBE INFORMATION

See Attachment I for M/WBE participation.

Attachment I

Series 2019A General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds \$271,020,000

Estimate of Total Bond Issuance Costs and M/WBE Participation

	Fees	Percent of Total Costs
Co-Bond Counsel Bracewell (Vendor VS0000056820) West & Associates (Vendor 330805)	\$226,000 80,000	31% 11%
Disclosure Counsel Orrick Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP (Vendor VC18413)	80,000	11%
Financial Advisor PFM (Vendor VC16222)	183,350	25%
Printing Fee TBD	5,000	1%
Paying Agent Fee UMB Bank, N.A. (Vendor VS92247)	200	0%
Rating Agencies Fitch Ratings (Vendor VC14720) S&P Global (Vendor 954974)	60,771 69,279	8% 10%
Attorney General Filing Fee	9,500	1%
Misc. Expenses	5,900	1%
Total Issuance Costs	\$720,000	100%
Total M/WBE Participation as % of Total Issuance Costs:	\$85,000	12%

Note: Payment of fees and expenses is contingent upon the issuance and sale of the General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 2019A.

ORDINANCE NO. _____AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF

CITY OF DALLAS, TEXAS GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS SERIES 2019B

Adopted: March 27, 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		<u>Page</u>
	ARTICLE I	
	DEFINITIONS AND OTHER PRELIMINARY MATTERS	
Section 1.01.	Definitions	1
Section 1.02.	Findings	
Section 1.03.	Table of Contents, Titles and Headings	
Section 1.04.	Interpretation	
	•	
	ARTICLE II SECURITY FOR THE BONDS	
Section 2.01.	Tax Levy for Payment of the Bonds	5
	ARTICLE III	
AUTHORIZA	ATION; GENERAL TERMS AND PROVISIONS REGARDING THE B	ONDS
Section 3.01.	Authorization	5
Section 3.02.	Date, Denomination	6
Section 3.03.	Medium	6
Section 3.04.	Execution and Initial Registration	7
Section 3.05.	Ownership	8
Section 3.06.	Registration, Transfer and Exchange	
Section 3.07.	Cancellation and Authentication	9
Section 3.08.	Temporary Bonds	10
Section 3.09.	Replacement Bonds	
Section 3.10.	Book-Entry-Only System	11
Section 3.11.	Successor Securities Depository: Transfer Outside Book-Entry-Only	
	System	12
Section 3.12.	Payments to Cede & Co	13
	ARTICLE IV	
	REDEMPTION OF BONDS BEFORE MATURITY	
Section 4.01.	Limitation on Redemption	13
Section 4.02.	Optional Redemption	13
Section 4.03.	Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption	
Section 4.04.	Partial Redemption	13
Section 4.05.	Notice of Redemption to Owners	
Section 4.06.	Payment Upon Redemption	
Section 4.07.	Effect of Redemption	
Section 4.08.	Lapse of Payment	
	ARTICLE V	
	PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR	
Section 5.01.	Appointment of Initial Paying Agent/Registrar	15
Section 5.02.	Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement	
Section 5.03.	Qualifications	
Section 5.04.	Maintaining Paying Agent/Registrar	
Section 5.05.	Termination	
Section 5.06.	Notice of Change to Owners	
Section 5.07.	Agreement to Perform Duties and Functions	
	O =	

i

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

		<u>Page</u>
Section 5.08.	Delivery of Records to Successor	16
	ARTICLE VI	
	FORM OF THE BONDS	
Section 6.01.	Form Generally	17
Section 6.02.	Form of the Bonds	
Section 6.03.	CUSIP Registration	23
Section 6.04.	Legal Opinion	23
Section 6.05.	Municipal Bond Insurance	
	ARTICLE VII	
CREATION O	OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS, INITIAL DEPOSITS AND APPLICAT	ION OF
	MONEY	
Section 7.01.	Creation of Funds	23
Section 7.02.	Initial Deposits	
Section 7.03.	Interest and Sinking Fund	
Section 7.04.	Escrow Fund	24
Section 7.05.	Excess Bond Proceeds	24
Section 7.06.	Security of Funds	24
	ARTICLE VIII	
	INVESTMENTS	
Section 8.01.	Investments	24
Section 8.02.	Investment Income	
	ARTICLE IX	
	PARTICULAR REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS	
Section 9.01.	Payment of the Bonds	25
Section 9.02.	Other Representations and Covenants	25
Section 9.03.	Covenants to Maintain Tax-Exempt Status	
	ARTICLE X	
	DEFAULT AND REMEDIES	
Section 10.01.	Events of Default	28
Section 10.02.	Remedies for Default	
Section 10.03.	Remedies Not Exclusive	
	ARTICLE XI	
	DISCHARGE	
Section 11.01.	Discharge	29
	ARTICLE XII	
SALEAND DE	ELIVERY OF BONDS; APPROVAL OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT; CO	NTR∩ī
BALL AND DE	AND DELIVERY OF BONDS	MINOL
Section 12.01.	Sale of Bonds; Delivery of Official Statement	30
	•	

74124180.4 ii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

Section 12.02.	Control and Delivery of Bonds	Page
Section 12.02.	Control and Derivery of Bonds	
	ARTICLE XIII	
	CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING	
Section 13.01.	Annual Reports	32
Section 13.02.	Material Event Notices	
Section 13.03.	Limitations, Disclaimers and Amendments	
Section 13.04.	Amendments to the Rule	
	ARTICLE XIV	
	AMENDMENTS; ATTORNEY GENERAL MODIFICATION	
Section 14.01.	Amendments	35
Section 14.02.	Attorney General Modification	
Section 14.03.	Partial Invalidity	35
Section 14.04.	No Personal Liability	
	ARTICLE XV	
PAYMENT O	F REFUNDED OBLIGATIONS; APPROVAL OF ESCROW AGR PURCHASE OF ESCROWED SECURITIES	EEMENT;
Section 15.01.	Payment of Refunded Obligations	35
Section 15.02.	Approval of Escrow Agreement	
Section 15.03.	Subscription for Securities	
	ARTICLE XVI	
	EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY	
Section 16.01.	Effective Immediately	36
SCHEDULE I	REFUNDED OBLIGATIONS	I-1
EXHIBIT A	SALE PARAMETERS	A-1
EXHIBIT A	SALE PARAMETERS	A-

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DALLAS, TEXAS, AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF CITY OF DALLAS, TEXAS, GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2019B IN AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED \$174,705,000; LEVYING A TAX IN PAYMENT THEREOF; APPROVING EXECUTION OF AN ESCROW AGREEMENT; APPROVING THE PREPARATION OF AN OFFICIAL STATEMENT; ENACTING OTHER PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE SUBJECT; AND DECLARING AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, there are presently outstanding certain general or special obligations of the City of Dallas, Texas (the "City") described on Schedule I hereto (the "Refunded Obligations"); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 1207 of the Texas Government Code, as amended ("Chapter 1207"), the City Council of the City is authorized to issue refunding bonds and deposit the proceeds of sale directly with a trust company or commercial bank that is named in the proceedings of the City authorizing execution of an escrow agreement, and such deposit, when made in accordance with such statute, shall constitute the making of firm banking and financial arrangements for the discharge and final payment of the Refunded Obligations; and

WHEREAS, the City Council desires to delegate to the Authorized Officer (as defined herein), pursuant to Chapter 1207, and the parameters set forth in this Ordinance, the authority to approve the amount, the number of series, the interest rate, the price and terms of the bonds authorized hereby and to otherwise take such actions as are necessary and appropriate to effect the sale of the bonds and the refunding of the Refunded Obligations; and

WHEREAS, the City Council hereby finds and determines that the manner in which the refunding is being executed does not make it practicable to calculate a savings amount attributable to the refunding of the Refunded Obligations, but that the refunding contemplated in this Ordinance will benefit the City and is in the best interests of the City; and that such benefit is sufficient consideration for the refunding of the Refunded Obligations; and

WHEREAS, the meeting at which this Ordinance is considered is open to the public as required by law, and public notice of the time, place, and purpose of such meeting was given as required by Chapter 551, Texas Government Code, as amended;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DALLAS, TEXAS:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS AND OTHER PRELIMINARY MATTERS

Section 1.01. <u>Definitions</u>. Unless otherwise expressly provided or unless the context clearly requires otherwise in this Ordinance, the following terms shall have the meanings specified below:

"Authorized Officer" means the City Manager of the City, and in his or her absence, the Chief Financial Officer or any Assistant City Manager.

"Bond" means any of the Bonds.

"Bonds" means the "City of Dallas, Texas General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B."

"Business Day" means a day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or other day on which banking institutions in the city where the Designated Payment/Transfer Office is located are required or authorized by law or executive order to close.

"Charter" means the Home Rule Charter of the City, as amended.

"City" means the City of Dallas, Texas.

"City Council" means the governing body of the City of Dallas, Texas.

"Closing Date" means the date of the initial delivery of and payment for the Bonds.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, including applicable regulations, published rulings and court decisions relating thereto.

"Designated Payment/Transfer Office" means (i) with respect to the initial Paying Agent/Registrar identified in the Pricing Certificate, its corporate trust office as set forth in the final form of the Bond, and (ii) with respect to any successor Paying Agent/Registrar, the office of such successor designated and located as may be agreed upon by the City and such successor.

"DTC" means The Depository Trust Company of New York, New York, or any successor securities depository.

"DTC Participant" means brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations on whose behalf DTC was created to hold securities to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions among DTC Participants.

"EMMA" means the Electronic Municipal Market Access System.

"Escrow Agent" means the Escrow Agent appointed and approved in the Pricing Certificate.

"Escrow Agreement" means the escrow agreement by and between the City and the Escrow Agent relating to the Refunded Obligations.

"Escrow Fund" means the fund established by Section 7.01 of this Ordinance to hold cash and, if applicable, securities for the payment of the Refunded Obligations.

"Escrow Securities" means (1) direct noncallable obligations of the United States, including obligations that are unconditionally guaranteed by the United States; (2) noncallable obligations of an agency or instrumentality of the United States, including obligations that are unconditionally guaranteed or insured by the agency or instrumentality and that, on the date of hereof, are rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not less

than "AAA" or its equivalent; and (3) noncallable obligations of a state or an agency or a county, municipality, or other political subdivision of a state that have been refunded and that, on the date hereof, are rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not less than "AAA" or its equivalent.

"Event of Default" means any event of default as defined in Section 10.01 of this Ordinance.

"Financial Obligation" means a (a) debt obligation; (b) derivative instrument entered into in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation; or (c) guarantee of a debt obligation or any such derivative instrument; provided that "Financial Obligation" shall not include municipal securities (as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as to which a final official statement (as defined in the Rule) has been provided to the MSRB consistent with the Rule.

"Fiscal Year" means such fiscal year as shall be prescribed by the Charter and which under the existing Charter commences October 1 and ends September 30 of the following year.

"Initial Bond" means the initial Bond, described in Sections 3.04(d) and 6.02(d) of this Ordinance.

"Interest and Sinking Fund" means the "City of Dallas, Texas, General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B, Interest and Sinking Fund," as established by Section 7.01 of this Ordinance.

"Interest Payment Date" means the date or dates upon which interest on the Bonds is scheduled to be paid until the maturity or prior redemption of the Bonds, such dates being February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing on the date set forth in the Pricing Certificate.

"MSRB" means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.

"Original Issue Date" means the date designated as such in Section 3.02(a) of this Ordinance.

"Owner" means the person who is the registered owner of a Bond or Bonds, as shown in the Register.

"Paying Agent/Registrar" means UMB Bank, N.A., any successor thereto, or any entity which is appointed as and assumes the duties of paying agent/registrar as provided in this Ordinance.

"Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement" means that Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2018 by and between the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar, as amended, modified or supplemented from time to time, and any subsequent paying agent/registrar agreement with any successor entity which is appointed as and assumes the duties of paying agent/registrar for the Bonds.

"Pricing Certificate" means a certificate or certificates to be signed by the Authorized Officer.

"Purchase Agreement" means one or more bond purchase agreements described in Section 12.01(b) of this Ordinance, if any.

"Purchaser" means the initial purchaser(s) of the Bonds as specified in the Pricing Certificate.

"Record Date" means the last Business Day of the month next preceding an Interest Payment Date.

"Refunded Obligations" means those general or special obligations of the City described in Schedule I attached hereto.

"Register" means the Register specified in Section 3.06(a) of this Ordinance.

"Representation Letter" means the Blanket Letter of Representations between the City and DTC applicable to the Bonds.

"Rule" means SEC Rule 15c2-12, as amended from time to time.

"SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Special Payment Date" means the Special Payment Date prescribed by Section 3.03(b).

"Special Record Date" means the Special Record Date prescribed by Section 3.03(b).

"Term Bonds" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.03(a) hereof.

"Unclaimed Payments" means money deposited with the Paying Agent/Registrar for the payment of principal of or interest on the Bonds as the same come due and payable or money set aside for the payment of Bonds duly called for redemption prior to maturity, and remaining unclaimed by the Owners of such Bonds for 90 days after the applicable payment or redemption date.

Section 1.02. <u>Findings</u>. The declarations, determinations and findings declared, made and found in the preamble to this Ordinance are hereby adopted, restated and made a part of the operative provisions hereof.

Section 1.03. <u>Table of Contents, Titles and Headings</u>. The table of contents, titles and headings of the Articles and Sections of this Ordinance have been inserted for convenience of reference only and are not to be considered a part hereof and shall not in any way modify or restrict any of the terms or provisions hereof and shall never be considered or given any effect in construing this Ordinance or any provision hereof or in ascertaining intent, if any question of intent should arise.

Section 1.04. Interpretation.

(a) Unless the context requires otherwise, words of the masculine gender shall be construed to include correlative words of the feminine and neuter genders and vice versa, and words of the singular number shall be construed to include correlative words of the plural number and vice versa.

- (b) This Ordinance and all the terms and provisions hereof shall be liberally construed to effectuate the purposes set forth herein and to sustain the validity of this Ordinance.
- (c) Article and section references shall mean references to articles and sections of this Ordinance unless designated otherwise.

ARTICLE II

SECURITY FOR THE BONDS

Section 2.01. <u>Tax Levy for Payment of the Bonds</u>.

- (a) The City Council hereby declares and covenants that it will provide and levy a tax legally and fully sufficient for payment of the Bonds, it having been determined that the existing and available taxing authority of the City for such purpose is adequate to permit a legally sufficient tax in consideration of all other outstanding obligations of the City.
- (b) In order to provide for the payment of the debt service requirements of the Bonds, being (i) the interest on the Bonds and (ii) a sinking fund for their payment at maturity or a sinking fund of two percent per annum (whichever amount is the greater), there is hereby levied for the current year and each succeeding year thereafter while the Bonds or interest thereon remain outstanding and unpaid, a tax within legal limitations on each \$100 assessed valuation of taxable property in the City that is sufficient to pay such debt service requirements, full allowance being made for delinquencies and costs of collection.
- (c) The tax levied by this Section shall be assessed and collected each year and applied to the payment of the debt service requirements on the Bonds, and the tax shall not be diverted to any other purpose.
- (d) Such ad valorem tax, the collections therefrom, and all amounts on deposit in or required hereby to be deposited to the Interest and Sinking Fund for the Bonds are hereby pledged and committed irrevocably to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds when and as due and payable in accordance with their terms and this Ordinance.
- (e) If the liens and provisions of this Ordinance shall be discharged in a manner permitted by Article XI hereof, then the collection of such ad valorem tax may be suspended or appropriately reduced, as the facts may permit, and further deposits to the Interest and Sinking Fund may be suspended or appropriately reduced, as the facts may permit. In determining the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Bonds, there shall be subtracted the amount of any Bonds that have been duly called for redemption and for which money has been deposited in accordance with Article XI herein.

ARTICLE III

AUTHORIZATION; GENERAL TERMS AND PROVISIONS REGARDING THE BONDS

Section 3.01. <u>Authorization</u>. The City's bonds to be designated "City of Dallas, Texas, General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B" or such other designations as are set forth in the Pricing Certificate, are hereby authorized to be issued and delivered in accordance with the

Constitution and laws of the State of Texas and the Charter of the City. The Bonds shall be issued in the aggregate principal amount designated in the Pricing Certificate for the public purpose of providing funds to: (i) refund the Refunded Obligations, and (ii) pay the costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds (including, without limitation, underwriters' discount), under and by virtue of Chapter 1207, Texas Government Code, as amended, and pursuant to Chapter XXI of the Charter of the City. The Authorized Officer is hereby authorized and directed to modify the title of the Series to the extent that, in the judgment of the Authorized Officer, it is necessary or appropriate. The final title and principal amount of the Bonds shall be determined by the Authorized Officer, based on market conditions in the discretion of the Authorized Officer, and set forth in the Pricing Certificate. The Bonds shall be issued in the number of series and aggregate principal amount per series designated in the Pricing Certificate, provided that the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds issued for the purposes described above shall not exceed \$174,705,000.

Section 3.02. Date, Denomination. Maturities, Numbers and Interest.

- (a) The Bonds shall have the Original Issue Date set forth in the Pricing Certificate, shall be in fully registered form, without coupons, in the denomination of \$5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, and shall be numbered separately from one upward or such other designation acceptable to the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar, except the Initial Bond, which shall be numbered T-1.
- (b) The Bonds shall mature on February 15 in the years, at the interest rates and in the principal amounts set forth in the Pricing Certificate.
- (c) Interest on each Bond shall accrue from the later of the Original Issue Date (or the date of their delivery to the Purchaser, as set forth in the Pricing Certificate) or the most recent Interest Payment Date to which interest has been paid or provided for at the per annum rates of interest specified in the Pricing Certificate. Such interest shall be payable on each Interest Payment Date until the principal amount shall have been paid or provision for such payment shall have been made, and shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months.

Section 3.03. Medium. Method and Place of Payment: Unclaimed Payments.

- (a) The principal of and interest on the Bonds shall be paid in lawful money of the United States of America.
- (b) Interest on the Bonds shall be payable to the Owners whose names appear in the Register at the close of business on the Record Date; provided, however, in the event of nonpayment of interest on a scheduled Interest Payment Date and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for such interest payment (a "Special Record Date") shall be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the payment of such interest have been received from the City. Notice of the Special Record Date and of the scheduled payment date of the past due interest (the "Special Payment Date," which shall be 15 days after the Special Record Date) shall be sent at least five Business Days prior to the Special Record Date by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the address of each Owner of a Bond appearing on the Register at the close of business on the last Business Day next preceding the date of mailing of such notice.
- (c) Interest on the Bonds shall be paid by check (dated as of the Interest Payment Date) and sent by the Paying Agent/Registrar to the person entitled to such payment, by United States

mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the address of such person as it appears in the Register, or by such other customary banking arrangements acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar and the person to whom interest is to be paid; provided, however, that such person shall bear all risk and expenses of such other customary banking arrangements.

- (d) The principal of each Bond shall be paid to the person in whose name such Bond is registered on the due date thereof (whether at the maturity date or the date of prior redemption thereof) upon presentation and surrender of such Bond at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office.
- (e) If the date for the payment of the principal of or interest on any Bond is a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday, or a day on which banking institutions in the city where the Designated Payment/Transfer Office is located are authorized by law or executive order to close, then the date for such payment shall be the next succeeding day which is not a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday, or day on which such banking institutions are authorized to close; and payment on such date shall have the same force and effect as if made on the original date payment was due.
- (f) Unclaimed Payments shall be segregated in a special account and held in trust, uninvested by the Paying Agent/Registrar, for the account of the Owner of the Bonds to which the Unclaimed Payments pertain. Subject to the provisions of Title 6, Texas Property Code, as amended, Unclaimed Payments remaining unclaimed by the Owners entitled thereto for three years after the applicable payment or redemption date shall be applied to the next payment or payments on the Bonds thereafter coming due and, to the extent any such money remains after the retirement of all outstanding Bonds, shall be paid to the City to be used for any lawful purpose. Thereafter, neither the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar nor any other person shall be liable or responsible to any Owners of such Bonds for any further payment of such unclaimed moneys or on account of any such Bonds, subject to any applicable escheat law or similar law.

Section 3.04. Execution and Initial Registration.

- (a) The Bonds shall be executed on behalf of the City by the Mayor and countersigned by the City Secretary and the City Manager, by their manual or facsimile signatures, and the official seal of the City shall be impressed or placed in facsimile thereon. Any facsimile signatures on the Bonds shall have the same effect as if each of the Bonds had been signed manually and in person by each of such officers, and such facsimile seal on the Bonds shall have the same effect as if the official seal of the City had been manually impressed upon each of the Bonds.
- (b) In the event that any officer of the City whose manual or facsimile signature appears on the Bonds ceases to be such officer before the authentication of such Bonds or before the delivery thereof, such manual or facsimile signature nevertheless shall be valid and sufficient for all purposes as if such officer had remained in such office.
- (c) Except as provided below, no Bond shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any security or benefit of this Ordinance unless and until there appears thereon the Certificate of Paying Agent/Registrar substantially in the form provided in this Ordinance, duly authenticated by manual execution of the Paying Agent/Registrar. It shall not be required that the same authorized representative of the Paying Agent/Registrar sign the Certificate of Paying Agent/Registrar on all of the Bonds. In lieu of the executed Certificate of Paying Agent/Registrar described above, the Initial Bond delivered on the Closing Date shall have attached thereto the Comptroller's Registration Certificate substantially in the form provided in this Ordinance, manually executed by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas or by his duly

authorized agent, which certificate shall be evidence that the Initial Bond has been duly approved by the Attorney General of the State of Texas and that it is a valid and binding obligation of the City, and has been registered by the Comptroller.

(d) On the Closing Date, the typewritten Initial Bond representing the entire principal amount of the Bonds, payable in stated installments to the Purchaser or its designee, executed by manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor and countersigned by manual or facsimile signatures of the City Secretary and the City Manager, approved by the Attorney General, and registered and manually signed by the Comptroller of Public Accounts will be delivered to the Purchaser or its designee. Upon payment for the Initial Bond, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall cancel the Initial Bond and deliver to DTC on behalf of the Purchaser registered definitive Bonds as described in Section 3.10. To the extent the Paying Agent/Registrar is eligible to participate in DTC's FAST System, as evidenced by agreement between the Paying Agent/Registrar and DTC, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall hold the definitive Bonds in safekeeping for DTC.

Section 3.05. Ownership.

- (a) The City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and any other person may treat the person in whose name any Bond is registered as the absolute owner of such Bond for the purpose of making and receiving payment of the principal thereof and premium, if any, thereon, for the further purpose of making and receiving payment of the interest thereon (subject to the provisions herein that interest is to be paid to the person in whose name the Bond is registered on the Record Date or on the Special Record Date, as applicable), and for all other purposes, whether or not such Bond is overdue, and neither the City nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be bound by any notice or knowledge to the contrary.
- (b) All payments made to the person deemed to be the Owner of any Bond in accordance with this Section shall be valid and effectual and shall discharge the liability of the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar upon such Bond to the extent of the sums paid.

Section 3.06. Registration, Transfer and Exchange.

- (a) So long as any Bonds remain outstanding, the City shall cause the Paying Agent/Registrar to keep at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office the Register in which, subject to such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall provide for the registration and transfer of Bonds in accordance with this Ordinance.
- (b) Registration of any Bond may be transferred in the Register only upon the presentation and surrender thereof at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office for transfer of registration and cancellation, together with proper written instruments of assignment, in form and with guarantee of signatures satisfactory to the Paying Agent/Registrar, evidencing assignment of the Bonds, or any portion thereof in any integral multiple of \$5,000 for any one maturity, to the assignee or assignees thereof, and the right of such assignee or assignees thereof to have the Bond or any portion thereof registered in the name of such assignee or assignees. No transfer of any Bond shall be effective until entered in the Register. Upon assignment and transfer of any Bond or portion thereof, a new Bond or Bonds will be issued by the Paying Agent/Registrar in exchange for such transferred and assigned Bond. To the extent possible the Paying Agent/Registrar will issue such new Bond or Bonds within not more than three Business Days after receipt of the Bond to be transferred in proper form and with proper instructions directing such transfer.

- (c) Any Bond may be exchanged only upon the presentation and surrender thereof at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office, together with a written request therefor duly executed by the Owner or assignee or assignees thereof, or its or their duly authorized attorneys or representatives, with guarantees of signatures satisfactory to the Paying Agent/Registrar, for a Bond or Bonds of the same maturity and interest rate and in any authorized denomination and in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unpaid principal amount of the Bond presented for exchange. If a portion of any Bond is redeemed prior to its schedule maturity as provided herein, a substitute Bond or Bonds having the same maturity date, bearing interest at the same rate, in the denomination or denominations of any integral multiple of \$5,000 of any one maturity at the request of the Owner, and in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion thereof, will be issued to the Owner upon surrender thereof for cancellation. To the extent possible, a new Bond or Bonds shall be delivered by the Paying Agent/Registrar to the Owner of the Bond or Bonds within not more than three Business Days after receipt of the Bond to be exchanged in proper form and with proper instructions directing such exchange.
- (d) Each Bond issued in exchange for any Bond or portion thereof assigned or transferred shall have the same principal maturity date and shall bear interest at the same rate as the Bond for which it is being exchanged. Each substitute Bond shall bear a letter and/or number to distinguish it from each other Bond. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall exchange the Bonds as provided herein, and each substitute Bond delivered in accordance with this Section shall constitute an original additional contractual obligation of the City and shall be entitled to the benefits and security of this Ordinance to the same extent as the Bond or Bonds in lieu of which such substitute Bond or Bonds are delivered.
- (e) The City will pay the Paying Agent/Registrar's reasonable and customary charge for the initial registration or any subsequent transfer or exchange of Bonds, but the Paying Agent/Registrar will require the Owner to pay a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that is authorized to be imposed in connection with the registration, transfer or exchange of a Bond. In addition, the City hereby covenants with the Owners of the Bonds that it will (i) pay the reasonable and standard or customary fees and charges of the Paying Agent/Registrar for its services with respect to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds, when due, and (ii) pay the fees and charges of the Paying Agent/Registrar for services with respect to the transfer, registration and exchange of Bonds as provided herein.
- (f) Neither the City nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be required to issue, transfer, or exchange any Bond called for redemption, in whole or in part, within 45 days of the date fixed for redemption; provided, however, such limitation shall not be applicable to an exchange by the Owner of the uncalled principal balance of a Bond.

Section 3.07. Cancellation and Authentication.

- (a) All Bonds paid in accordance with this Ordinance, and all Bonds in lieu of which exchange Bonds or replacement Bonds are authenticated and delivered in accordance with this Ordinance, shall be cancelled upon the making of proper records regarding such payment, redemption, exchange or replacement. Cancelled Bonds shall be disposed of in accordance with the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 and the regulations promulgated thereunder.
- (b) Each substitute Bond issued pursuant to the provisions of Sections 3.06 and 3.09 of this Ordinance, in exchange for or replacement of any Bond or Bonds issued under this Ordinance,

shall have printed thereon a Certificate of the Paying Agent/Registrar, in the form hereinafter set forth. An authorized representative of the Paying Agent/Registrar shall, before the delivery of any such Bond, manually sign and date such Certificate, and no such Bond shall be deemed to be issued or outstanding unless such Certificate is so executed. No additional ordinances, orders, or resolutions need be passed or adopted by the City Council or any other body or person so as to accomplish the foregoing exchange or replacement of any Bond or portion thereof, and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall provide for the printing, execution, and delivery of the substitute Bonds in the manner prescribed herein, and such Bonds shall be of customary type and composition and printed, typewritten, lithographed, mimeographed or otherwise produced. Pursuant to Chapter 1201, Texas Government Code, the duty of exchange or replacement of Bonds as aforesaid is hereby imposed upon the Paying Agent/Registrar, and, upon the execution of the above-referenced Certificate of the Paying Agent/Registrar, the exchanged or replaced Bonds shall be valid, incontestable, and enforceable in the same manner and with the same effect as the Initial Bond which originally was delivered pursuant to this Ordinance, approved by the Attorney General, and registered by the Comptroller of Public Accounts.

(c) Bonds issued in exchange or replacement of any other Bond or portion thereof, (i) shall be issued in fully registered form, without interest coupons, with the principal of and interest on such Bonds to be payable only to the registered owners thereof, (ii) may be transferred and assigned, (iii) may be exchanged for other Bonds, (iv) shall have the characteristics, (v) shall be signed and sealed, and (vi) shall be payable as to principal and interest, all as provided, and in the manner required or indicated, in the form of Bond set forth in this Ordinance.

Section 3.08. <u>Temporary Bonds</u>.

- (a) Following the delivery and registration of the Initial Bond and pending the preparation of definitive Bonds, the proper officers of the City may execute and, upon the City's request, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall authenticate and deliver, one or more temporary Bonds that are printed, lithographed, typewritten, mimeographed or otherwise produced, in any denomination, substantially of the tenor of the definitive Bonds in lieu of which they are delivered, without coupons, and with such appropriate insertions, omissions, substitutions and other variations as the officers of the City executing such temporary Bonds may determine, as evidenced by their signing of such temporary Bonds.
- (b) Until exchanged for Bonds in definitive form, such Bonds in temporary form shall be entitled to the benefit and security of this Ordinance.
- (c) The City, without unreasonable delay, shall prepare, execute and deliver to the Paying Agent/Registrar the Bonds in definitive form; thereupon, upon the presentation and surrender of the Bond or Bonds in temporary form to the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall cancel the Bonds in temporary form and authenticate and deliver in exchange therefor a Bond or Bonds of the same maturity, in definitive form, in the authorized denomination, and in the same aggregate principal amount, as the Bond or Bonds in temporary form surrendered. Such exchange shall be made without the making of any charge therefor to any Owner.

Section 3.09. Replacement Bonds.

(a) Upon the presentation and surrender to the Paying Agent/Registrar, at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office of a mutilated Bond, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall authenticate and deliver in exchange therefor a replacement Bond of like tenor and principal

amount, bearing a number not contemporaneously outstanding. The City or the Paying Agent/Registrar may require the Owner of such Bond to pay a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that is authorized to be imposed in connection therewith and any other expenses connected therewith.

- (b) In the event that any Bond is lost, apparently destroyed or wrongfully taken, the Paying Agent/Registrar, pursuant to the applicable laws of the State of Texas and in the absence of notice or knowledge that such Bond has been acquired by a bona fide purchaser, shall authenticate and deliver a replacement Bond of like tenor and principal amount, bearing a number not contemporaneously outstanding, provided that the Owner first:
 - (i) furnishes to the Paying Agent/Registrar satisfactory evidence of his or her ownership of and the circumstances of the loss, destruction or theft of such Bond;
 - (ii) furnishes such security or indemnity as may be required by the Paying Agent/Registrar and the City to save them harmless;
 - (iii) pays all expenses and charges in connection therewith, including, but not limited to, printing costs, legal fees, fees of the Paying Agent/Registrar and any tax or other governmental charge that is authorized to be imposed; and
 - (iv) satisfies any other reasonable requirements imposed by the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar.
- (c) If, after the delivery of such replacement Bond, a bona fide purchaser of the original Bond in lieu of which such replacement Bond was issued presents for payment such original Bond, the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be entitled to recover such replacement Bond from the person to whom it was delivered or any person taking therefrom, except a bona fide purchaser, and shall be entitled to recover upon the security or indemnity provided therefor to the extent of any loss, damage, cost or expense incurred by the City or the Paying Agent/Registrar in connection therewith.
- (d) In the event that any such mutilated, lost, apparently destroyed or wrongfully taken Bond has become or is about to become due and payable, the Paying Agent/Registrar, in its discretion, without the necessity of issuing a replacement Bond, may pay such Bond on the date on which such Bond becomes due and payable.
- (e) Each replacement Bond delivered in accordance with this Section shall constitute an original additional contractual obligation of the City and shall be entitled to the benefits and security of this Ordinance to the same extent as the Bond or Bonds in lieu of which such replacement Bond is delivered.

Section 3.10. Book-Entry-Only System.

(a) The definitive Bonds shall be initially issued in the form of a separate single fully registered Bond for each of the maturities thereof. Upon initial issuance, the ownership of each such Bond shall be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, and except as provided in Section 3.11 hereof, all of the outstanding Bonds shall be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC.

- With respect to Bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility or obligation to any DTC Participant or to any person on behalf of whom such a DTC Participant holds an interest in the Bonds, except as provided in this Ordinance. Without limiting the immediately preceding sentence, the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the accuracy of the records of DTC, Cede & Co. or any DTC Participant with respect to any ownership interest in the Bonds, (ii) the delivery to any DTC Participant or any other person, other than an Owner, as shown on the Register, of any notice with respect to the Bonds, including any notice of redemption, or (iii) the payment to any DTC Participant or any other person, other than an Owner, as shown in the Register of any amount with respect to principal of or interest on the Bonds. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance to the contrary, the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be entitled to treat and consider the person in whose name each Bond is registered in the Register as the absolute Owner of such Bond for the purpose of payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds, for the purpose of giving notices of redemption and other matters with respect to such Bond, for the purpose of registering transfer with respect to such Bond, and for all other purposes whatsoever. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall pay all principal of and interest on the Bonds only to or upon the order of the respective Owners, as shown in the Register as provided in this Ordinance, or their respective attorneys duly authorized in writing, and all such payments shall be valid and effective to fully satisfy and discharge the City's obligations with respect to payment of, principal and interest on the Bonds to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. No person other than an Owner, as shown in the register, shall receive a certificate evidencing the obligation of the City to make payments of amounts due pursuant to this Ordinance. Upon delivery by DTC to the Paying Agent/Registrar of written notice to the effect that DTC has determined to substitute a new nominee in place of Cede & Co., and subject to the provisions in this Ordinance with respect to interest checks or drafts being mailed to the registered Owner at the close of business on the Record Date, the word "Cede & Co." in this Ordinance shall refer to such new nominee of DTC.
- (c) The Representation Letter between the City and DTC applicable to the City's obligations delivered in book-entry-only form to DTC as securities depository for such obligations, is hereby affirmed.

Section 3.11. Successor Securities Depository: Transfer Outside Book-Entry-Only System. In the event that the City or the Paying Agent/Registrar determines that DTC is incapable of discharging its responsibilities described herein and in the Representation Letter, and that it is in the best interest of the beneficial owners of the Bonds that they be able to obtain certificated Bonds, or in the event DTC discontinues the services described herein, the City or the Paying Agent/Registrar shall (i) appoint a successor securities depository, qualified to act as such under Section 17(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, notify DTC and DTC Participants, as identified by DTC, of the appointment of such successor securities depository and transfer one or more separate Bonds to such successor securities depository or (ii) notify DTC and DTC Participants, as identified by DTC, of the availability through DTC of Bonds and transfer one or more separate Bonds to DTC Participants having Bonds credited to their DTC accounts, as identified by DTC. In such event, the Bonds shall no longer be restricted to being registered in the Register in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, but may be registered in the name of the successor securities depository, or its nominee, or in whatever name or names Owners transferring or exchanging Bonds shall designate, in accordance with the provisions of this Ordinance.

Section 3.12. <u>Payments to Cede & Co.</u> Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance to the contrary, so long as any Bonds are registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, all payments with respect to principal of and interest on such Bonds, and all notices with respect to such Bonds, shall be made and given, respectively, in the manner provided in the Representation Letter.

ARTICLE IV

REDEMPTION OF BONDS BEFORE MATURITY

Section 4.01. <u>Limitation on Redemption</u>. The Bonds shall be subject to redemption before scheduled maturity only as provided in this Article IV.

Section 4.02. Optional Redemption.

- (a) The City reserves the option to redeem Bonds in the manner provided in the form of Bond set forth in Section 6.02 of this Ordinance with such changes as are required by the Pricing Certificate.
- (b) The City, at least 45 days before the redemption date (unless a shorter period shall be satisfactory to the Paying Agent/Registrar), shall notify the Paying Agent/Registrar of such redemption date and of the principal amount of Bonds to be redeemed.

Section 4.03. Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.

- (a) Bonds designated as "Term Bonds," if any, in the Pricing Certificate are subject to scheduled mandatory redemption and will be redeemed by the City, in part at a price equal to the principal amount thereof, without premium, plus accrued interest to the redemption date, out of moneys available for such purpose in the Interest and Sinking Fund for such Bonds, on the dates and in the respective principal amounts as set forth in the Pricing Certificate.
- (b) At least forty-five (45) days prior to each scheduled mandatory redemption date, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall select for redemption by lot, or by any other customary method that results in a random selection, or such other method specified in the Pricing Certificate, a principal amount of Term Bonds equal to the aggregate principal amount of such Term Bonds to be redeemed, shall call such Term Bonds for redemption on such scheduled mandatory redemption date, and shall give notice of such redemption, as provided in Section 4.05.

The principal amount of the Term Bonds required to be redeemed on any mandatory sinking fund redemption date pursuant to subparagraph (a) of this Section 4.03 shall be reduced, at the option of the City, by the principal amount of any Term Bonds which, at least 45 days prior to the mandatory sinking fund redemption date (i) shall have been acquired by the City at a price not exceeding the principal amount of such Term Bonds plus accrued interest to the date of purchase thereof, and delivered to the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation, or (ii) shall have been redeemed pursuant to the optional redemption provisions hereof and not previously credited to a mandatory sinking fund redemption.

Section 4.04. Partial Redemption.

(a) If less than all of the Bonds are to be redeemed pursuant to Section 4.02, the City shall determine the maturity or maturities and the amounts thereof to be redeemed and shall direct

the Paying Agent/Registrar to call by lot or other customary method that results in a random selection of the Bonds, or portions thereof and maturity or maturities and in such principal amounts, for redemption.

- (b) A portion of a single Bond of a denomination greater than \$5,000 may be redeemed, but only in a principal amount equal to \$5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall treat each \$5,000 portion of the Bond as though it were a single Bond for purposes of selection for redemption.
- (c) Upon surrender of any Bond for redemption in part, the Paying Agent/Registrar, in accordance with Section 3.06 of this Ordinance, shall authenticate and deliver an exchange Bond or Bonds in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the Bond so surrendered.
- (d) The Paying Agent/Registrar shall promptly notify the City in writing of the principal amount to be redeemed of any Bond as to which only a portion thereof is to be redeemed.

Section 4.05. Notice of Redemption to Owners.

- (a) The City shall give notice of any redemption of Bonds by sending or causing the Paying Agent/Registrar to send notice of such redemption by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, not less than 30 days before the date fixed for redemption, to the Owner of each Bond (or part thereof) to be redeemed, at the address shown on the Register at the close of business on the Business Day next preceding the date of mailing such notice.
- (b) The notice shall state the redemption date, the redemption price, the place at which the Bonds are to be surrendered for payment, and, if less than all the Bonds outstanding are to be redeemed, an identification of the Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed.
- The City reserves the right to give notice of its election or direction to redeem (c) Bonds under Section 4.02 conditioned upon the occurrence of subsequent events. Such notice may state (i) that the redemption is conditioned upon the deposit of moneys and/or authorized securities, in an amount equal to the amount necessary to effect the redemption, with the Paying Agent/Registrar, or such other entity as may be authorized by law, no later than the redemption date or (ii) that the City retains the right to rescind such notice at any time prior to the scheduled redemption date if the City delivers a certificate of the City to the Paying Agent/Registrar instructing the Paying Agent/Registrar to rescind the redemption notice, and such notice and redemption shall be of no effect if such moneys and/or authorized securities are not so deposited or if the notice is rescinded. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall give prompt notice of any such rescission of a conditional notice of redemption to the affected Owners. Any Bonds subject to conditional redemption where redemption has been rescinded shall remain Outstanding, and the rescission shall not constitute an event of default. Further, in the case of a conditional redemption, the failure of the City to make moneys and/or authorized securities available in part or in whole on or before the redemption date shall not constitute an event of default.
- (d) Any notice given as provided in this Section shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not the Owner receives such notice.

Section 4.06. Payment Upon Redemption.

- (a) Before or on each redemption date, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall make provision for the payment of the Bonds to be redeemed on such date by setting aside and holding in trust an amount from the Interest and Sinking Fund or otherwise received by the Paying Agent/Registrar from the City sufficient to pay the principal of and accrued interest on such Bonds.
- (b) Upon presentation and surrender of any Bond called for redemption at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office of the Paying Agent/Registrar on or after the date fixed for redemption, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall pay the principal of and accrued interest on such Bond to the date of redemption from the money set aside for such purpose.

Section 4.07. <u>Effect of Redemption</u>.

- (a) Notice of redemption having been given as provided in Section 4.05 of this Ordinance and subject to any conditions or rights reserved by the City under Section 4.05(c), the Bonds or portions thereof called for redemption shall become due and payable on the date fixed for redemption and, unless the City defaults in the payment of the principal thereof, premium, if any, or accrued interest thereon, such Bonds or portions thereof shall cease to bear interest from and after the date fixed for redemption, whether or not such Bonds are presented and surrendered for payment on such date.
- (b) If any Bond or portion thereof called for redemption is not so paid upon presentation and surrender of such Bond for redemption, such Bond or portion thereof shall continue to bear interest at the rate stated on the Bond until paid or until due provision is made for the payment of same.

Section 4.08. <u>Lapse of Payment</u>. Money set aside for the redemption of Bonds and remaining unclaimed by the Owners of such Bonds shall be subject to the provisions of Section 3.03(f) hereof.

ARTICLE V

PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR

Section 5.01. Appointment of Initial Paying Agent/Registrar.

- (a) The selection and appointment of UMB Bank, N.A, to serve as initial Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds is hereby approved and confirmed. Books and records relating to the registration, payment, exchange and transfer of the Bonds shall at all times be kept and maintained on behalf of the City by the Paying Agent/Registrar, all as provided herein, in accordance with the terms and provisions of one or more Paying Agent/Registrar Agreements, and such reasonable rules and regulations as the Paying Agent/Registrar and the City may prescribe. It shall be the duty of the Paying Agent/Registrar to obtain from the Owners and record in the Register the address of the Owner of each Bond to which payments with respect to the Bond shall be mailed, as provided herein. The City or its designee shall have the right to inspect the Register during regular business hours of the Paying Agent/Registrar, but otherwise the Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep the Register confidential and, unless otherwise required by law, shall not permit their inspection by any other entity.
- (b) The City hereby further appoints the Paying Agent/Registrar to act as the paying agent for paying the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds. The Paying

Agent/Registrar shall keep proper records of all payment made by the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar with respect to the Bonds, and of all exchanges and replacements of such Bonds, as provided in this Ordinance.

Section 5.02. Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement. The City and the Paying Agent/Registrar have entered into a Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement outlining the services to be provided by the Paying Agent/Registrar with respect to certain obligations issued by the City after July 1, 2018 through July 30, 2023 which includes the Bonds. Pursuant to its terms, the Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement is subject to and controlled by the City Charter and Ordinances of the City. If any conflict exists between such agreement and this Ordinance, this Ordinance shall govern. In that regard, by accepting the positions of paying agent and registrar, the Paying Agent/Registrar agrees that in the event that it shall resign its position as Paying Agent/Registrar, it will continue to serve in such capacity until such time as a successor assumes such duties under this Ordinance. In addition, the Paying Agent agrees to maintain a true and correct copy of the Register.

Section 5.03. <u>Qualifications</u>. Each Paying Agent/Registrar shall be (i) a bank, trust company, financial institution, or other entity duly qualified and legally authorized under applicable law, (ii) authorized under such laws to exercise trust powers, (iii) subject to supervision or examination by a federal or state governmental authority, and (iv) a single entity.

Section 5.04. Maintaining Paying Agent/Registrar.

- (a) At all times while any Bonds are outstanding, the City will maintain a Paying Agent/Registrar that is qualified under Section 5.02 of this Ordinance.
- (b) If the Paying Agent/Registrar resigns or otherwise ceases to serve as such, the City will promptly appoint a replacement.
- Section 5.05. <u>Termination</u>. The City reserves the right to terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent/Registrar by delivering to the entity whose appointment is to be terminated a certified copy of a resolution of the City (i) giving notice of the termination of the appointment and of any contractual agreement, stating the effective date of such termination, and (ii) appointing a successor Paying Agent/Registrar.
- Section 5.06. <u>Notice of Change to Owners</u>. Promptly upon each change in the entity serving as Paying Agent/Registrar, the City will cause notice of the change to be sent to each Owner by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, at the address in the Register, stating the effective date of the change and the name and mailing address of the replacement Paying Agent/Registrar and the mailing address of its Designated Payment/Transfer Office.
- Section 5.07. <u>Agreement to Perform Duties and Functions</u>. By accepting the appointment as Paying Agent/Registrar, the Paying Agent/Registrar is deemed to have agreed to the provisions of this Ordinance and that it will perform the duties and functions of Paying Agent/Registrar prescribed hereby.
- Section 5.08. <u>Delivery of Records to Successor</u>. If a Paying Agent/Registrar is replaced, such Paying Agent/Registrar, promptly upon the appointment of the successor, will deliver the Register (or a copy thereof) and all other pertinent books and records relating to the Bonds to the successor Paying Agent/Registrar and to the City.

ARTICLE VI

FORM OF THE BONDS

Section 6.01. Form Generally.

- (a) The Bonds, including the Registration Certificate of the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas to accompany the Initial Bond, and the Certificate of the Paying Agent/Registrar, and the Assignment form to appear on each of the Bonds, (i) shall be generally in the form set forth in this Article, with such appropriate insertions, omissions, substitutions, and other variations as are permitted or required by this Ordinance and the Pricing Certificate, and (ii) may have such letters, numbers, or other marks of identification (including identifying numbers and letters of the Committee on Uniform Securities Identification Procedures of the American Bankers Association) and such legends and endorsements (including any reproduction of an opinion of counsel) thereon as, consistently herewith, may be determined by the City or by the officers executing such Bonds, as evidenced by their execution thereof.
- (b) Any portion of the text of any Bonds may be set forth on the reverse side thereof, with an appropriate reference thereto on the face of the Bonds.
- (c) The Bonds (except for any temporary Bonds and the Initial Bonds) shall be typewritten, printed, lithographed, or engraved, and may be produced by any combination of these methods or produced in any other similar manner, all as determined by the officers executing such Bonds, as evidenced by their execution thereof.
- Section 6.02. <u>Form of the Bonds</u>. The form of the Bonds, including the form of the Registration Certificate of the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas, the form of Certificate of the Paying Agent/Registrar and the form of Assignment appearing on the Bonds, shall be generally as follows; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the final form of the Bonds shall be set forth in or attached to the Pricing Certificate and shall incorporate and reflect the final terms of the Bonds set forth in the Pricing Certificate:

(a) Form of Bond.

REGISTERED	REGISTER	
No	\$	

United States of America
State of Texas
CITY OF DALLAS, TEXAS,
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BOND, SERIES 2019B¹

INTEREST RATE:	MATURITY DATE:	ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:	CUSIP NO.
%		2	

The City of Dallas (the "City"), in the Counties of Dallas, Denton, Collin and Rockwall, State of Texas, for value received, hereby promises to pay to

¹ As may be modified by the Pricing Certificate

² Information to be inserted from the Pricing Certificate.

		
or registered assigns, on th	ne Maturity Date specified	above, the principal sum of
_		DOLLARS

unless this Bond shall have been duly called for prior redemption as provided herein and payment of the principal hereof and accrued but unpaid interest hereon shall have been paid or provided for, and to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount hereof from the later of the Original Issue Date specified above or the most recent Interest Payment Date to which interest has been paid or provided for until payment of such principal amount has been paid or provided for, at the interest rate per annum specified above, computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, such interest to be paid semiannually on February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing ________. All capitalized terms used herein but not defined shall have the meaning assigned to them in the Ordinance (defined below).

The principal of this Bond shall be payable without exchange or collection charges in lawful money of the United States of America upon presentation and surrender of this Bond at the 4 (the "Designated Payment/Transfer Office") of corporate trust office in ,⁵ or with respect to a successor Paying Agent/Registrar, at the designated payment/transfer office of such successor. Interest on this Bond is payable by check dated as of the Interest Payment Date, mailed by the Paying Agent/Registrar to the registered owner at the address shown on the registration books kept by the Paying Agent/Registrar or by such other customary banking arrangements acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar, requested by and at the risk and expense of, the person to whom interest is to be paid. For the purpose of the payment of interest on this Bond, the registered owner shall be the person in whose name this Bond is registered at the close of business on the "Record Date," which shall be the last Business Day of the month next preceding such Interest Payment Date; provided, however, that in the event of nonpayment of interest on a scheduled payment date and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for such interest payment (a "Special Record Date") will be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the payment of such interest have been received from the City. Notice of the Special Record Date and of the scheduled payment date of the past due interest (the "Special Payment Date" which date shall be 15 days after the Special Record Date) shall be sent at least five Business Days prior to the Special Record Date by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the address of each registered owner of a Bond appearing on the books of the Paying Agent/Registrar at the close of business on the last Business Day preceding the date of mailing of such notice.

If a date for the payment of the principal of or interest on this Bond is a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday, or a day on which banking institutions in the city where the Designated Payment/Transfer Office is located are authorized by law or executive order to close, then the date for such payment shall be the next succeeding day which is not such a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday, or day on which such banking institutions are authorized to close; and payment on such date shall have the same force and effect as if made on the original date payment was due.

³ Information to be inserted from the Pricing Certificate.

⁴ Information to be inserted from the Pricing Certificate.

⁵ Information to be inserted from the Pricing Certificate.

This Bond is dated6 and is one of a series of fully registered bonds specified in the title hereof issued in the aggregate principal amount of \$7 (herein referred to as the "Bonds"), issued pursuant to a certain Ordinance of the City Council of the City (the "Ordinance") for the purpose of providing funds to refund the Refunded Obligations and to pay costs of issuance.
The Bonds and the interest thereon are payable from the levy of a direct and continuing ad valorem tax, within the limit prescribed by law, against all taxable property in the City.
[The City has reserved the option to redeem the Bonds maturing on or after, before their respective scheduled maturities in whole or in part in integral multiples of \$5,000 on, or on any date thereafter, at a redemption price of par, plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption. If less than all of the Bonds are to be redeemed, the City shall determine the maturity or maturities and the amounts thereof to be redeemed and shall direct the Paying Agent/Registrar to call by lot or other customary method that results in random selection of the Bonds, or portions thereof within such maturity or maturities and in such amounts, for redemption.
Bonds maturing on February 15 in each of the years through, inclusive (the "Term Bonds"), are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to their scheduled maturity, and will be redeemed by the City, in part at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, without premium, plus interest accrued to the redemption date, on the dates and in the principal amounts shown in the following schedule:
Redemption Date Principal Amount

The Paying Agent/Registrar will select by lot or by any other customary method that results in a random selection the specific Term Bonds (or with respect to Term Bonds having a denomination in excess of \$5,000, each \$5,000 portion thereof) to be redeemed by mandatory redemption. The principal amount of Term Bonds required to be redeemed on any redemption date pursuant to the foregoing mandatory sinking fund redemption provisions hereof shall be reduced, at the option of the City, by the principal amount of any Bonds which, at least 45 days prior to the mandatory sinking fund redemption date (i) shall have been acquired by the City at a price not exceeding the principal amount of such Bonds plus accrued interest to the date of purchase thereof, and delivered to the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation, or (ii) shall have been redeemed pursuant to the optional redemption provisions hereof and not previously credited to a mandatory sinking fund redemption.

Notice of such redemption or redemptions shall be given by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, not less than thirty (30) days before the date fixed for redemption, to the registered

⁶ Information to be inserted from the Pricing Certificate.

⁷ Information to be inserted from the Pricing Certificate.

owner of each of the Bonds to be redeemed in whole or in part. In the Ordinance, the City reserves the right in the case of an optional redemption to give notice of its election or direction to redeem Bonds conditioned upon the occurrence of subsequent events. Such notice may state (i) that the redemption is conditioned upon the deposit of moneys and/or authorized securities, in an amount equal to the amount necessary to effect the redemption, with the Paying Agent/Registrar, or such other entity as may be authorized by law, no later than the redemption date or (ii) that the City retains the right to rescind such notice at any time prior to the scheduled redemption date if the City delivers a certificate of the City to the Paying Agent/Registrar instructing the Paying Agent/Registrar to rescind the redemption notice, and such notice and redemption shall be of no effect if such moneys and/or authorized securities are not so deposited or if the notice is rescinded. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall give prompt notice of any such rescission of a conditional notice of redemption to the affected owners. Any Bonds subject to conditional redemption where redemption has been rescinded shall remain outstanding, and the rescission shall not constitute an event of default. Further, in the case of a conditional redemption, the failure of the City to make moneys and/or authorized securities available in part or in whole on or before the redemption date shall not constitute an event of default.]⁸

As provided in the Ordinance, and subject to certain limitations therein set forth, this Bond is transferable upon surrender of this Bond for transfer at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office, with such endorsement or other evidence of transfer as is acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar, and, thereupon, one or more new fully registered Bonds of the same stated maturity, of authorized denominations, bearing the same rate of interest, and for the same aggregate principal amount will be issued to the designated transferee or transferees.

Neither the City nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be required to issue, transfer or exchange any Bond called for redemption, in whole or in part, within 45 days of the date fixed for redemption; provided, however, such limitation shall not be applicable to an exchange by the registered Owner of the uncalled principal balance of a Bond.

The City, the Paying Agent/Registrar, and any other person may treat the person in whose name this Bond is registered as the Owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment as herein provided (except interest shall be paid to the person in whose name this Bond is registered on the Record Date or Special Record Date, as applicable) and for all other purposes, whether or not this Bond be overdue, and neither the City nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be affected by notice or knowledge to the contrary.

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED AND RECITED that the issuance of this Bond and the series of which it is a part is duly authorized by law; that all acts, conditions and things required to be done precedent to and in the issuance of the Bonds have been properly done and performed and have happened in regular and due time, form and manner, as required by law; that ad valorem taxes upon all taxable property in the City have been levied for and pledged to the payment of the debt service requirements of the Bonds within the limit prescribed by law; and that the total indebtedness of the City, including the Bonds, does not exceed any constitutional or statutory limitation.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Bond to be executed in its name by the manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor of the City and countersigned by the manual or

 $^{^{\}rm 8}$ Insert redemption provisions, if any, and conform as necessary to the Pricing Certificate.

facsimile signature of the City Secretary and the been duly impressed or placed in facsimile on	he City Manager, and the official seal of the City has this Bond.
City Manager, City of Dallas, Texas	Mayor, City of Dallas, Texas
City Secretary, City of Dallas, Texas	
[SEAL]	
	Agent/Registrar. The following Certificate of Paying al Bond if the Comptroller's Registration Certificate
CERTIFICATE OF PA	YING AGENT/REGISTRAR
of the City; and that this Bond has been issued portion of a bond or bonds of an issue which	s been issued under the provisions of the Ordinance I in exchange for or replacement of a bond, bonds or was originally approved by the Attorney General of otroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas.
	as Paying Agent/Registrar
Dated:Authorized Signatory	By:
(c) Form of Assignment.	
ASSI	IGNMENT
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the unders or typewrite name, address and zip code of tra	signed hereby sells, assigns, and transfers unto (print ansferee):
(Social Security or other identifying number:	the within
Bond and all rights hereunder and hereby irrev	vocably constitutes and appoints attorney to transfer ration hereof, with full power of substitution in the
Dated:	
Signature Guaranteed By:	NOTICE: The signature on this Assignment must correspond with the name of the registered owner as it appears on the face of the within Bond in

Authorized Signatory	every particular and must be guaranteed by an officer of a federal or state bank or a member of the National Association of Securities Dealers.
(d) <u>Initial Bond Insertions</u> .	
(i) The Initial Bond shall be and (c) of this Section, except that:	be in the applicable form set forth in paragraphs (a)
•	ler the name of the Bond the headings "INTEREST be completed with the words "As shown below" and d
specified above" shall be deleted and the following	graph of the Bond, the words "on the Maturity Date owing will be inserted: "on February 15 in each of aring interest at the per annum rates set forth in the
Year Principa	<u>Interest Rate</u>
	ed from the Pricing Certificate Section 3.02 hereof.)
	er's Registration Certificate. The following of the Comptroller of Public Accounts shall appear ificate of Paying Agent/Registrar.
	N CERTIFICATE OF OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER \$ OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \$ OF THE STATE OF TEXAS \$	REGISTER NO
General of the State of Texas to the effect that law, that he finds that it has been issued in cor	of record in my office a certificate of the Attorney this Bond has been examined by him as required by aformity with the Constitution and laws of the State eral obligation of the City of Dallas, Texas, and that

WITNESS MY HAND AND SEAL OF OFFICE AT AUSTIN, TEXAS, _____.

Comptroller of Public Accounts

of the State of Texas

[SEAL]

- Section 6.03. <u>CUSIP Registration</u>. The City may secure identification numbers through the CUSIP Service Bureau Division of Standard & Poor's Corporation, New York, New York, and may authorize the printing of such numbers on the face of the Bonds. It is expressly provided, however, that the presence or absence of CUSIP numbers on the Bonds shall be of no significance or effect in regard to the legality thereof and neither the City nor the attorneys approving such Bonds as to legality are to be held responsible for CUSIP numbers incorrectly printed on the Bonds.
- Section 6.04. <u>Legal Opinion</u>. The approving legal opinions of Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP and Mahomes Bolden PC., Co-Bond Counsel, may be printed on the back of each Bond over the certification of the City Secretary, which may be executed in facsimile.
- Section 6.05. <u>Municipal Bond Insurance</u>. If municipal bond guaranty insurance is obtained with respect to the Bonds, the Bonds, including the Initial Bond, may bear an appropriate legend, as provided by the insurer.

ARTICLE VII

CREATION OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS, INITIAL DEPOSITS AND APPLICATION OF MONEY

- Section 7.01. <u>Creation of Funds</u>. The City hereby establishes the following special funds or accounts to be designated as follows or as otherwise designated in the Pricing Certificate:
- (a) "City of Dallas, Texas, General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B, Interest and Sinking Fund."
- (b) "City of Dallas, Texas, General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B, Escrow Fund."
- Section 7.02. <u>Initial Deposits</u>. On the Closing Date, the City shall cause the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to be deposited as follows:
- (a) first, an amount equal to all accrued interest, if any, on the Bonds from the Original Issue Date until the Closing Date, plus any additional amounts designated in the Pricing Certificate, shall be deposited to the credit of the Interest and Sinking Fund; and
- (b) second, a portion of the proceeds of the Bonds, as set forth in the Pricing Certificate, and used for the purposes described in the preamble hereof shall be deposited to the Escrow Fund and used to pay off the Refunded Obligations; and
- (c) third, the remaining balance received on the Closing Date, shall be deposited to a special account of the City and used for the payment of the costs of issuing the Bonds. Any amounts not needed for the payment of costs of issuance shall be deposited to the Interest and Sinking Fund.

Section 7.03. Interest and Sinking Fund.

(a) The taxes levied under Section 2.01 of this Ordinance shall be deposited to the credit of the Interest and Sinking Fund at such times and in such amounts as necessary for the timely payment of the principal of and interest on such Bonds.

- (b) If the amount of money in the Interest and Sinking Fund is at least equal to the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Bonds plus the aggregate amount of interest due and that will become due and payable on such Bonds, no further deposits to that fund need be made. In determining the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Bonds, there shall be subtracted the amount of any Bonds discharged in accordance with Article XI hereof.
- (c) Money on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund shall be used to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds as such become due and payable.
- Section 7.04. <u>Escrow Fund</u>. The Escrow Fund will be used to pay in full the Refunded Obligations.

Section 7.05. Excess Bond Proceeds.

- (a) Upon the payment in full of the Refunded Obligations, any amount that remains in the Escrow Fund shall be transferred to the credit of the Interest and Sinking Fund and segregated in a special escrow account.
- (b) The money in such special escrow account shall be used for the payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds, on the respective due dates thereof or dates as of which Bonds have been called for redemption.
- Section 7.06. <u>Security of Funds</u>. All moneys on deposit in the funds referred to in this Ordinance shall be secured in the manner and to the fullest extent required by the laws of the State of Texas for the security of public funds, and moneys on deposit in such funds shall be used only for the purposes permitted by this Ordinance.

ARTICLE VIII

INVESTMENTS

Section 8.01. Investments.

- (a) Money in the Interest and Sinking Fund created by this Ordinance, at the option of the City, may be invested in such securities or obligations as permitted under applicable law.
- (b) Any securities or obligations in which money is so invested shall be kept and held in trust for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds and shall be sold and the proceeds of sale shall be timely applied to the making of all payments required to be made from the fund from which the investment was made.
- (c) To the extent specified in the Pricing Certificate, the money in the Escrow Fund shall be invested in (i) tax-exempt obligations or (ii) securities or obligations that do not have a "higher yield," within the meaning of Section 148(t) of the Code, than the yield on the Bonds.

Section 8.02. Investment Income.

(a) Interest and income derived from investment of the Interest and Sinking Fund shall be credited to such Fund.

(b) Subject to the provisions of Section 8.01(c), the investment and application of money in the Escrow Fund shall be in accordance with the provisions of the Escrow Agreement.

ARTICLE IX

PARTICULAR REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS

Section 9.01. <u>Payment of the Bonds</u>. On or before each Interest Payment Date for the Bonds, and while any of the Bonds are outstanding and unpaid, there shall be made available to the Paying Agent/Registrar, out of the Interest and Sinking Fund, money sufficient to pay such interest on, premium, if any, and principal of the Bonds as will accrue or mature on the applicable Interest Payment Date or date of prior redemption.

Section 9.02. Other Representations and Covenants.

- (a) The City will faithfully perform at all times any and all covenants, undertakings, stipulations, and provisions contained in this Ordinance and in each Bond; the City will promptly pay or cause to be paid the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on each Bond on the dates and at the places and manner prescribed in such Bond; and the City will, at the times and in the manner prescribed by this Ordinance, deposit or cause to be deposited the amounts of money specified by this Ordinance.
- (b) The City is duly authorized under the laws of the State of Texas to issue the Bonds; all action on its part for the creation and issuance of the Bonds has been duly and effectively taken; and the Bonds in the hands of the Owners thereof are and will be valid and enforceable general obligations of the City in accordance with their terms.

Section 9.03. Covenants to Maintain Tax-Exempt Status.

(a) <u>Definitions</u>. When used in this Section, the following terms have the following meanings:

"Computation Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-1(b) of the Regulations.

"Gross Proceeds" means any proceeds as defined in Section 1.148-1(b) of the Regulations, and any replacement proceeds as defined in Section 1.148-1(c) of the Regulations, of the Bonds.

"Investment" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-1(b) of the Regulations.

"Rebate Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-1(b) of the Regulations.

"Regulations" means any proposed, temporary, or final Income Tax Regulations issued pursuant to Sections 103 and 141 through 150 of the Code, and 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, which are applicable to the Bonds. Any reference to any specific Regulation shall also mean, as appropriate, any proposed, temporary or final Income Tax Regulation designed to supplement, amend or replace the specific Regulation referenced.

"Yield" of (1) any Investment has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-5 of the Regulations and (2) the Bonds has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-4 of the Regulations.

- (b) Not to Cause Interest to Become Taxable. The City shall not use, permit the use of, or omit to use Gross Proceeds or any other amounts (or any property the acquisition, construction, or improvement of which is to be financed or refinanced directly or indirectly with Gross Proceeds) in a manner which if made or omitted, respectively, would cause the interest on any Bond to become includable in the gross income, as defined in Section 61 of the Code, of the owner thereof for federal income tax purposes. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, unless and until the City receives a written opinion of counsel nationally recognized in the field of municipal bond law to the effect that failure to comply with such covenant will not adversely affect the exemption from federal income tax of the interest on any Bond, the City shall comply with each of the specific covenants in this Section.
- (c) <u>No Private Use or Private Payments</u>. Except as permitted by Section 141 of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder, the City shall at all times prior to the last Stated Maturity of Bonds:
 - (i) not use or permit the use of the Gross Proceeds of the Bonds (including all contractual arrangements with terms different than those applicable to the general public) or any property acquired, constructed, or improved with such Gross Proceeds in any activity carried on by any person or entity (including the United States or any agency, department, and instrumentality thereof) other than a state or local government, unless such use is solely as a member of the general public; and
 - (ii) not directly or indirectly impose or accept any charge or other payment by any person or entity who is treated as using Gross Proceeds of the Bonds or any property the acquisition, construction, or improvement of which is to be financed or refinanced directly or indirectly with such Gross Proceeds other than taxes of general application within the City or interest earned on investments acquired with such Gross Proceeds pending application for their intended purposes.
- (d) No Private Loan. Except to the extent permitted by Section 141 of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder, the City shall not use Gross Proceeds of the Bonds to make or finance loans to any person or entity other than a state or local government. For purposes of the foregoing covenant, such Gross Proceeds are considered to be "loaned" to a person or entity if: (1) property acquired, constructed, or improved with such Gross Proceeds is sold or leased to such person or entity in a transaction which creates a debt for federal income tax purposes; (2) capacity in or service from such property is committed to such person or entity under a take-or-pay, output, or similar contract or arrangement; or (3) indirect benefits, or burdens and benefits of ownership, of such Gross Proceeds or any property acquired, constructed, or improved with such Gross Proceeds are otherwise transferred in a transaction which is the economic equivalent of a loan.
- (e) Not to Invest at Higher Yield. Except to the extent permitted by Section 148 of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder, the City shall not at any time prior to the final Stated Maturity of the Bonds directly or indirectly invest Gross Proceeds in any Investment (or use Gross Proceeds to replace money so invested), if as a result of such investment the Yield from the Closing Date of all Investments acquired with Gross Proceeds (or with money replaced thereby), whether then held or previously disposed of, exceeds the Yield of the Bonds.

- (f) Not Federally Guaranteed. Except to the extent permitted by Section 149(b) of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder, the City shall not take or omit to take any action which would cause the Bonds to be federally guaranteed within the meaning of Section 149(b) of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder.
- (g) <u>Information Report</u>. The City shall timely file the information required by Section 149(e) of the Code with the Secretary of the Treasury on Form 8038-G or such other form and in such place as the Secretary may prescribe.
- (h) <u>Rebate of Arbitrage Profits</u>. Except to the extent otherwise provided in Section 148(f) of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder:
 - (i) The City shall account for all Gross Proceeds (including all receipts, expenditures and investments thereof) on its books of account separately and apart from all other funds (and receipts, expenditures and investments thereof) and shall retain all records of accounting for at least six (6) years after the day on which the last Outstanding Bond is discharged. However, to the extent permitted by law, the City may commingle Gross Proceeds of the Bonds with other money of the City, provided that the City separately accounts for each receipt and expenditure of Gross Proceeds and the obligations acquired therewith.
 - (ii) Not less frequently than each Computation Date, the City shall calculate the Rebate Amount in accordance with rules set forth in Section 148(f) of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder. The City shall maintain such calculations with its official transcript of proceedings relating to the issuance of the Bonds until six years after the final Computation Date.
 - (iii) As additional consideration for the purchase of the Bonds by the Purchasers and the loan of the money represented thereby and in order to induce such purchase by measures designed to insure the excludability of the interest thereon from the gross income of the Holders thereof for federal income tax purposes, the City shall pay to the United States from an appropriate fund, or if permitted by applicable Texas statute, regulation, or opinion of the Attorney General of the State of Texas, the Interest and Sinking Fund, the amount that when added to the future value of previous rebate payments made for the Bonds equals (i) in the case of a Final Computation Date as defined in Section 1.148-3(e)(2) of the Regulations, one hundred percent (100%) of the Rebate Amount on such date; and (ii) in the case of any other Computation Date, ninety percent (90%) of the Rebate Amount on such date. In all cases, the rebate payments shall be made at the times, in the installments, to the place, and in the manner as is or may be required by Section 148(f) of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder, and shall be accompanied by Form 8038-T or such other forms and information as is or may be required by Section 148(f) of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder.
 - (iv) The City shall exercise reasonable diligence to assure that no errors are made in the calculations and payments required by paragraphs (ii) and (iii), and if an error is made, to discover and promptly correct such error within a reasonable amount of time thereafter (and in all events within one hundred eighty (180) days after discovery of the error), including payment to the United States of any additional Rebate Amount owed to it, interest thereon, and any penalty imposed under Section 1.148-3(h) of the Regulations.

- (i) Not to Divert Arbitrage Profits. Except to the extent permitted by Section 148 of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder, the City shall not, at any time prior to the earlier of the Stated Maturity or final payment of the Bonds, enter into any transaction that reduces the amount required to be paid to the United States pursuant to subsection (h) of this Section because such transaction results in a smaller profit or a larger loss than would have resulted if the transaction had been at arm's length and had the Yield of the Bonds not been relevant to either party.
- (j) <u>Elections</u>. The City hereby directs and authorizes the Mayor, Mayor Pro Tem, City Manager, Chief Financial Officer, and City Secretary of the City, individually or jointly, to make elections permitted or required pursuant to the provisions of the Code or the Regulations, as one or more of such persons deems necessary or appropriate in connection with the Bonds, in the Certificate as to Tax Exemption, or similar or other appropriate certificate, form, or document.
- (k) <u>Current Refunding; Extraordinary Legal Judgment</u>. The Bonds are issued to refund the Refunded Obligations and the Bonds will be issued less than 90 days before the redemption of the Refunded Obligations. The Refunded Obligations represent an extraordinary legal judgment in an amount in excess of reasonable insurance coverage. Neither the City nor a related party to the City maintains a reserve for such items, such as a self-insurance fund. Neither the City nor a related party to the City has set aside other available amounts for the payment of these types of expenses.

ARTICLE X

DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

Section 10.01. Events of Default. Each of the following occurrences or events for the purpose of this Ordinance is hereby declared to be an "Event of Default," to-wit:

- (a) the failure to make payment of the principal of or interest on any of the Bonds when the same becomes due and payable; or
- (b) the failure to perform or observe any other covenant, agreement or obligation of the City, which materially, adversely affects the rights of the Owners, including but not limited to, their prospect or ability to be repaid in accordance with this Ordinance, and the continuation thereof for a period of 60 days after notice of such default is given by any Owner to the City.

Section 10.02. Remedies for Default.

- (a) Upon the happening of any Event of Default, then and in every case any Owner or an authorized representative thereof, including but not limited to, a trustee or trustees therefor, may proceed against the City for the purpose of protecting and enforcing the rights of the Owners under this Ordinance, by mandamus or other suit, action or special proceeding in equity or at law, in any court of competent jurisdiction, for any relief permitted by law, including the specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained herein, or thereby to enjoin any act or thing that may be unlawful or in violation of any right of the Owners hereunder or any combination of such remedies.
- (b) It is provided that all such proceedings shall be instituted and maintained for the equal benefit of all Owners of Bonds then outstanding.

Section 10.03. Remedies Not Exclusive.

- (a) No remedy herein conferred or reserved is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedy or remedies, but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or under the Bonds or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity; provided, however, that notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance, the right to accelerate the debt evidenced by the Bonds shall not be available as a remedy under this Ordinance.
- (b) The exercise of any remedy herein conferred or reserved shall not be deemed a waiver of any other available remedy.

ARTICLE XI

DISCHARGE

Section 11.01. <u>Discharge</u>. The Bonds may be defeased, discharged or refunded in any manner permitted by applicable law.

ARTICLE XII

SALE AND DELIVERY OF BONDS; APPROVAL OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT; CONTROL AND DELIVERY OF BONDS

Section 12.01. Sale of Bonds; Delivery of Official Statement.

The Bonds may be sold pursuant to a competitive sale or a negotiated sale to the Purchaser as specified in the Pricing Certificate and all in accordance with the terms of this Ordinance, including this Section 12.01 (a) and Exhibit A attached hereto, provided that all of the conditions set forth in Exhibit A are satisfied. As authorized by Chapter 1207, Texas Government Code, as amended, the Authorized Officer is authorized to act on behalf of the City upon determining that the conditions set forth in Exhibit A can be satisfied, in selling and delivering the Bonds and carrying out the other procedures specified in this Ordinance, including determining whether to acquire bond insurance for the Bonds, enter into a credit agreement with respect to the Bonds, whether to sell the Bonds in a competitive or negotiated sale, the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds, whether the Bonds shall be in one or more series from time to time, and price at which each of the Bonds will be sold, the identification, and the aggregate principal amount, of the Refunded Obligations and their redemption dates, the number and designation of series of Bonds to be issued, whether the Bonds will be taxable or tax-exempt, the form in which the Bonds shall be issued, the years in which the Bonds will mature, the principal amount to mature in each of such years, the rate of interest to be borne by each such maturity, the first interest payment date, the initial date from which interest will accrue, the dates, prices and terms upon and at which the Bonds shall be subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the City and shall be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption, and all other matters relating to the issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds, all of which shall be specified in the Pricing Certificate.

The authority granted to the Authorized Officer under this Section 12.01 (a) shall expire at 5:00 p.m., 180 days from the date of this Ordinance, unless otherwise extended by the City Council by separate action.

Any finding or determination made by the Authorized Officer relating to the issuance and sale of the Bonds and the execution of the Purchase Agreement (if any) in connection therewith shall have the same force and effect as a finding or determination made by the City Council.

(b) The Authorized Officer is hereby authorized and directed to execute the successful bid form, in the event the bonds are sold via a competitive sale, for and on behalf of the City and as the act and deed of the City Council. If the Bonds are sold in a negotiated sale, the Authorized Officer is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver one or more bond purchase agreements (the "Purchase Agreement"), which Purchase Agreement shall be in the form approved by the Authorized Officer. The Authorized Officer is hereby authorized and directed to approve the final terms and provisions of the Purchase Agreement in accordance with the terms of the Pricing Certificate and this Ordinance, which final terms shall be determined to be the most advantageous reasonably attainable by the City, such approval and determination being evidenced by its execution thereof by the Authorized Officer. All officers, agents and representatives of the City are hereby authorized to do any and all things necessary or desirable to satisfy the conditions set out therein and to provide for the issuance and delivery of the Bonds.

The Initial Bond shall initially be registered in the name of the Purchaser or such other entity as may be specified in the Pricing Certificate.

- (c) The City hereby approves the preparation of a Preliminary Official Statement and a Notice of Sale (if any) for use in the initial offering and sale of the Bonds, and authorizes the Authorized Officer to approve the final form and substance of the Preliminary Official Statement and the Notice of Sale (if any) and to deem the Preliminary Official Statement "final" as of its date within the meaning and for the purposes of paragraph (b)(1) of the Rule on behalf of the City. The City hereby authorizes the preparation of a final Official Statement (the "Official Statement") incorporating applicable pricing information pertaining to the Bonds. The Authorized Officer is hereby authorized and directed to authorize the use and distribution of such final Official Statement, with such appropriate variations as shall be approved by the Authorized Officer, by the Purchasers in the offering and sale of the Bonds.
- (d) All officers of the City are authorized to take such actions and to execute such documents, certificates and receipts as they may deem necessary and appropriate in order to consummate the delivery of the Bonds in accordance with the terms of sale therefore including, without limitation, the Purchase Agreement (if any). Further, in connection with the submission of the record of proceedings for the Bonds to the Attorney General of the State of Texas for examination and approval of such Bonds, the appropriate officer of the City is hereby authorized and directed to issue a check of the City payable to the Attorney General of the State of Texas as a nonrefundable examination fee in the amount required by Chapter 1202, Texas Government Code (such amount to be the lesser of (i) 1/10th of 1 % of the principal amount of the Bonds or (ii) \$9,500).
- (e) The obligation of the Purchaser to accept delivery of the Bonds is subject to the Purchaser being furnished with the final, approving opinions of Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP and Mahomes Bolden PC, Co-Bond Counsel for the City, which opinions shall be dated as of and delivered on the Closing Date.

Section 12.02. Control and Delivery of Bonds.

- (a) The City Manager is hereby authorized to have control of the Initial Bond and all necessary records and proceedings pertaining thereto pending investigation, examination, and approval of the Attorney General of the State of Texas, registration by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas and registration with, and initial exchange or transfer by, the Paying Agent/Registrar.
- (b) After registration by the Comptroller of Public Accounts, delivery of the Initial Bond shall be made to the Purchaser under and subject to the general supervision and direction of the City Manager, against receipt by the City of all amounts due to the City under the terms of sale.
- (c) In the event the Mayor, City Secretary or City Manager is absent or otherwise unable to execute any document or take any action authorized herein, the Mayor Pro Tem, any Assistant City Secretary and any Assistant City Manager, respectively, shall be authorized to execute such documents and take such actions, and the performance of such duties by the Mayor Pro Tem, the Assistant City Secretary and the Assistant City Manager shall for the purposes of this Ordinance have the same force and effect as if such duties were performed by the Mayor, City Secretary and City Manager, respectively.

ARTICLE XIII

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING

Section 13.01. Annual Reports.

- (a) The City shall provide annually to the MSRB, (1) within six months after the end of each fiscal year of the City, financial information and operating data with respect to the City of the general type included in the final Official Statement, being information described in the Pricing Certificate, including financial statements of the City if audited financial statements of the City are then available, and (2) if not provided as part such financial information and operating data, audited financial statements of the City, when and if available. Any financial statements so to be provided shall be (i) prepared in accordance with the accounting principles prescribed by the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles or such other accounting principles as the City may be required to employ, from time to time, by State law or regulation, and (ii) audited, if the City commissions an audit of such statements and the audit is completed within the period during which they must be provided. If the audit of such financial statements is not complete within 12 months after any such fiscal year end, then the City shall file unaudited financial statements within such 12-month period and audited financial statements for the applicable fiscal year, when and if the audit report on such statements becomes available.
- (b) If the City changes its fiscal year, it will notify the MSRB of the change (and of the date of the new fiscal year end) prior to the next date by which the City otherwise would be required to provide financial information and operating data pursuant to this Section.
- (c) The financial information and operating data to be provided pursuant to this Section may be set forth in full in one or more documents or may be included by specific reference to any document (including an official statement or other offering document, if it is available from the MSRB) that theretofore has been provided to the MSRB or filed with the SEC.

Section 13.02. Material Event Notices.

- (a) The City shall provide the following to the MSRB, in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, in a timely manner not in excess of ten (10) business days after the occurrence of the event, notice of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds:
 - (i) Principal and interest payment delinquencies;
 - (ii) Non-payment related defaults, if material;
 - (iii) Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;
 - (iv) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;
 - (v) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;
 - (vi) Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds;

- (vii) Modifications to rights of the holders of the Bonds, if material;
- (viii) Bond calls, if material, and tender offers;
- (ix) Defeasances;
- (x) Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material;
 - (xi) Rating changes;
 - (xii) Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the City;
- (xiii) The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the City or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the City, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material;
- (xiv) Appointment of successor or additional paying agent/registrar or the change of name of a paying agent/registrar, if material;
- (xv) Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the City, if material, or agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a Financial Obligation of the City, any of which affect security holders, if material; and
- (xvi) Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the City, any of which reflect financial difficulties.
- (b) For these purposes, (a) any event described in paragraph (xii) of this section, is considered to occur when any of the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the City in a proceeding under the United States Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the City, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the City, and (b) the City intends the words used in paragraphs (xv) and (xvi) of this section and the definition of Financial Obligation in this section to have the same meanings as when they are used in the Rule, as evidenced by SEC Release No. 34-83885, dated August 20, 2018.
- (c) The City shall notify the MSRB, in a timely manner, of any failure by the City to provide financial information or operating data in accordance with Section 13.01 of this Ordinance by the time required by such Section.

Section 13.03. Limitations, Disclaimers and Amendments.

(a) The City shall be obligated to observe and perform the covenants specified in this Article for so long as, but only for so long as, the City remains an "obligated person" with respect

to the Bonds within the meaning of the Rule, except that the City in any event will give notice of any Bond calls and any defeasances that cause the City to be no longer an "obligated person."

(b) The provisions of this Article are for the sole benefit of the Owners and beneficial owners of the Bonds, and nothing in this Article, express or implied, shall give any benefit or any legal or equitable right, remedy, or claim hereunder to any other person. The City undertakes to provide only the financial information, operating data, financial statements, and notices which it has expressly agreed to provide pursuant to this Article and does not hereby undertake to provide any other information that may be relevant or material to a complete presentation of the City's financial results, condition, or prospects or hereby undertake to update any information provided in accordance with this Article or otherwise, except as expressly provided herein. The City does not make any representation or warranty concerning such information or its usefulness to a decision to invest in or sell Bonds at any future date.

UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL THE CITY BE LIABLE TO THE OWNER OR BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY BOND OR ANY OTHER PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR DAMAGES RESULTING IN WHOLE OR IN PART FROM ANY BREACH BY THE CITY, WHETHER NEGLIGENT OR WITHOUT FAULT ON ITS PART, OF ANY COVENANT SPECIFIED IN THIS ARTICLE, BUT EVERY RIGHT AND REMEDY OF ANY SUCH PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR OR ON ACCOUNT OF ANY SUCH BREACH SHALL BE LIMITED TO AN ACTION FOR MANDAMUS OR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.

- (c) No default by the City in observing or performing its obligations under this Article shall constitute a breach of or default under this Ordinance for purposes of any other provisions of this Ordinance.
- (d) Nothing in this Article is intended or shall act to disclaim, waive, or otherwise limit the duties of the City under federal and state securities laws.
- (e) The provisions of this Article may be amended by the City from time to time to adapt to changed circumstances that arise from a change in legal requirements, a change in law, or a change in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations of the City, but only if (i) the provisions of this Article, as so amended, would have permitted an underwriter to purchase or sell Bonds in the primary offering of the Bonds in compliance with the Rule, taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule to the date of such amendment, as well as such changed circumstances, and (ii) either (A) the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount (or any greater amount required by any other provisions of this Ordinance that authorizes such an amendment) of the outstanding Bonds consent to such amendment or (B) an entity or individual person that is unaffiliated with the City (such as nationally recognized bond counsel) determines that such amendment will not materially impair the interests of the Owners and beneficial owners of the Bonds. If the City so amends the provisions of this Article, it shall include with any amended financial information or operating data next provided in accordance with Section 13.01 an explanation, in narrative form, of the reasons for the amendment and of the impact of any change in the type of financial information or operating data so provided.

Section 13.04. <u>Amendments to the Rule</u>. In the event the Authorized Officer, in consultation with Co-Bond Counsel and the City's financial advisor, determines that it is necessary or desirable to amend the provisions of this Article XIII in order to facilitate compliance with

amendments to the Rule and related guidance from the SEC, the Authorized Officer may make such changes in the Pricing Certificate for the Bonds.

ARTICLE XIV

AMENDMENTS; ATTORNEY GENERAL MODIFICATION

Section 14.01. Amendments. This Ordinance shall constitute a contract with the Owners, be binding on the City, and shall not be amended or repealed by the City so long as any Bond remains outstanding except as permitted in this Section. The City may, without consent of or notice to any Owners, from time to time and at any time, amend this Ordinance in any manner not detrimental to the interests of the Owners, including the curing of any ambiguity, inconsistency, or formal defect or omission herein. In addition, the City may, with the written consent of the Owners of the Bonds holding a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding, amend, add to, or rescind any of the provisions of this Ordinance; provided that, without the consent of all Owners of outstanding Bonds, no such amendment, addition, or rescission shall (i) extend the time or times of payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds, reduce the principal amount thereof, the redemption price, or the rate of interest thereon, or in any other way modify the terms of payment of the principal of, or interest on the Bonds, (ii) give any preference to any Bond over any other Bond, or (iii) reduce the aggregate principal amount of Bonds required to be held by Owners for consent to any such amendment, addition, or rescission.

Section 14.02. <u>Attorney General Modification</u>. In order to obtain the approval of the Bonds by the Attorney General of the State of Texas, any provision of this Ordinance may be modified, altered or amended after the date of its adoption if required or requested by the Attorney General in connection with the Attorney General's examination as to the legality of the Bonds and approval thereof in accordance with the applicable law. Such changes, if any, shall be provided to the City Secretary and the City Secretary shall insert such changes into this Ordinance as if approved on the date hereof.

Section 14.03. <u>Partial Invalidity</u>. If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Ordinance shall for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such section, paragraph, clause or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Ordinance.

Section 14.04. <u>No Personal Liability</u>. No recourse shall be had for payment of the principal of or interest on any Bonds or for any claim based thereon, or on this Ordinance, against any official or employee of the City or any person executing any Bonds.

ARTICLE XV

PAYMENT OF REFUNDED OBLIGATIONS; APPROVAL OF ESCROW AGREEMENT; PURCHASE OF ESCROWED SECURITIES

Section 15.01. <u>Payment of Refunded Obligations</u>. Unless otherwise specified in the Pricing Certificate, the Refunded Obligations are to be paid by the Escrow Agent within five (5) Business Days following the Closing Date, in the principal amount thereof as set forth in the Pricing Certificate.

Section 15.02. <u>Approval of Escrow Agreement</u>.

- (a) The Authorized Officer is hereby authorized to select and appoint an Escrow Agent to hold funds to pay off the Refunded Obligations and the Escrow Agent shall be designated in the Pricing Certificate.
- (b) The Authorized Officer is hereby authorized to execute and deliver, or cause the execution and delivery by other appropriate City officials, an Escrow Agreement, having such terms and provisions as are approved by the Authorized Officer as evidenced by his execution thereof or the execution thereof by other appropriate City officials. The Escrow Agreement shall contain terms and provisions to be approved by the Authorized Officer including terms and provisions for the purposes of (i) carrying out the program designed for the City, (ii) minimizing the City's costs of refunding, (iii) complying with all applicable laws and regulations relating to the refunding of the Refunded Obligations, (iv) carrying out the other intents and purposes of this Ordinance and (v) complying with the terms set forth in the Pricing Certificate. The execution and delivery by the City Manager of the Escrow Agreement, if necessary, is hereby authorized and approved.

Section 15.03. <u>Subscription for Securities</u>. The Authorized Officer is authorized to make necessary arrangements for and to execute such documents and agreements in connection with the purchase of the Escrow Securities required by and referenced in the Escrow Agreement, if any, as may be necessary for the Escrow Fund and the application for the acquisition of the Escrow Securities is hereby approved and ratified.

ARTICLE XVI

EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY

Section 16.01. <u>Effective Immediately</u>. This Ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage and publication in accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Dallas, Texas, pertaining thereto, and it is accordingly so ordained.

FINALLY PASSED, APPROVED AND EFFECTIVE this March 27, 2019

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Christopher J. Caso, Interim City Attorney City of Dallas

SCHEDULE I

REFUNDED OBLIGATIONS

Agreed Final Judgment in Cause No. 1-95-107, *George G. Parker, et. al. vs. City of Dallas, Texas*, in the District Court 382nd Judicial District, Rockwall County, Texas, dated February 8, 2019; and

Agreed Final Judgment in Cause No. 1-95-506, *David S. Martin, et. al. vs. City of Dallas, Texas*, in the District Court 382nd Judicial District, Rockwall County, Texas, dated February 8, 2019.

EXHIBIT A

SALE PARAMETERS

In accordance with Section 12.01 (a) of the Ordinance, the following conditions with respect to the Bonds must be satisfied in order for the Authorized Officer to act on behalf of the City in selling and delivering the Bonds to the Purchaser:

- (a) the Bonds shall not bear interest at a rate greater than the maximum rate authorized by Chapter 1204, Texas Government Code, as amended;
- (b) the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds authorized to be issued for the purposes described in Section 3.01 shall not exceed the limits described in that Section, and the Bonds sold for the purposes of refunding the Refunded Obligations shall be in an amount sufficient, in combination with the net premium from the sale of the Bonds, plus other available funds of the City, if any, to provide for the payment of the Refunded Obligations and the costs and expenses of issuance of the Bonds, including underwriter's discount; and
- (c) the maximum term for which the Bonds issued under this Ordinance may be outstanding is twenty (20) years from the date of their issuance.

74124180.4 Exhibit A-1



JEXAS

1500 Marilla Street Dallas, Texas 75201

Agenda Information Sheet

File #: 19-345 Item #: 3.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY: Government Performance and Financial Management

AGENDA DATE: March 27, 2019

COUNCIL DISTRICT(S): N/A

DEPARTMENT: City Controller's Office

EXECUTIVE: Elizabeth Reich

SUBJECT

An ordinance authorizing (1) the issuance and sale of City of Dallas, Texas, General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B, in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed \$174,705,000; (2) levying a tax in payment thereof; (3) approving execution of an Escrow Agreement; (4) approving the preparation of an official statement; (5) enacting other provisions relating to the subject; and (6) declaring an effective date - Not to exceed \$515,000 - Financing: 2019B General Obligation Refunding Bond Funds

BACKGROUND

This ordinance authorizes the issuance of General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B, to refinance an existing obligation of the City to make payments under the terms of a written settlement agreement as incorporated in a judgment entered by the 382nd District of Rockwall County, Texas.

On June 27, 2018, City Council approved settlement of the lawsuits styled <u>Davis S. Martin, et al. v. City of Dallas</u>, Cause No. 1-95-506, and <u>George G. Parker, et al. v. City of Dallas</u>, Cause No. 1-95-107, in an amount not to exceed \$173,312,500, provided that the plaintiffs and the City mutually agreed on the terms of a written settlement agreement by Resolution No. 18-0895. On February 8, 2019, the 382nd District of Rockwall County, Texas entered a judgment in the above-referenced lawsuits incorporating the terms of the written settlement agreement.

Additionally, on December 12, 2018, City Council authorized the preparation of plans and the payment of potential future costs and expenses for the issuance of General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B, in a principal amount not to exceed \$174,705,000 in satisfaction of the judgment by Resolution No. 18-1757.

This ordinance authorizes City staff and financial advisors, subject to parameters, to competitively bid the sale and issuance of City of Dallas, Texas, General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B, and establishes the maximum par amount of bonds to be issued at \$174,705,000.

File #: 19-345 Item #: 3.

ESTIMATED SCHEDULE OF PROJECT

Authorized Preparation for Issuance of Bonds
Approval of Parameters Ordinance
Pricing
Delivery of Proceeds

December 2018
March 2019
April 2019
May 2019

PRIOR ACTION/REVIEW (COUNCIL, BOARDS, COMMISSIONS)

The Government Performance and Financial Management Committee was briefed on this item on December 3, 2018.

On December 12, 2018, City Council authorized the preparation of plans and the payment of potential future costs and expenses for the issuance of General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B, by Resolution No. 18-1757.

FISCAL INFORMATION

2019B General Obligation Refunding Bond Funds - \$515,000 (See Attachment I)

M/WBE INFORMATION

See Attachment I for M/WBE participation.

Attachment I

Series 2019B General Obligation Refunding Bonds \$174,705,000

Estimate of Total Bond Issuance Costs and M/WBE Participation

	Fees	Percent of Total Costs
Co-Bond Counsel Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP (Vendor VC0000006239) Mahomes & Bolden PC (Vendor VS0000051822)	\$130,000 90,000	25% 17%
Disclosure Counsel Orrick Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP (Vendor VC18413)	60,000	12%
Financial Advisor PFM (Vendor VC16222)	126,350	25%
Paying/Escrow Agent UMB Bank, N.A. (Vendor VS92247)	2,700	1%
Printing Fee TBD	5,000	1%
Rating Agencies Fitch Ratings (Vendor VC14720) S&P Global (Vendor 954974)	39,229 44,721	8% 9%
Attorney General Filing Fee	9,500	2%
Misc. Expenses	7,500	1%
Total Issuance Costs	\$515,000	100%
Total M/WBE Participation as % of Total Issuance Costs:	\$95,000	18%

Note: Payment of fees and expenses is contingent upon the issuance and sale of the General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B.

ORDINANCE NO. _____AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF

CITY OF DALLAS, TEXAS GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS SERIES 2019B

Adopted: March 27, 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		<u>Page</u>
	ARTICLE I	
	DEFINITIONS AND OTHER PRELIMINARY MATTERS	
Section 1.01.	Definitions	1
Section 1.02.	Findings	
Section 1.03.	Table of Contents, Titles and Headings	
Section 1.04.	Interpretation	
	•	
	ARTICLE II SECURITY FOR THE BONDS	
Section 2.01.	Tax Levy for Payment of the Bonds	5
	ARTICLE III	
AUTHORIZA	ATION; GENERAL TERMS AND PROVISIONS REGARDING THE B	ONDS
Section 3.01.	Authorization	5
Section 3.02.	Date, Denomination	6
Section 3.03.	Medium	6
Section 3.04.	Execution and Initial Registration	7
Section 3.05.	Ownership	8
Section 3.06.	Registration, Transfer and Exchange	
Section 3.07.	Cancellation and Authentication	9
Section 3.08.	Temporary Bonds	10
Section 3.09.	Replacement Bonds	
Section 3.10.	Book-Entry-Only System	11
Section 3.11.	Successor Securities Depository: Transfer Outside Book-Entry-Only	
	System	12
Section 3.12.	Payments to Cede & Co	13
	ARTICLE IV	
	REDEMPTION OF BONDS BEFORE MATURITY	
Section 4.01.	Limitation on Redemption	13
Section 4.02.	Optional Redemption	13
Section 4.03.	Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption	
Section 4.04.	Partial Redemption	13
Section 4.05.	Notice of Redemption to Owners	
Section 4.06.	Payment Upon Redemption	
Section 4.07.	Effect of Redemption	
Section 4.08.	Lapse of Payment	
	ARTICLE V	
	PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR	
Section 5.01.	Appointment of Initial Paying Agent/Registrar	15
Section 5.02.	Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement	
Section 5.03.	Qualifications	
Section 5.04.	Maintaining Paying Agent/Registrar	
Section 5.05.	Termination	
Section 5.06.	Notice of Change to Owners	
Section 5.07.	Agreement to Perform Duties and Functions	
	O =	

i

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

		<u>Page</u>
Section 5.08.	Delivery of Records to Successor	16
	ARTICLE VI	
	FORM OF THE BONDS	
Section 6.01.	Form Generally	17
Section 6.02.	Form of the Bonds	
Section 6.03.	CUSIP Registration	23
Section 6.04.	Legal Opinion	23
Section 6.05.	Municipal Bond Insurance	
	ARTICLE VII	
CREATION O	OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS, INITIAL DEPOSITS AND APPLICAT	ION OF
	MONEY	
Section 7.01.	Creation of Funds	23
Section 7.02.	Initial Deposits	
Section 7.03.	Interest and Sinking Fund	
Section 7.04.	Escrow Fund	24
Section 7.05.	Excess Bond Proceeds	24
Section 7.06.	Security of Funds	24
	ARTICLE VIII	
	INVESTMENTS	
Section 8.01.	Investments	24
Section 8.02.	Investment Income	
	ARTICLE IX	
	PARTICULAR REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS	
Section 9.01.	Payment of the Bonds	25
Section 9.02.	Other Representations and Covenants	25
Section 9.03.	Covenants to Maintain Tax-Exempt Status	
	ARTICLE X	
	DEFAULT AND REMEDIES	
Section 10.01.	Events of Default	28
Section 10.02.	Remedies for Default	
Section 10.03.	Remedies Not Exclusive	
	ARTICLE XI	
	DISCHARGE	
Section 11.01.	Discharge	29
	ARTICLE XII	
SALEAND DE	ELIVERY OF BONDS; APPROVAL OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT; CO	NTR∩ī
BALL AND DE	AND DELIVERY OF BONDS	MINOL
Section 12.01.	Sale of Bonds; Delivery of Official Statement	30
	•	

74124180.4 ii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

Section 12.02.	Control and Delivery of Bonds	Page
Section 12.02.	Control and Derivery of Bonds	
	ARTICLE XIII	
	CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING	
Section 13.01.	Annual Reports	32
Section 13.02.	Material Event Notices	
Section 13.03.	Limitations, Disclaimers and Amendments	
Section 13.04.	Amendments to the Rule	
	ARTICLE XIV	
	AMENDMENTS; ATTORNEY GENERAL MODIFICATION	
Section 14.01.	Amendments	35
Section 14.02.	Attorney General Modification	
Section 14.03.	Partial Invalidity	35
Section 14.04.	No Personal Liability	
	ARTICLE XV	
PAYMENT O	F REFUNDED OBLIGATIONS; APPROVAL OF ESCROW AGR PURCHASE OF ESCROWED SECURITIES	EEMENT;
Section 15.01.	Payment of Refunded Obligations	35
Section 15.02.	Approval of Escrow Agreement	
Section 15.03.	Subscription for Securities	
	ARTICLE XVI	
	EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY	
Section 16.01.	Effective Immediately	36
SCHEDULE I	REFUNDED OBLIGATIONS	I-1
EXHIBIT A	SALE PARAMETERS	A-1
EXHIBIT A	SALE PARAMETERS	A-

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DALLAS, TEXAS, AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF CITY OF DALLAS, TEXAS, GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2019B IN AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED \$174,705,000; LEVYING A TAX IN PAYMENT THEREOF; APPROVING EXECUTION OF AN ESCROW AGREEMENT; APPROVING THE PREPARATION OF AN OFFICIAL STATEMENT; ENACTING OTHER PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE SUBJECT; AND DECLARING AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, there are presently outstanding certain general or special obligations of the City of Dallas, Texas (the "City") described on Schedule I hereto (the "Refunded Obligations"); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 1207 of the Texas Government Code, as amended ("Chapter 1207"), the City Council of the City is authorized to issue refunding bonds and deposit the proceeds of sale directly with a trust company or commercial bank that is named in the proceedings of the City authorizing execution of an escrow agreement, and such deposit, when made in accordance with such statute, shall constitute the making of firm banking and financial arrangements for the discharge and final payment of the Refunded Obligations; and

WHEREAS, the City Council desires to delegate to the Authorized Officer (as defined herein), pursuant to Chapter 1207, and the parameters set forth in this Ordinance, the authority to approve the amount, the number of series, the interest rate, the price and terms of the bonds authorized hereby and to otherwise take such actions as are necessary and appropriate to effect the sale of the bonds and the refunding of the Refunded Obligations; and

WHEREAS, the City Council hereby finds and determines that the manner in which the refunding is being executed does not make it practicable to calculate a savings amount attributable to the refunding of the Refunded Obligations, but that the refunding contemplated in this Ordinance will benefit the City and is in the best interests of the City; and that such benefit is sufficient consideration for the refunding of the Refunded Obligations; and

WHEREAS, the meeting at which this Ordinance is considered is open to the public as required by law, and public notice of the time, place, and purpose of such meeting was given as required by Chapter 551, Texas Government Code, as amended;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DALLAS, TEXAS:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS AND OTHER PRELIMINARY MATTERS

Section 1.01. <u>Definitions</u>. Unless otherwise expressly provided or unless the context clearly requires otherwise in this Ordinance, the following terms shall have the meanings specified below:

"Authorized Officer" means the City Manager of the City, and in his or her absence, the Chief Financial Officer or any Assistant City Manager.

"Bond" means any of the Bonds.

"Bonds" means the "City of Dallas, Texas General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B."

"Business Day" means a day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or other day on which banking institutions in the city where the Designated Payment/Transfer Office is located are required or authorized by law or executive order to close.

"Charter" means the Home Rule Charter of the City, as amended.

"City" means the City of Dallas, Texas.

"City Council" means the governing body of the City of Dallas, Texas.

"Closing Date" means the date of the initial delivery of and payment for the Bonds.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, including applicable regulations, published rulings and court decisions relating thereto.

"Designated Payment/Transfer Office" means (i) with respect to the initial Paying Agent/Registrar identified in the Pricing Certificate, its corporate trust office as set forth in the final form of the Bond, and (ii) with respect to any successor Paying Agent/Registrar, the office of such successor designated and located as may be agreed upon by the City and such successor.

"DTC" means The Depository Trust Company of New York, New York, or any successor securities depository.

"DTC Participant" means brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations on whose behalf DTC was created to hold securities to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions among DTC Participants.

"EMMA" means the Electronic Municipal Market Access System.

"Escrow Agent" means the Escrow Agent appointed and approved in the Pricing Certificate.

"Escrow Agreement" means the escrow agreement by and between the City and the Escrow Agent relating to the Refunded Obligations.

"Escrow Fund" means the fund established by Section 7.01 of this Ordinance to hold cash and, if applicable, securities for the payment of the Refunded Obligations.

"Escrow Securities" means (1) direct noncallable obligations of the United States, including obligations that are unconditionally guaranteed by the United States; (2) noncallable obligations of an agency or instrumentality of the United States, including obligations that are unconditionally guaranteed or insured by the agency or instrumentality and that, on the date of hereof, are rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not less

than "AAA" or its equivalent; and (3) noncallable obligations of a state or an agency or a county, municipality, or other political subdivision of a state that have been refunded and that, on the date hereof, are rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not less than "AAA" or its equivalent.

"Event of Default" means any event of default as defined in Section 10.01 of this Ordinance.

"Financial Obligation" means a (a) debt obligation; (b) derivative instrument entered into in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation; or (c) guarantee of a debt obligation or any such derivative instrument; provided that "Financial Obligation" shall not include municipal securities (as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as to which a final official statement (as defined in the Rule) has been provided to the MSRB consistent with the Rule.

"Fiscal Year" means such fiscal year as shall be prescribed by the Charter and which under the existing Charter commences October 1 and ends September 30 of the following year.

"Initial Bond" means the initial Bond, described in Sections 3.04(d) and 6.02(d) of this Ordinance.

"Interest and Sinking Fund" means the "City of Dallas, Texas, General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B, Interest and Sinking Fund," as established by Section 7.01 of this Ordinance.

"Interest Payment Date" means the date or dates upon which interest on the Bonds is scheduled to be paid until the maturity or prior redemption of the Bonds, such dates being February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing on the date set forth in the Pricing Certificate.

"MSRB" means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.

"Original Issue Date" means the date designated as such in Section 3.02(a) of this Ordinance.

"Owner" means the person who is the registered owner of a Bond or Bonds, as shown in the Register.

"Paying Agent/Registrar" means UMB Bank, N.A., any successor thereto, or any entity which is appointed as and assumes the duties of paying agent/registrar as provided in this Ordinance.

"Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement" means that Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2018 by and between the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar, as amended, modified or supplemented from time to time, and any subsequent paying agent/registrar agreement with any successor entity which is appointed as and assumes the duties of paying agent/registrar for the Bonds.

"Pricing Certificate" means a certificate or certificates to be signed by the Authorized Officer.

"Purchase Agreement" means one or more bond purchase agreements described in Section 12.01(b) of this Ordinance, if any.

"Purchaser" means the initial purchaser(s) of the Bonds as specified in the Pricing Certificate.

"Record Date" means the last Business Day of the month next preceding an Interest Payment Date.

"Refunded Obligations" means those general or special obligations of the City described in Schedule I attached hereto.

"Register" means the Register specified in Section 3.06(a) of this Ordinance.

"Representation Letter" means the Blanket Letter of Representations between the City and DTC applicable to the Bonds.

"Rule" means SEC Rule 15c2-12, as amended from time to time.

"SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Special Payment Date" means the Special Payment Date prescribed by Section 3.03(b).

"Special Record Date" means the Special Record Date prescribed by Section 3.03(b).

"Term Bonds" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.03(a) hereof.

"Unclaimed Payments" means money deposited with the Paying Agent/Registrar for the payment of principal of or interest on the Bonds as the same come due and payable or money set aside for the payment of Bonds duly called for redemption prior to maturity, and remaining unclaimed by the Owners of such Bonds for 90 days after the applicable payment or redemption date.

Section 1.02. <u>Findings</u>. The declarations, determinations and findings declared, made and found in the preamble to this Ordinance are hereby adopted, restated and made a part of the operative provisions hereof.

Section 1.03. <u>Table of Contents, Titles and Headings</u>. The table of contents, titles and headings of the Articles and Sections of this Ordinance have been inserted for convenience of reference only and are not to be considered a part hereof and shall not in any way modify or restrict any of the terms or provisions hereof and shall never be considered or given any effect in construing this Ordinance or any provision hereof or in ascertaining intent, if any question of intent should arise.

Section 1.04. Interpretation.

(a) Unless the context requires otherwise, words of the masculine gender shall be construed to include correlative words of the feminine and neuter genders and vice versa, and words of the singular number shall be construed to include correlative words of the plural number and vice versa.

- (b) This Ordinance and all the terms and provisions hereof shall be liberally construed to effectuate the purposes set forth herein and to sustain the validity of this Ordinance.
- (c) Article and section references shall mean references to articles and sections of this Ordinance unless designated otherwise.

ARTICLE II

SECURITY FOR THE BONDS

Section 2.01. <u>Tax Levy for Payment of the Bonds</u>.

- (a) The City Council hereby declares and covenants that it will provide and levy a tax legally and fully sufficient for payment of the Bonds, it having been determined that the existing and available taxing authority of the City for such purpose is adequate to permit a legally sufficient tax in consideration of all other outstanding obligations of the City.
- (b) In order to provide for the payment of the debt service requirements of the Bonds, being (i) the interest on the Bonds and (ii) a sinking fund for their payment at maturity or a sinking fund of two percent per annum (whichever amount is the greater), there is hereby levied for the current year and each succeeding year thereafter while the Bonds or interest thereon remain outstanding and unpaid, a tax within legal limitations on each \$100 assessed valuation of taxable property in the City that is sufficient to pay such debt service requirements, full allowance being made for delinquencies and costs of collection.
- (c) The tax levied by this Section shall be assessed and collected each year and applied to the payment of the debt service requirements on the Bonds, and the tax shall not be diverted to any other purpose.
- (d) Such ad valorem tax, the collections therefrom, and all amounts on deposit in or required hereby to be deposited to the Interest and Sinking Fund for the Bonds are hereby pledged and committed irrevocably to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds when and as due and payable in accordance with their terms and this Ordinance.
- (e) If the liens and provisions of this Ordinance shall be discharged in a manner permitted by Article XI hereof, then the collection of such ad valorem tax may be suspended or appropriately reduced, as the facts may permit, and further deposits to the Interest and Sinking Fund may be suspended or appropriately reduced, as the facts may permit. In determining the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Bonds, there shall be subtracted the amount of any Bonds that have been duly called for redemption and for which money has been deposited in accordance with Article XI herein.

ARTICLE III

AUTHORIZATION; GENERAL TERMS AND PROVISIONS REGARDING THE BONDS

Section 3.01. <u>Authorization</u>. The City's bonds to be designated "City of Dallas, Texas, General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B" or such other designations as are set forth in the Pricing Certificate, are hereby authorized to be issued and delivered in accordance with the

Constitution and laws of the State of Texas and the Charter of the City. The Bonds shall be issued in the aggregate principal amount designated in the Pricing Certificate for the public purpose of providing funds to: (i) refund the Refunded Obligations, and (ii) pay the costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds (including, without limitation, underwriters' discount), under and by virtue of Chapter 1207, Texas Government Code, as amended, and pursuant to Chapter XXI of the Charter of the City. The Authorized Officer is hereby authorized and directed to modify the title of the Series to the extent that, in the judgment of the Authorized Officer, it is necessary or appropriate. The final title and principal amount of the Bonds shall be determined by the Authorized Officer, based on market conditions in the discretion of the Authorized Officer, and set forth in the Pricing Certificate. The Bonds shall be issued in the number of series and aggregate principal amount per series designated in the Pricing Certificate, provided that the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds issued for the purposes described above shall not exceed \$174,705,000.

Section 3.02. Date, Denomination. Maturities, Numbers and Interest.

- (a) The Bonds shall have the Original Issue Date set forth in the Pricing Certificate, shall be in fully registered form, without coupons, in the denomination of \$5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, and shall be numbered separately from one upward or such other designation acceptable to the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar, except the Initial Bond, which shall be numbered T-1.
- (b) The Bonds shall mature on February 15 in the years, at the interest rates and in the principal amounts set forth in the Pricing Certificate.
- (c) Interest on each Bond shall accrue from the later of the Original Issue Date (or the date of their delivery to the Purchaser, as set forth in the Pricing Certificate) or the most recent Interest Payment Date to which interest has been paid or provided for at the per annum rates of interest specified in the Pricing Certificate. Such interest shall be payable on each Interest Payment Date until the principal amount shall have been paid or provision for such payment shall have been made, and shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months.

Section 3.03. Medium. Method and Place of Payment: Unclaimed Payments.

- (a) The principal of and interest on the Bonds shall be paid in lawful money of the United States of America.
- (b) Interest on the Bonds shall be payable to the Owners whose names appear in the Register at the close of business on the Record Date; provided, however, in the event of nonpayment of interest on a scheduled Interest Payment Date and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for such interest payment (a "Special Record Date") shall be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the payment of such interest have been received from the City. Notice of the Special Record Date and of the scheduled payment date of the past due interest (the "Special Payment Date," which shall be 15 days after the Special Record Date) shall be sent at least five Business Days prior to the Special Record Date by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the address of each Owner of a Bond appearing on the Register at the close of business on the last Business Day next preceding the date of mailing of such notice.
- (c) Interest on the Bonds shall be paid by check (dated as of the Interest Payment Date) and sent by the Paying Agent/Registrar to the person entitled to such payment, by United States

mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the address of such person as it appears in the Register, or by such other customary banking arrangements acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar and the person to whom interest is to be paid; provided, however, that such person shall bear all risk and expenses of such other customary banking arrangements.

- (d) The principal of each Bond shall be paid to the person in whose name such Bond is registered on the due date thereof (whether at the maturity date or the date of prior redemption thereof) upon presentation and surrender of such Bond at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office.
- (e) If the date for the payment of the principal of or interest on any Bond is a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday, or a day on which banking institutions in the city where the Designated Payment/Transfer Office is located are authorized by law or executive order to close, then the date for such payment shall be the next succeeding day which is not a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday, or day on which such banking institutions are authorized to close; and payment on such date shall have the same force and effect as if made on the original date payment was due.
- (f) Unclaimed Payments shall be segregated in a special account and held in trust, uninvested by the Paying Agent/Registrar, for the account of the Owner of the Bonds to which the Unclaimed Payments pertain. Subject to the provisions of Title 6, Texas Property Code, as amended, Unclaimed Payments remaining unclaimed by the Owners entitled thereto for three years after the applicable payment or redemption date shall be applied to the next payment or payments on the Bonds thereafter coming due and, to the extent any such money remains after the retirement of all outstanding Bonds, shall be paid to the City to be used for any lawful purpose. Thereafter, neither the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar nor any other person shall be liable or responsible to any Owners of such Bonds for any further payment of such unclaimed moneys or on account of any such Bonds, subject to any applicable escheat law or similar law.

Section 3.04. Execution and Initial Registration.

- (a) The Bonds shall be executed on behalf of the City by the Mayor and countersigned by the City Secretary and the City Manager, by their manual or facsimile signatures, and the official seal of the City shall be impressed or placed in facsimile thereon. Any facsimile signatures on the Bonds shall have the same effect as if each of the Bonds had been signed manually and in person by each of such officers, and such facsimile seal on the Bonds shall have the same effect as if the official seal of the City had been manually impressed upon each of the Bonds.
- (b) In the event that any officer of the City whose manual or facsimile signature appears on the Bonds ceases to be such officer before the authentication of such Bonds or before the delivery thereof, such manual or facsimile signature nevertheless shall be valid and sufficient for all purposes as if such officer had remained in such office.
- (c) Except as provided below, no Bond shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any security or benefit of this Ordinance unless and until there appears thereon the Certificate of Paying Agent/Registrar substantially in the form provided in this Ordinance, duly authenticated by manual execution of the Paying Agent/Registrar. It shall not be required that the same authorized representative of the Paying Agent/Registrar sign the Certificate of Paying Agent/Registrar on all of the Bonds. In lieu of the executed Certificate of Paying Agent/Registrar described above, the Initial Bond delivered on the Closing Date shall have attached thereto the Comptroller's Registration Certificate substantially in the form provided in this Ordinance, manually executed by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas or by his duly

authorized agent, which certificate shall be evidence that the Initial Bond has been duly approved by the Attorney General of the State of Texas and that it is a valid and binding obligation of the City, and has been registered by the Comptroller.

(d) On the Closing Date, the typewritten Initial Bond representing the entire principal amount of the Bonds, payable in stated installments to the Purchaser or its designee, executed by manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor and countersigned by manual or facsimile signatures of the City Secretary and the City Manager, approved by the Attorney General, and registered and manually signed by the Comptroller of Public Accounts will be delivered to the Purchaser or its designee. Upon payment for the Initial Bond, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall cancel the Initial Bond and deliver to DTC on behalf of the Purchaser registered definitive Bonds as described in Section 3.10. To the extent the Paying Agent/Registrar is eligible to participate in DTC's FAST System, as evidenced by agreement between the Paying Agent/Registrar and DTC, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall hold the definitive Bonds in safekeeping for DTC.

Section 3.05. Ownership.

- (a) The City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and any other person may treat the person in whose name any Bond is registered as the absolute owner of such Bond for the purpose of making and receiving payment of the principal thereof and premium, if any, thereon, for the further purpose of making and receiving payment of the interest thereon (subject to the provisions herein that interest is to be paid to the person in whose name the Bond is registered on the Record Date or on the Special Record Date, as applicable), and for all other purposes, whether or not such Bond is overdue, and neither the City nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be bound by any notice or knowledge to the contrary.
- (b) All payments made to the person deemed to be the Owner of any Bond in accordance with this Section shall be valid and effectual and shall discharge the liability of the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar upon such Bond to the extent of the sums paid.

Section 3.06. Registration, Transfer and Exchange.

- (a) So long as any Bonds remain outstanding, the City shall cause the Paying Agent/Registrar to keep at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office the Register in which, subject to such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall provide for the registration and transfer of Bonds in accordance with this Ordinance.
- (b) Registration of any Bond may be transferred in the Register only upon the presentation and surrender thereof at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office for transfer of registration and cancellation, together with proper written instruments of assignment, in form and with guarantee of signatures satisfactory to the Paying Agent/Registrar, evidencing assignment of the Bonds, or any portion thereof in any integral multiple of \$5,000 for any one maturity, to the assignee or assignees thereof, and the right of such assignee or assignees thereof to have the Bond or any portion thereof registered in the name of such assignee or assignees. No transfer of any Bond shall be effective until entered in the Register. Upon assignment and transfer of any Bond or portion thereof, a new Bond or Bonds will be issued by the Paying Agent/Registrar in exchange for such transferred and assigned Bond. To the extent possible the Paying Agent/Registrar will issue such new Bond or Bonds within not more than three Business Days after receipt of the Bond to be transferred in proper form and with proper instructions directing such transfer.

- (c) Any Bond may be exchanged only upon the presentation and surrender thereof at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office, together with a written request therefor duly executed by the Owner or assignee or assignees thereof, or its or their duly authorized attorneys or representatives, with guarantees of signatures satisfactory to the Paying Agent/Registrar, for a Bond or Bonds of the same maturity and interest rate and in any authorized denomination and in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unpaid principal amount of the Bond presented for exchange. If a portion of any Bond is redeemed prior to its schedule maturity as provided herein, a substitute Bond or Bonds having the same maturity date, bearing interest at the same rate, in the denomination or denominations of any integral multiple of \$5,000 of any one maturity at the request of the Owner, and in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion thereof, will be issued to the Owner upon surrender thereof for cancellation. To the extent possible, a new Bond or Bonds shall be delivered by the Paying Agent/Registrar to the Owner of the Bond or Bonds within not more than three Business Days after receipt of the Bond to be exchanged in proper form and with proper instructions directing such exchange.
- (d) Each Bond issued in exchange for any Bond or portion thereof assigned or transferred shall have the same principal maturity date and shall bear interest at the same rate as the Bond for which it is being exchanged. Each substitute Bond shall bear a letter and/or number to distinguish it from each other Bond. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall exchange the Bonds as provided herein, and each substitute Bond delivered in accordance with this Section shall constitute an original additional contractual obligation of the City and shall be entitled to the benefits and security of this Ordinance to the same extent as the Bond or Bonds in lieu of which such substitute Bond or Bonds are delivered.
- (e) The City will pay the Paying Agent/Registrar's reasonable and customary charge for the initial registration or any subsequent transfer or exchange of Bonds, but the Paying Agent/Registrar will require the Owner to pay a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that is authorized to be imposed in connection with the registration, transfer or exchange of a Bond. In addition, the City hereby covenants with the Owners of the Bonds that it will (i) pay the reasonable and standard or customary fees and charges of the Paying Agent/Registrar for its services with respect to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds, when due, and (ii) pay the fees and charges of the Paying Agent/Registrar for services with respect to the transfer, registration and exchange of Bonds as provided herein.
- (f) Neither the City nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be required to issue, transfer, or exchange any Bond called for redemption, in whole or in part, within 45 days of the date fixed for redemption; provided, however, such limitation shall not be applicable to an exchange by the Owner of the uncalled principal balance of a Bond.

Section 3.07. Cancellation and Authentication.

- (a) All Bonds paid in accordance with this Ordinance, and all Bonds in lieu of which exchange Bonds or replacement Bonds are authenticated and delivered in accordance with this Ordinance, shall be cancelled upon the making of proper records regarding such payment, redemption, exchange or replacement. Cancelled Bonds shall be disposed of in accordance with the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 and the regulations promulgated thereunder.
- (b) Each substitute Bond issued pursuant to the provisions of Sections 3.06 and 3.09 of this Ordinance, in exchange for or replacement of any Bond or Bonds issued under this Ordinance,

shall have printed thereon a Certificate of the Paying Agent/Registrar, in the form hereinafter set forth. An authorized representative of the Paying Agent/Registrar shall, before the delivery of any such Bond, manually sign and date such Certificate, and no such Bond shall be deemed to be issued or outstanding unless such Certificate is so executed. No additional ordinances, orders, or resolutions need be passed or adopted by the City Council or any other body or person so as to accomplish the foregoing exchange or replacement of any Bond or portion thereof, and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall provide for the printing, execution, and delivery of the substitute Bonds in the manner prescribed herein, and such Bonds shall be of customary type and composition and printed, typewritten, lithographed, mimeographed or otherwise produced. Pursuant to Chapter 1201, Texas Government Code, the duty of exchange or replacement of Bonds as aforesaid is hereby imposed upon the Paying Agent/Registrar, and, upon the execution of the above-referenced Certificate of the Paying Agent/Registrar, the exchanged or replaced Bonds shall be valid, incontestable, and enforceable in the same manner and with the same effect as the Initial Bond which originally was delivered pursuant to this Ordinance, approved by the Attorney General, and registered by the Comptroller of Public Accounts.

(c) Bonds issued in exchange or replacement of any other Bond or portion thereof, (i) shall be issued in fully registered form, without interest coupons, with the principal of and interest on such Bonds to be payable only to the registered owners thereof, (ii) may be transferred and assigned, (iii) may be exchanged for other Bonds, (iv) shall have the characteristics, (v) shall be signed and sealed, and (vi) shall be payable as to principal and interest, all as provided, and in the manner required or indicated, in the form of Bond set forth in this Ordinance.

Section 3.08. <u>Temporary Bonds</u>.

- (a) Following the delivery and registration of the Initial Bond and pending the preparation of definitive Bonds, the proper officers of the City may execute and, upon the City's request, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall authenticate and deliver, one or more temporary Bonds that are printed, lithographed, typewritten, mimeographed or otherwise produced, in any denomination, substantially of the tenor of the definitive Bonds in lieu of which they are delivered, without coupons, and with such appropriate insertions, omissions, substitutions and other variations as the officers of the City executing such temporary Bonds may determine, as evidenced by their signing of such temporary Bonds.
- (b) Until exchanged for Bonds in definitive form, such Bonds in temporary form shall be entitled to the benefit and security of this Ordinance.
- (c) The City, without unreasonable delay, shall prepare, execute and deliver to the Paying Agent/Registrar the Bonds in definitive form; thereupon, upon the presentation and surrender of the Bond or Bonds in temporary form to the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall cancel the Bonds in temporary form and authenticate and deliver in exchange therefor a Bond or Bonds of the same maturity, in definitive form, in the authorized denomination, and in the same aggregate principal amount, as the Bond or Bonds in temporary form surrendered. Such exchange shall be made without the making of any charge therefor to any Owner.

Section 3.09. Replacement Bonds.

(a) Upon the presentation and surrender to the Paying Agent/Registrar, at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office of a mutilated Bond, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall authenticate and deliver in exchange therefor a replacement Bond of like tenor and principal

amount, bearing a number not contemporaneously outstanding. The City or the Paying Agent/Registrar may require the Owner of such Bond to pay a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that is authorized to be imposed in connection therewith and any other expenses connected therewith.

- (b) In the event that any Bond is lost, apparently destroyed or wrongfully taken, the Paying Agent/Registrar, pursuant to the applicable laws of the State of Texas and in the absence of notice or knowledge that such Bond has been acquired by a bona fide purchaser, shall authenticate and deliver a replacement Bond of like tenor and principal amount, bearing a number not contemporaneously outstanding, provided that the Owner first:
 - (i) furnishes to the Paying Agent/Registrar satisfactory evidence of his or her ownership of and the circumstances of the loss, destruction or theft of such Bond;
 - (ii) furnishes such security or indemnity as may be required by the Paying Agent/Registrar and the City to save them harmless;
 - (iii) pays all expenses and charges in connection therewith, including, but not limited to, printing costs, legal fees, fees of the Paying Agent/Registrar and any tax or other governmental charge that is authorized to be imposed; and
 - (iv) satisfies any other reasonable requirements imposed by the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar.
- (c) If, after the delivery of such replacement Bond, a bona fide purchaser of the original Bond in lieu of which such replacement Bond was issued presents for payment such original Bond, the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be entitled to recover such replacement Bond from the person to whom it was delivered or any person taking therefrom, except a bona fide purchaser, and shall be entitled to recover upon the security or indemnity provided therefor to the extent of any loss, damage, cost or expense incurred by the City or the Paying Agent/Registrar in connection therewith.
- (d) In the event that any such mutilated, lost, apparently destroyed or wrongfully taken Bond has become or is about to become due and payable, the Paying Agent/Registrar, in its discretion, without the necessity of issuing a replacement Bond, may pay such Bond on the date on which such Bond becomes due and payable.
- (e) Each replacement Bond delivered in accordance with this Section shall constitute an original additional contractual obligation of the City and shall be entitled to the benefits and security of this Ordinance to the same extent as the Bond or Bonds in lieu of which such replacement Bond is delivered.

Section 3.10. Book-Entry-Only System.

(a) The definitive Bonds shall be initially issued in the form of a separate single fully registered Bond for each of the maturities thereof. Upon initial issuance, the ownership of each such Bond shall be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, and except as provided in Section 3.11 hereof, all of the outstanding Bonds shall be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC.

- With respect to Bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility or obligation to any DTC Participant or to any person on behalf of whom such a DTC Participant holds an interest in the Bonds, except as provided in this Ordinance. Without limiting the immediately preceding sentence, the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the accuracy of the records of DTC, Cede & Co. or any DTC Participant with respect to any ownership interest in the Bonds, (ii) the delivery to any DTC Participant or any other person, other than an Owner, as shown on the Register, of any notice with respect to the Bonds, including any notice of redemption, or (iii) the payment to any DTC Participant or any other person, other than an Owner, as shown in the Register of any amount with respect to principal of or interest on the Bonds. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance to the contrary, the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be entitled to treat and consider the person in whose name each Bond is registered in the Register as the absolute Owner of such Bond for the purpose of payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds, for the purpose of giving notices of redemption and other matters with respect to such Bond, for the purpose of registering transfer with respect to such Bond, and for all other purposes whatsoever. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall pay all principal of and interest on the Bonds only to or upon the order of the respective Owners, as shown in the Register as provided in this Ordinance, or their respective attorneys duly authorized in writing, and all such payments shall be valid and effective to fully satisfy and discharge the City's obligations with respect to payment of, principal and interest on the Bonds to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. No person other than an Owner, as shown in the register, shall receive a certificate evidencing the obligation of the City to make payments of amounts due pursuant to this Ordinance. Upon delivery by DTC to the Paying Agent/Registrar of written notice to the effect that DTC has determined to substitute a new nominee in place of Cede & Co., and subject to the provisions in this Ordinance with respect to interest checks or drafts being mailed to the registered Owner at the close of business on the Record Date, the word "Cede & Co." in this Ordinance shall refer to such new nominee of DTC.
- (c) The Representation Letter between the City and DTC applicable to the City's obligations delivered in book-entry-only form to DTC as securities depository for such obligations, is hereby affirmed.

Section 3.11. Successor Securities Depository: Transfer Outside Book-Entry-Only System. In the event that the City or the Paying Agent/Registrar determines that DTC is incapable of discharging its responsibilities described herein and in the Representation Letter, and that it is in the best interest of the beneficial owners of the Bonds that they be able to obtain certificated Bonds, or in the event DTC discontinues the services described herein, the City or the Paying Agent/Registrar shall (i) appoint a successor securities depository, qualified to act as such under Section 17(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, notify DTC and DTC Participants, as identified by DTC, of the appointment of such successor securities depository and transfer one or more separate Bonds to such successor securities depository or (ii) notify DTC and DTC Participants, as identified by DTC, of the availability through DTC of Bonds and transfer one or more separate Bonds to DTC Participants having Bonds credited to their DTC accounts, as identified by DTC. In such event, the Bonds shall no longer be restricted to being registered in the Register in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, but may be registered in the name of the successor securities depository, or its nominee, or in whatever name or names Owners transferring or exchanging Bonds shall designate, in accordance with the provisions of this Ordinance.

Section 3.12. <u>Payments to Cede & Co.</u> Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance to the contrary, so long as any Bonds are registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, all payments with respect to principal of and interest on such Bonds, and all notices with respect to such Bonds, shall be made and given, respectively, in the manner provided in the Representation Letter.

ARTICLE IV

REDEMPTION OF BONDS BEFORE MATURITY

Section 4.01. <u>Limitation on Redemption</u>. The Bonds shall be subject to redemption before scheduled maturity only as provided in this Article IV.

Section 4.02. Optional Redemption.

- (a) The City reserves the option to redeem Bonds in the manner provided in the form of Bond set forth in Section 6.02 of this Ordinance with such changes as are required by the Pricing Certificate.
- (b) The City, at least 45 days before the redemption date (unless a shorter period shall be satisfactory to the Paying Agent/Registrar), shall notify the Paying Agent/Registrar of such redemption date and of the principal amount of Bonds to be redeemed.

Section 4.03. Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.

- (a) Bonds designated as "Term Bonds," if any, in the Pricing Certificate are subject to scheduled mandatory redemption and will be redeemed by the City, in part at a price equal to the principal amount thereof, without premium, plus accrued interest to the redemption date, out of moneys available for such purpose in the Interest and Sinking Fund for such Bonds, on the dates and in the respective principal amounts as set forth in the Pricing Certificate.
- (b) At least forty-five (45) days prior to each scheduled mandatory redemption date, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall select for redemption by lot, or by any other customary method that results in a random selection, or such other method specified in the Pricing Certificate, a principal amount of Term Bonds equal to the aggregate principal amount of such Term Bonds to be redeemed, shall call such Term Bonds for redemption on such scheduled mandatory redemption date, and shall give notice of such redemption, as provided in Section 4.05.

The principal amount of the Term Bonds required to be redeemed on any mandatory sinking fund redemption date pursuant to subparagraph (a) of this Section 4.03 shall be reduced, at the option of the City, by the principal amount of any Term Bonds which, at least 45 days prior to the mandatory sinking fund redemption date (i) shall have been acquired by the City at a price not exceeding the principal amount of such Term Bonds plus accrued interest to the date of purchase thereof, and delivered to the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation, or (ii) shall have been redeemed pursuant to the optional redemption provisions hereof and not previously credited to a mandatory sinking fund redemption.

Section 4.04. Partial Redemption.

(a) If less than all of the Bonds are to be redeemed pursuant to Section 4.02, the City shall determine the maturity or maturities and the amounts thereof to be redeemed and shall direct

the Paying Agent/Registrar to call by lot or other customary method that results in a random selection of the Bonds, or portions thereof and maturity or maturities and in such principal amounts, for redemption.

- (b) A portion of a single Bond of a denomination greater than \$5,000 may be redeemed, but only in a principal amount equal to \$5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall treat each \$5,000 portion of the Bond as though it were a single Bond for purposes of selection for redemption.
- (c) Upon surrender of any Bond for redemption in part, the Paying Agent/Registrar, in accordance with Section 3.06 of this Ordinance, shall authenticate and deliver an exchange Bond or Bonds in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the Bond so surrendered.
- (d) The Paying Agent/Registrar shall promptly notify the City in writing of the principal amount to be redeemed of any Bond as to which only a portion thereof is to be redeemed.

Section 4.05. Notice of Redemption to Owners.

- (a) The City shall give notice of any redemption of Bonds by sending or causing the Paying Agent/Registrar to send notice of such redemption by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, not less than 30 days before the date fixed for redemption, to the Owner of each Bond (or part thereof) to be redeemed, at the address shown on the Register at the close of business on the Business Day next preceding the date of mailing such notice.
- (b) The notice shall state the redemption date, the redemption price, the place at which the Bonds are to be surrendered for payment, and, if less than all the Bonds outstanding are to be redeemed, an identification of the Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed.
- The City reserves the right to give notice of its election or direction to redeem (c) Bonds under Section 4.02 conditioned upon the occurrence of subsequent events. Such notice may state (i) that the redemption is conditioned upon the deposit of moneys and/or authorized securities, in an amount equal to the amount necessary to effect the redemption, with the Paying Agent/Registrar, or such other entity as may be authorized by law, no later than the redemption date or (ii) that the City retains the right to rescind such notice at any time prior to the scheduled redemption date if the City delivers a certificate of the City to the Paying Agent/Registrar instructing the Paying Agent/Registrar to rescind the redemption notice, and such notice and redemption shall be of no effect if such moneys and/or authorized securities are not so deposited or if the notice is rescinded. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall give prompt notice of any such rescission of a conditional notice of redemption to the affected Owners. Any Bonds subject to conditional redemption where redemption has been rescinded shall remain Outstanding, and the rescission shall not constitute an event of default. Further, in the case of a conditional redemption, the failure of the City to make moneys and/or authorized securities available in part or in whole on or before the redemption date shall not constitute an event of default.
- (d) Any notice given as provided in this Section shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not the Owner receives such notice.

Section 4.06. Payment Upon Redemption.

- (a) Before or on each redemption date, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall make provision for the payment of the Bonds to be redeemed on such date by setting aside and holding in trust an amount from the Interest and Sinking Fund or otherwise received by the Paying Agent/Registrar from the City sufficient to pay the principal of and accrued interest on such Bonds.
- (b) Upon presentation and surrender of any Bond called for redemption at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office of the Paying Agent/Registrar on or after the date fixed for redemption, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall pay the principal of and accrued interest on such Bond to the date of redemption from the money set aside for such purpose.

Section 4.07. <u>Effect of Redemption</u>.

- (a) Notice of redemption having been given as provided in Section 4.05 of this Ordinance and subject to any conditions or rights reserved by the City under Section 4.05(c), the Bonds or portions thereof called for redemption shall become due and payable on the date fixed for redemption and, unless the City defaults in the payment of the principal thereof, premium, if any, or accrued interest thereon, such Bonds or portions thereof shall cease to bear interest from and after the date fixed for redemption, whether or not such Bonds are presented and surrendered for payment on such date.
- (b) If any Bond or portion thereof called for redemption is not so paid upon presentation and surrender of such Bond for redemption, such Bond or portion thereof shall continue to bear interest at the rate stated on the Bond until paid or until due provision is made for the payment of same.

Section 4.08. <u>Lapse of Payment</u>. Money set aside for the redemption of Bonds and remaining unclaimed by the Owners of such Bonds shall be subject to the provisions of Section 3.03(f) hereof.

ARTICLE V

PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR

Section 5.01. Appointment of Initial Paying Agent/Registrar.

- (a) The selection and appointment of UMB Bank, N.A, to serve as initial Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds is hereby approved and confirmed. Books and records relating to the registration, payment, exchange and transfer of the Bonds shall at all times be kept and maintained on behalf of the City by the Paying Agent/Registrar, all as provided herein, in accordance with the terms and provisions of one or more Paying Agent/Registrar Agreements, and such reasonable rules and regulations as the Paying Agent/Registrar and the City may prescribe. It shall be the duty of the Paying Agent/Registrar to obtain from the Owners and record in the Register the address of the Owner of each Bond to which payments with respect to the Bond shall be mailed, as provided herein. The City or its designee shall have the right to inspect the Register during regular business hours of the Paying Agent/Registrar, but otherwise the Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep the Register confidential and, unless otherwise required by law, shall not permit their inspection by any other entity.
- (b) The City hereby further appoints the Paying Agent/Registrar to act as the paying agent for paying the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds. The Paying

Agent/Registrar shall keep proper records of all payment made by the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar with respect to the Bonds, and of all exchanges and replacements of such Bonds, as provided in this Ordinance.

Section 5.02. Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement. The City and the Paying Agent/Registrar have entered into a Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement outlining the services to be provided by the Paying Agent/Registrar with respect to certain obligations issued by the City after July 1, 2018 through July 30, 2023 which includes the Bonds. Pursuant to its terms, the Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement is subject to and controlled by the City Charter and Ordinances of the City. If any conflict exists between such agreement and this Ordinance, this Ordinance shall govern. In that regard, by accepting the positions of paying agent and registrar, the Paying Agent/Registrar agrees that in the event that it shall resign its position as Paying Agent/Registrar, it will continue to serve in such capacity until such time as a successor assumes such duties under this Ordinance. In addition, the Paying Agent agrees to maintain a true and correct copy of the Register.

Section 5.03. <u>Qualifications</u>. Each Paying Agent/Registrar shall be (i) a bank, trust company, financial institution, or other entity duly qualified and legally authorized under applicable law, (ii) authorized under such laws to exercise trust powers, (iii) subject to supervision or examination by a federal or state governmental authority, and (iv) a single entity.

Section 5.04. Maintaining Paying Agent/Registrar.

- (a) At all times while any Bonds are outstanding, the City will maintain a Paying Agent/Registrar that is qualified under Section 5.02 of this Ordinance.
- (b) If the Paying Agent/Registrar resigns or otherwise ceases to serve as such, the City will promptly appoint a replacement.
- Section 5.05. <u>Termination</u>. The City reserves the right to terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent/Registrar by delivering to the entity whose appointment is to be terminated a certified copy of a resolution of the City (i) giving notice of the termination of the appointment and of any contractual agreement, stating the effective date of such termination, and (ii) appointing a successor Paying Agent/Registrar.
- Section 5.06. <u>Notice of Change to Owners</u>. Promptly upon each change in the entity serving as Paying Agent/Registrar, the City will cause notice of the change to be sent to each Owner by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, at the address in the Register, stating the effective date of the change and the name and mailing address of the replacement Paying Agent/Registrar and the mailing address of its Designated Payment/Transfer Office.
- Section 5.07. <u>Agreement to Perform Duties and Functions</u>. By accepting the appointment as Paying Agent/Registrar, the Paying Agent/Registrar is deemed to have agreed to the provisions of this Ordinance and that it will perform the duties and functions of Paying Agent/Registrar prescribed hereby.
- Section 5.08. <u>Delivery of Records to Successor</u>. If a Paying Agent/Registrar is replaced, such Paying Agent/Registrar, promptly upon the appointment of the successor, will deliver the Register (or a copy thereof) and all other pertinent books and records relating to the Bonds to the successor Paying Agent/Registrar and to the City.

ARTICLE VI

FORM OF THE BONDS

Section 6.01. Form Generally.

- (a) The Bonds, including the Registration Certificate of the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas to accompany the Initial Bond, and the Certificate of the Paying Agent/Registrar, and the Assignment form to appear on each of the Bonds, (i) shall be generally in the form set forth in this Article, with such appropriate insertions, omissions, substitutions, and other variations as are permitted or required by this Ordinance and the Pricing Certificate, and (ii) may have such letters, numbers, or other marks of identification (including identifying numbers and letters of the Committee on Uniform Securities Identification Procedures of the American Bankers Association) and such legends and endorsements (including any reproduction of an opinion of counsel) thereon as, consistently herewith, may be determined by the City or by the officers executing such Bonds, as evidenced by their execution thereof.
- (b) Any portion of the text of any Bonds may be set forth on the reverse side thereof, with an appropriate reference thereto on the face of the Bonds.
- (c) The Bonds (except for any temporary Bonds and the Initial Bonds) shall be typewritten, printed, lithographed, or engraved, and may be produced by any combination of these methods or produced in any other similar manner, all as determined by the officers executing such Bonds, as evidenced by their execution thereof.
- Section 6.02. <u>Form of the Bonds</u>. The form of the Bonds, including the form of the Registration Certificate of the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas, the form of Certificate of the Paying Agent/Registrar and the form of Assignment appearing on the Bonds, shall be generally as follows; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the final form of the Bonds shall be set forth in or attached to the Pricing Certificate and shall incorporate and reflect the final terms of the Bonds set forth in the Pricing Certificate:

(a) Form of Bond.

REGISTERED	REGISTERED
No	\$

United States of America
State of Texas
CITY OF DALLAS, TEXAS,
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BOND, SERIES 2019B¹

INTEREST RATE:	MATURITY DATE:	ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:	CUSIP NO.
%		2	

The City of Dallas (the "City"), in the Counties of Dallas, Denton, Collin and Rockwall, State of Texas, for value received, hereby promises to pay to

¹ As may be modified by the Pricing Certificate

² Information to be inserted from the Pricing Certificate.

		
or registered assigns, on th	ne Maturity Date specified	above, the principal sum of
_		DOLLARS

unless this Bond shall have been duly called for prior redemption as provided herein and payment of the principal hereof and accrued but unpaid interest hereon shall have been paid or provided for, and to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount hereof from the later of the Original Issue Date specified above or the most recent Interest Payment Date to which interest has been paid or provided for until payment of such principal amount has been paid or provided for, at the interest rate per annum specified above, computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, such interest to be paid semiannually on February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing ________. All capitalized terms used herein but not defined shall have the meaning assigned to them in the Ordinance (defined below).

The principal of this Bond shall be payable without exchange or collection charges in lawful money of the United States of America upon presentation and surrender of this Bond at the 4 (the "Designated Payment/Transfer Office") of corporate trust office in ,⁵ or with respect to a successor Paying Agent/Registrar, at the designated payment/transfer office of such successor. Interest on this Bond is payable by check dated as of the Interest Payment Date, mailed by the Paying Agent/Registrar to the registered owner at the address shown on the registration books kept by the Paying Agent/Registrar or by such other customary banking arrangements acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar, requested by and at the risk and expense of, the person to whom interest is to be paid. For the purpose of the payment of interest on this Bond, the registered owner shall be the person in whose name this Bond is registered at the close of business on the "Record Date," which shall be the last Business Day of the month next preceding such Interest Payment Date; provided, however, that in the event of nonpayment of interest on a scheduled payment date and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for such interest payment (a "Special Record Date") will be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the payment of such interest have been received from the City. Notice of the Special Record Date and of the scheduled payment date of the past due interest (the "Special Payment Date" which date shall be 15 days after the Special Record Date) shall be sent at least five Business Days prior to the Special Record Date by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, to the address of each registered owner of a Bond appearing on the books of the Paying Agent/Registrar at the close of business on the last Business Day preceding the date of mailing of such notice.

If a date for the payment of the principal of or interest on this Bond is a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday, or a day on which banking institutions in the city where the Designated Payment/Transfer Office is located are authorized by law or executive order to close, then the date for such payment shall be the next succeeding day which is not such a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday, or day on which such banking institutions are authorized to close; and payment on such date shall have the same force and effect as if made on the original date payment was due.

³ Information to be inserted from the Pricing Certificate.

⁴ Information to be inserted from the Pricing Certificate.

⁵ Information to be inserted from the Pricing Certificate.

This Bond is dated6 and is one of a series of fully registered bonds specified in the title hereof issued in the aggregate principal amount of \$7 (herein referred to as the "Bonds"), issued pursuant to a certain Ordinance of the City Council of the City (the "Ordinance") for the purpose of providing funds to refund the Refunded Obligations and to pay costs of issuance.
The Bonds and the interest thereon are payable from the levy of a direct and continuing ad valorem tax, within the limit prescribed by law, against all taxable property in the City.
[The City has reserved the option to redeem the Bonds maturing on or after, before their respective scheduled maturities in whole or in part in integral multiples of \$5,000 on, or on any date thereafter, at a redemption price of par, plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption. If less than all of the Bonds are to be redeemed, the City shall determine the maturity or maturities and the amounts thereof to be redeemed and shall direct the Paying Agent/Registrar to call by lot or other customary method that results in random selection of the Bonds, or portions thereof within such maturity or maturities and in such amounts, for redemption.
Bonds maturing on February 15 in each of the years through, inclusive (the "Term Bonds"), are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to their scheduled maturity, and will be redeemed by the City, in part at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, without premium, plus interest accrued to the redemption date, on the dates and in the principal amounts shown in the following schedule:
Redemption Date Principal Amount

The Paying Agent/Registrar will select by lot or by any other customary method that results in a random selection the specific Term Bonds (or with respect to Term Bonds having a denomination in excess of \$5,000, each \$5,000 portion thereof) to be redeemed by mandatory redemption. The principal amount of Term Bonds required to be redeemed on any redemption date pursuant to the foregoing mandatory sinking fund redemption provisions hereof shall be reduced, at the option of the City, by the principal amount of any Bonds which, at least 45 days prior to the mandatory sinking fund redemption date (i) shall have been acquired by the City at a price not exceeding the principal amount of such Bonds plus accrued interest to the date of purchase thereof, and delivered to the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation, or (ii) shall have been redeemed pursuant to the optional redemption provisions hereof and not previously credited to a mandatory sinking fund redemption.

Notice of such redemption or redemptions shall be given by United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, not less than thirty (30) days before the date fixed for redemption, to the registered

⁶ Information to be inserted from the Pricing Certificate.

⁷ Information to be inserted from the Pricing Certificate.

owner of each of the Bonds to be redeemed in whole or in part. In the Ordinance, the City reserves the right in the case of an optional redemption to give notice of its election or direction to redeem Bonds conditioned upon the occurrence of subsequent events. Such notice may state (i) that the redemption is conditioned upon the deposit of moneys and/or authorized securities, in an amount equal to the amount necessary to effect the redemption, with the Paying Agent/Registrar, or such other entity as may be authorized by law, no later than the redemption date or (ii) that the City retains the right to rescind such notice at any time prior to the scheduled redemption date if the City delivers a certificate of the City to the Paying Agent/Registrar instructing the Paying Agent/Registrar to rescind the redemption notice, and such notice and redemption shall be of no effect if such moneys and/or authorized securities are not so deposited or if the notice is rescinded. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall give prompt notice of any such rescission of a conditional notice of redemption to the affected owners. Any Bonds subject to conditional redemption where redemption has been rescinded shall remain outstanding, and the rescission shall not constitute an event of default. Further, in the case of a conditional redemption, the failure of the City to make moneys and/or authorized securities available in part or in whole on or before the redemption date shall not constitute an event of default.]⁸

As provided in the Ordinance, and subject to certain limitations therein set forth, this Bond is transferable upon surrender of this Bond for transfer at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office, with such endorsement or other evidence of transfer as is acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar, and, thereupon, one or more new fully registered Bonds of the same stated maturity, of authorized denominations, bearing the same rate of interest, and for the same aggregate principal amount will be issued to the designated transferee or transferees.

Neither the City nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be required to issue, transfer or exchange any Bond called for redemption, in whole or in part, within 45 days of the date fixed for redemption; provided, however, such limitation shall not be applicable to an exchange by the registered Owner of the uncalled principal balance of a Bond.

The City, the Paying Agent/Registrar, and any other person may treat the person in whose name this Bond is registered as the Owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment as herein provided (except interest shall be paid to the person in whose name this Bond is registered on the Record Date or Special Record Date, as applicable) and for all other purposes, whether or not this Bond be overdue, and neither the City nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be affected by notice or knowledge to the contrary.

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED AND RECITED that the issuance of this Bond and the series of which it is a part is duly authorized by law; that all acts, conditions and things required to be done precedent to and in the issuance of the Bonds have been properly done and performed and have happened in regular and due time, form and manner, as required by law; that ad valorem taxes upon all taxable property in the City have been levied for and pledged to the payment of the debt service requirements of the Bonds within the limit prescribed by law; and that the total indebtedness of the City, including the Bonds, does not exceed any constitutional or statutory limitation.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Bond to be executed in its name by the manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor of the City and countersigned by the manual or

 $^{^{\}rm 8}$ Insert redemption provisions, if any, and conform as necessary to the Pricing Certificate.

facsimile signature of the City Secretary and the been duly impressed or placed in facsimile on	he City Manager, and the official seal of the City has this Bond.
City Manager, City of Dallas, Texas	Mayor, City of Dallas, Texas
City Secretary, City of Dallas, Texas	
[SEAL]	
	Agent/Registrar. The following Certificate of Paying al Bond if the Comptroller's Registration Certificate
CERTIFICATE OF PA	YING AGENT/REGISTRAR
of the City; and that this Bond has been issued portion of a bond or bonds of an issue which	s been issued under the provisions of the Ordinance I in exchange for or replacement of a bond, bonds or was originally approved by the Attorney General of otroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas.
	as Paying Agent/Registrar
Dated:Authorized Signatory	By:
(c) Form of Assignment.	
ASSI	IGNMENT
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the unders or typewrite name, address and zip code of tra	signed hereby sells, assigns, and transfers unto (print ansferee):
(Social Security or other identifying number:	the within
Bond and all rights hereunder and hereby irrev	vocably constitutes and appoints attorney to transfer ration hereof, with full power of substitution in the
Dated:	
Signature Guaranteed By:	NOTICE: The signature on this Assignment must correspond with the name of the registered owner as it appears on the face of the within Bond in

Authorized Signatory	every particular and must be guaranteed by an officer of a federal or state bank or a member of the National Association of Securities Dealers.
(d) <u>Initial Bond Insertions</u> .	
(i) The Initial Bond shall be and (c) of this Section, except that:	be in the applicable form set forth in paragraphs (a)
•	ler the name of the Bond the headings "INTEREST be completed with the words "As shown below" and d
specified above" shall be deleted and the following	graph of the Bond, the words "on the Maturity Date owing will be inserted: "on February 15 in each of aring interest at the per annum rates set forth in the
Year Principa	<u>Interest Rate</u>
	ed from the Pricing Certificate Section 3.02 hereof.)
	er's Registration Certificate. The following of the Comptroller of Public Accounts shall appear ificate of Paying Agent/Registrar.
	N CERTIFICATE OF OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER \$ OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \$ OF THE STATE OF TEXAS \$	REGISTER NO
General of the State of Texas to the effect that law, that he finds that it has been issued in cor	of record in my office a certificate of the Attorney this Bond has been examined by him as required by aformity with the Constitution and laws of the State eral obligation of the City of Dallas, Texas, and that

WITNESS MY HAND AND SEAL OF OFFICE AT AUSTIN, TEXAS, _____.

Comptroller of Public Accounts

of the State of Texas

[SEAL]

- Section 6.03. <u>CUSIP Registration</u>. The City may secure identification numbers through the CUSIP Service Bureau Division of Standard & Poor's Corporation, New York, New York, and may authorize the printing of such numbers on the face of the Bonds. It is expressly provided, however, that the presence or absence of CUSIP numbers on the Bonds shall be of no significance or effect in regard to the legality thereof and neither the City nor the attorneys approving such Bonds as to legality are to be held responsible for CUSIP numbers incorrectly printed on the Bonds.
- Section 6.04. <u>Legal Opinion</u>. The approving legal opinions of Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP and Mahomes Bolden PC., Co-Bond Counsel, may be printed on the back of each Bond over the certification of the City Secretary, which may be executed in facsimile.
- Section 6.05. <u>Municipal Bond Insurance</u>. If municipal bond guaranty insurance is obtained with respect to the Bonds, the Bonds, including the Initial Bond, may bear an appropriate legend, as provided by the insurer.

ARTICLE VII

CREATION OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS, INITIAL DEPOSITS AND APPLICATION OF MONEY

- Section 7.01. <u>Creation of Funds</u>. The City hereby establishes the following special funds or accounts to be designated as follows or as otherwise designated in the Pricing Certificate:
- (a) "City of Dallas, Texas, General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B, Interest and Sinking Fund."
- (b) "City of Dallas, Texas, General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B, Escrow Fund."
- Section 7.02. <u>Initial Deposits</u>. On the Closing Date, the City shall cause the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to be deposited as follows:
- (a) first, an amount equal to all accrued interest, if any, on the Bonds from the Original Issue Date until the Closing Date, plus any additional amounts designated in the Pricing Certificate, shall be deposited to the credit of the Interest and Sinking Fund; and
- (b) second, a portion of the proceeds of the Bonds, as set forth in the Pricing Certificate, and used for the purposes described in the preamble hereof shall be deposited to the Escrow Fund and used to pay off the Refunded Obligations; and
- (c) third, the remaining balance received on the Closing Date, shall be deposited to a special account of the City and used for the payment of the costs of issuing the Bonds. Any amounts not needed for the payment of costs of issuance shall be deposited to the Interest and Sinking Fund.

Section 7.03. Interest and Sinking Fund.

(a) The taxes levied under Section 2.01 of this Ordinance shall be deposited to the credit of the Interest and Sinking Fund at such times and in such amounts as necessary for the timely payment of the principal of and interest on such Bonds.

- (b) If the amount of money in the Interest and Sinking Fund is at least equal to the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Bonds plus the aggregate amount of interest due and that will become due and payable on such Bonds, no further deposits to that fund need be made. In determining the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Bonds, there shall be subtracted the amount of any Bonds discharged in accordance with Article XI hereof.
- (c) Money on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund shall be used to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds as such become due and payable.
- Section 7.04. <u>Escrow Fund</u>. The Escrow Fund will be used to pay in full the Refunded Obligations.

Section 7.05. Excess Bond Proceeds.

- (a) Upon the payment in full of the Refunded Obligations, any amount that remains in the Escrow Fund shall be transferred to the credit of the Interest and Sinking Fund and segregated in a special escrow account.
- (b) The money in such special escrow account shall be used for the payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds, on the respective due dates thereof or dates as of which Bonds have been called for redemption.
- Section 7.06. <u>Security of Funds</u>. All moneys on deposit in the funds referred to in this Ordinance shall be secured in the manner and to the fullest extent required by the laws of the State of Texas for the security of public funds, and moneys on deposit in such funds shall be used only for the purposes permitted by this Ordinance.

ARTICLE VIII

INVESTMENTS

Section 8.01. Investments.

- (a) Money in the Interest and Sinking Fund created by this Ordinance, at the option of the City, may be invested in such securities or obligations as permitted under applicable law.
- (b) Any securities or obligations in which money is so invested shall be kept and held in trust for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds and shall be sold and the proceeds of sale shall be timely applied to the making of all payments required to be made from the fund from which the investment was made.
- (c) To the extent specified in the Pricing Certificate, the money in the Escrow Fund shall be invested in (i) tax-exempt obligations or (ii) securities or obligations that do not have a "higher yield," within the meaning of Section 148(t) of the Code, than the yield on the Bonds.

Section 8.02. Investment Income.

(a) Interest and income derived from investment of the Interest and Sinking Fund shall be credited to such Fund.

(b) Subject to the provisions of Section 8.01(c), the investment and application of money in the Escrow Fund shall be in accordance with the provisions of the Escrow Agreement.

ARTICLE IX

PARTICULAR REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS

Section 9.01. <u>Payment of the Bonds</u>. On or before each Interest Payment Date for the Bonds, and while any of the Bonds are outstanding and unpaid, there shall be made available to the Paying Agent/Registrar, out of the Interest and Sinking Fund, money sufficient to pay such interest on, premium, if any, and principal of the Bonds as will accrue or mature on the applicable Interest Payment Date or date of prior redemption.

Section 9.02. Other Representations and Covenants.

- (a) The City will faithfully perform at all times any and all covenants, undertakings, stipulations, and provisions contained in this Ordinance and in each Bond; the City will promptly pay or cause to be paid the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on each Bond on the dates and at the places and manner prescribed in such Bond; and the City will, at the times and in the manner prescribed by this Ordinance, deposit or cause to be deposited the amounts of money specified by this Ordinance.
- (b) The City is duly authorized under the laws of the State of Texas to issue the Bonds; all action on its part for the creation and issuance of the Bonds has been duly and effectively taken; and the Bonds in the hands of the Owners thereof are and will be valid and enforceable general obligations of the City in accordance with their terms.

Section 9.03. Covenants to Maintain Tax-Exempt Status.

(a) <u>Definitions</u>. When used in this Section, the following terms have the following meanings:

"Computation Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-1(b) of the Regulations.

"Gross Proceeds" means any proceeds as defined in Section 1.148-1(b) of the Regulations, and any replacement proceeds as defined in Section 1.148-1(c) of the Regulations, of the Bonds.

"Investment" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-1(b) of the Regulations.

"Rebate Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-1(b) of the Regulations.

"Regulations" means any proposed, temporary, or final Income Tax Regulations issued pursuant to Sections 103 and 141 through 150 of the Code, and 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, which are applicable to the Bonds. Any reference to any specific Regulation shall also mean, as appropriate, any proposed, temporary or final Income Tax Regulation designed to supplement, amend or replace the specific Regulation referenced.

"Yield" of (1) any Investment has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-5 of the Regulations and (2) the Bonds has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-4 of the Regulations.

- (b) Not to Cause Interest to Become Taxable. The City shall not use, permit the use of, or omit to use Gross Proceeds or any other amounts (or any property the acquisition, construction, or improvement of which is to be financed or refinanced directly or indirectly with Gross Proceeds) in a manner which if made or omitted, respectively, would cause the interest on any Bond to become includable in the gross income, as defined in Section 61 of the Code, of the owner thereof for federal income tax purposes. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, unless and until the City receives a written opinion of counsel nationally recognized in the field of municipal bond law to the effect that failure to comply with such covenant will not adversely affect the exemption from federal income tax of the interest on any Bond, the City shall comply with each of the specific covenants in this Section.
- (c) <u>No Private Use or Private Payments</u>. Except as permitted by Section 141 of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder, the City shall at all times prior to the last Stated Maturity of Bonds:
 - (i) not use or permit the use of the Gross Proceeds of the Bonds (including all contractual arrangements with terms different than those applicable to the general public) or any property acquired, constructed, or improved with such Gross Proceeds in any activity carried on by any person or entity (including the United States or any agency, department, and instrumentality thereof) other than a state or local government, unless such use is solely as a member of the general public; and
 - (ii) not directly or indirectly impose or accept any charge or other payment by any person or entity who is treated as using Gross Proceeds of the Bonds or any property the acquisition, construction, or improvement of which is to be financed or refinanced directly or indirectly with such Gross Proceeds other than taxes of general application within the City or interest earned on investments acquired with such Gross Proceeds pending application for their intended purposes.
- (d) No Private Loan. Except to the extent permitted by Section 141 of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder, the City shall not use Gross Proceeds of the Bonds to make or finance loans to any person or entity other than a state or local government. For purposes of the foregoing covenant, such Gross Proceeds are considered to be "loaned" to a person or entity if: (1) property acquired, constructed, or improved with such Gross Proceeds is sold or leased to such person or entity in a transaction which creates a debt for federal income tax purposes; (2) capacity in or service from such property is committed to such person or entity under a take-or-pay, output, or similar contract or arrangement; or (3) indirect benefits, or burdens and benefits of ownership, of such Gross Proceeds or any property acquired, constructed, or improved with such Gross Proceeds are otherwise transferred in a transaction which is the economic equivalent of a loan.
- (e) Not to Invest at Higher Yield. Except to the extent permitted by Section 148 of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder, the City shall not at any time prior to the final Stated Maturity of the Bonds directly or indirectly invest Gross Proceeds in any Investment (or use Gross Proceeds to replace money so invested), if as a result of such investment the Yield from the Closing Date of all Investments acquired with Gross Proceeds (or with money replaced thereby), whether then held or previously disposed of, exceeds the Yield of the Bonds.

- (f) Not Federally Guaranteed. Except to the extent permitted by Section 149(b) of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder, the City shall not take or omit to take any action which would cause the Bonds to be federally guaranteed within the meaning of Section 149(b) of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder.
- (g) <u>Information Report</u>. The City shall timely file the information required by Section 149(e) of the Code with the Secretary of the Treasury on Form 8038-G or such other form and in such place as the Secretary may prescribe.
- (h) <u>Rebate of Arbitrage Profits</u>. Except to the extent otherwise provided in Section 148(f) of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder:
 - (i) The City shall account for all Gross Proceeds (including all receipts, expenditures and investments thereof) on its books of account separately and apart from all other funds (and receipts, expenditures and investments thereof) and shall retain all records of accounting for at least six (6) years after the day on which the last Outstanding Bond is discharged. However, to the extent permitted by law, the City may commingle Gross Proceeds of the Bonds with other money of the City, provided that the City separately accounts for each receipt and expenditure of Gross Proceeds and the obligations acquired therewith.
 - (ii) Not less frequently than each Computation Date, the City shall calculate the Rebate Amount in accordance with rules set forth in Section 148(f) of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder. The City shall maintain such calculations with its official transcript of proceedings relating to the issuance of the Bonds until six years after the final Computation Date.
 - (iii) As additional consideration for the purchase of the Bonds by the Purchasers and the loan of the money represented thereby and in order to induce such purchase by measures designed to insure the excludability of the interest thereon from the gross income of the Holders thereof for federal income tax purposes, the City shall pay to the United States from an appropriate fund, or if permitted by applicable Texas statute, regulation, or opinion of the Attorney General of the State of Texas, the Interest and Sinking Fund, the amount that when added to the future value of previous rebate payments made for the Bonds equals (i) in the case of a Final Computation Date as defined in Section 1.148-3(e)(2) of the Regulations, one hundred percent (100%) of the Rebate Amount on such date; and (ii) in the case of any other Computation Date, ninety percent (90%) of the Rebate Amount on such date. In all cases, the rebate payments shall be made at the times, in the installments, to the place, and in the manner as is or may be required by Section 148(f) of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder, and shall be accompanied by Form 8038-T or such other forms and information as is or may be required by Section 148(f) of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder.
 - (iv) The City shall exercise reasonable diligence to assure that no errors are made in the calculations and payments required by paragraphs (ii) and (iii), and if an error is made, to discover and promptly correct such error within a reasonable amount of time thereafter (and in all events within one hundred eighty (180) days after discovery of the error), including payment to the United States of any additional Rebate Amount owed to it, interest thereon, and any penalty imposed under Section 1.148-3(h) of the Regulations.

- (i) Not to Divert Arbitrage Profits. Except to the extent permitted by Section 148 of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder, the City shall not, at any time prior to the earlier of the Stated Maturity or final payment of the Bonds, enter into any transaction that reduces the amount required to be paid to the United States pursuant to subsection (h) of this Section because such transaction results in a smaller profit or a larger loss than would have resulted if the transaction had been at arm's length and had the Yield of the Bonds not been relevant to either party.
- (j) <u>Elections</u>. The City hereby directs and authorizes the Mayor, Mayor Pro Tem, City Manager, Chief Financial Officer, and City Secretary of the City, individually or jointly, to make elections permitted or required pursuant to the provisions of the Code or the Regulations, as one or more of such persons deems necessary or appropriate in connection with the Bonds, in the Certificate as to Tax Exemption, or similar or other appropriate certificate, form, or document.
- (k) <u>Current Refunding; Extraordinary Legal Judgment</u>. The Bonds are issued to refund the Refunded Obligations and the Bonds will be issued less than 90 days before the redemption of the Refunded Obligations. The Refunded Obligations represent an extraordinary legal judgment in an amount in excess of reasonable insurance coverage. Neither the City nor a related party to the City maintains a reserve for such items, such as a self-insurance fund. Neither the City nor a related party to the City has set aside other available amounts for the payment of these types of expenses.

ARTICLE X

DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

Section 10.01. <u>Events of Default</u>. Each of the following occurrences or events for the purpose of this Ordinance is hereby declared to be an "Event of Default," to-wit:

- (a) the failure to make payment of the principal of or interest on any of the Bonds when the same becomes due and payable; or
- (b) the failure to perform or observe any other covenant, agreement or obligation of the City, which materially, adversely affects the rights of the Owners, including but not limited to, their prospect or ability to be repaid in accordance with this Ordinance, and the continuation thereof for a period of 60 days after notice of such default is given by any Owner to the City.

Section 10.02. Remedies for Default.

- (a) Upon the happening of any Event of Default, then and in every case any Owner or an authorized representative thereof, including but not limited to, a trustee or trustees therefor, may proceed against the City for the purpose of protecting and enforcing the rights of the Owners under this Ordinance, by mandamus or other suit, action or special proceeding in equity or at law, in any court of competent jurisdiction, for any relief permitted by law, including the specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained herein, or thereby to enjoin any act or thing that may be unlawful or in violation of any right of the Owners hereunder or any combination of such remedies.
- (b) It is provided that all such proceedings shall be instituted and maintained for the equal benefit of all Owners of Bonds then outstanding.

Section 10.03. Remedies Not Exclusive.

- (a) No remedy herein conferred or reserved is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedy or remedies, but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or under the Bonds or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity; provided, however, that notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance, the right to accelerate the debt evidenced by the Bonds shall not be available as a remedy under this Ordinance.
- (b) The exercise of any remedy herein conferred or reserved shall not be deemed a waiver of any other available remedy.

ARTICLE XI

DISCHARGE

Section 11.01. <u>Discharge</u>. The Bonds may be defeased, discharged or refunded in any manner permitted by applicable law.

ARTICLE XII

SALE AND DELIVERY OF BONDS; APPROVAL OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT; CONTROL AND DELIVERY OF BONDS

Section 12.01. Sale of Bonds; Delivery of Official Statement.

The Bonds may be sold pursuant to a competitive sale or a negotiated sale to the Purchaser as specified in the Pricing Certificate and all in accordance with the terms of this Ordinance, including this Section 12.01 (a) and Exhibit A attached hereto, provided that all of the conditions set forth in Exhibit A are satisfied. As authorized by Chapter 1207, Texas Government Code, as amended, the Authorized Officer is authorized to act on behalf of the City upon determining that the conditions set forth in Exhibit A can be satisfied, in selling and delivering the Bonds and carrying out the other procedures specified in this Ordinance, including determining whether to acquire bond insurance for the Bonds, enter into a credit agreement with respect to the Bonds, whether to sell the Bonds in a competitive or negotiated sale, the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds, whether the Bonds shall be in one or more series from time to time, and price at which each of the Bonds will be sold, the identification, and the aggregate principal amount, of the Refunded Obligations and their redemption dates, the number and designation of series of Bonds to be issued, whether the Bonds will be taxable or tax-exempt, the form in which the Bonds shall be issued, the years in which the Bonds will mature, the principal amount to mature in each of such years, the rate of interest to be borne by each such maturity, the first interest payment date, the initial date from which interest will accrue, the dates, prices and terms upon and at which the Bonds shall be subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the City and shall be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption, and all other matters relating to the issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds, all of which shall be specified in the Pricing Certificate.

The authority granted to the Authorized Officer under this Section 12.01 (a) shall expire at 5:00 p.m., 180 days from the date of this Ordinance, unless otherwise extended by the City Council by separate action.

Any finding or determination made by the Authorized Officer relating to the issuance and sale of the Bonds and the execution of the Purchase Agreement (if any) in connection therewith shall have the same force and effect as a finding or determination made by the City Council.

(b) The Authorized Officer is hereby authorized and directed to execute the successful bid form, in the event the bonds are sold via a competitive sale, for and on behalf of the City and as the act and deed of the City Council. If the Bonds are sold in a negotiated sale, the Authorized Officer is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver one or more bond purchase agreements (the "Purchase Agreement"), which Purchase Agreement shall be in the form approved by the Authorized Officer. The Authorized Officer is hereby authorized and directed to approve the final terms and provisions of the Purchase Agreement in accordance with the terms of the Pricing Certificate and this Ordinance, which final terms shall be determined to be the most advantageous reasonably attainable by the City, such approval and determination being evidenced by its execution thereof by the Authorized Officer. All officers, agents and representatives of the City are hereby authorized to do any and all things necessary or desirable to satisfy the conditions set out therein and to provide for the issuance and delivery of the Bonds.

The Initial Bond shall initially be registered in the name of the Purchaser or such other entity as may be specified in the Pricing Certificate.

- (c) The City hereby approves the preparation of a Preliminary Official Statement and a Notice of Sale (if any) for use in the initial offering and sale of the Bonds, and authorizes the Authorized Officer to approve the final form and substance of the Preliminary Official Statement and the Notice of Sale (if any) and to deem the Preliminary Official Statement "final" as of its date within the meaning and for the purposes of paragraph (b)(1) of the Rule on behalf of the City. The City hereby authorizes the preparation of a final Official Statement (the "Official Statement") incorporating applicable pricing information pertaining to the Bonds. The Authorized Officer is hereby authorized and directed to authorize the use and distribution of such final Official Statement, with such appropriate variations as shall be approved by the Authorized Officer, by the Purchasers in the offering and sale of the Bonds.
- (d) All officers of the City are authorized to take such actions and to execute such documents, certificates and receipts as they may deem necessary and appropriate in order to consummate the delivery of the Bonds in accordance with the terms of sale therefore including, without limitation, the Purchase Agreement (if any). Further, in connection with the submission of the record of proceedings for the Bonds to the Attorney General of the State of Texas for examination and approval of such Bonds, the appropriate officer of the City is hereby authorized and directed to issue a check of the City payable to the Attorney General of the State of Texas as a nonrefundable examination fee in the amount required by Chapter 1202, Texas Government Code (such amount to be the lesser of (i) 1/10th of 1 % of the principal amount of the Bonds or (ii) \$9,500).
- (e) The obligation of the Purchaser to accept delivery of the Bonds is subject to the Purchaser being furnished with the final, approving opinions of Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP and Mahomes Bolden PC, Co-Bond Counsel for the City, which opinions shall be dated as of and delivered on the Closing Date.

Section 12.02. Control and Delivery of Bonds.

- (a) The City Manager is hereby authorized to have control of the Initial Bond and all necessary records and proceedings pertaining thereto pending investigation, examination, and approval of the Attorney General of the State of Texas, registration by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas and registration with, and initial exchange or transfer by, the Paying Agent/Registrar.
- (b) After registration by the Comptroller of Public Accounts, delivery of the Initial Bond shall be made to the Purchaser under and subject to the general supervision and direction of the City Manager, against receipt by the City of all amounts due to the City under the terms of sale.
- (c) In the event the Mayor, City Secretary or City Manager is absent or otherwise unable to execute any document or take any action authorized herein, the Mayor Pro Tem, any Assistant City Secretary and any Assistant City Manager, respectively, shall be authorized to execute such documents and take such actions, and the performance of such duties by the Mayor Pro Tem, the Assistant City Secretary and the Assistant City Manager shall for the purposes of this Ordinance have the same force and effect as if such duties were performed by the Mayor, City Secretary and City Manager, respectively.

ARTICLE XIII

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING

Section 13.01. Annual Reports.

- (a) The City shall provide annually to the MSRB, (1) within six months after the end of each fiscal year of the City, financial information and operating data with respect to the City of the general type included in the final Official Statement, being information described in the Pricing Certificate, including financial statements of the City if audited financial statements of the City are then available, and (2) if not provided as part such financial information and operating data, audited financial statements of the City, when and if available. Any financial statements so to be provided shall be (i) prepared in accordance with the accounting principles prescribed by the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles or such other accounting principles as the City may be required to employ, from time to time, by State law or regulation, and (ii) audited, if the City commissions an audit of such statements and the audit is completed within the period during which they must be provided. If the audit of such financial statements is not complete within 12 months after any such fiscal year end, then the City shall file unaudited financial statements within such 12-month period and audited financial statements for the applicable fiscal year, when and if the audit report on such statements becomes available.
- (b) If the City changes its fiscal year, it will notify the MSRB of the change (and of the date of the new fiscal year end) prior to the next date by which the City otherwise would be required to provide financial information and operating data pursuant to this Section.
- (c) The financial information and operating data to be provided pursuant to this Section may be set forth in full in one or more documents or may be included by specific reference to any document (including an official statement or other offering document, if it is available from the MSRB) that theretofore has been provided to the MSRB or filed with the SEC.

Section 13.02. Material Event Notices.

- (a) The City shall provide the following to the MSRB, in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, in a timely manner not in excess of ten (10) business days after the occurrence of the event, notice of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds:
 - (i) Principal and interest payment delinquencies;
 - (ii) Non-payment related defaults, if material;
 - (iii) Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;
 - (iv) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;
 - (v) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;
 - (vi) Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds;

- (vii) Modifications to rights of the holders of the Bonds, if material;
- (viii) Bond calls, if material, and tender offers;
- (ix) Defeasances;
- (x) Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material;
 - (xi) Rating changes;
 - (xii) Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the City;
- (xiii) The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the City or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the City, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material;
- (xiv) Appointment of successor or additional paying agent/registrar or the change of name of a paying agent/registrar, if material;
- (xv) Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the City, if material, or agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a Financial Obligation of the City, any of which affect security holders, if material; and
- (xvi) Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the City, any of which reflect financial difficulties.
- (b) For these purposes, (a) any event described in paragraph (xii) of this section, is considered to occur when any of the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the City in a proceeding under the United States Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the City, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the City, and (b) the City intends the words used in paragraphs (xv) and (xvi) of this section and the definition of Financial Obligation in this section to have the same meanings as when they are used in the Rule, as evidenced by SEC Release No. 34-83885, dated August 20, 2018.
- (c) The City shall notify the MSRB, in a timely manner, of any failure by the City to provide financial information or operating data in accordance with Section 13.01 of this Ordinance by the time required by such Section.

Section 13.03. Limitations, Disclaimers and Amendments.

(a) The City shall be obligated to observe and perform the covenants specified in this Article for so long as, but only for so long as, the City remains an "obligated person" with respect

to the Bonds within the meaning of the Rule, except that the City in any event will give notice of any Bond calls and any defeasances that cause the City to be no longer an "obligated person."

(b) The provisions of this Article are for the sole benefit of the Owners and beneficial owners of the Bonds, and nothing in this Article, express or implied, shall give any benefit or any legal or equitable right, remedy, or claim hereunder to any other person. The City undertakes to provide only the financial information, operating data, financial statements, and notices which it has expressly agreed to provide pursuant to this Article and does not hereby undertake to provide any other information that may be relevant or material to a complete presentation of the City's financial results, condition, or prospects or hereby undertake to update any information provided in accordance with this Article or otherwise, except as expressly provided herein. The City does not make any representation or warranty concerning such information or its usefulness to a decision to invest in or sell Bonds at any future date.

UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL THE CITY BE LIABLE TO THE OWNER OR BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY BOND OR ANY OTHER PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR DAMAGES RESULTING IN WHOLE OR IN PART FROM ANY BREACH BY THE CITY, WHETHER NEGLIGENT OR WITHOUT FAULT ON ITS PART, OF ANY COVENANT SPECIFIED IN THIS ARTICLE, BUT EVERY RIGHT AND REMEDY OF ANY SUCH PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR OR ON ACCOUNT OF ANY SUCH BREACH SHALL BE LIMITED TO AN ACTION FOR MANDAMUS OR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.

- (c) No default by the City in observing or performing its obligations under this Article shall constitute a breach of or default under this Ordinance for purposes of any other provisions of this Ordinance.
- (d) Nothing in this Article is intended or shall act to disclaim, waive, or otherwise limit the duties of the City under federal and state securities laws.
- (e) The provisions of this Article may be amended by the City from time to time to adapt to changed circumstances that arise from a change in legal requirements, a change in law, or a change in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations of the City, but only if (i) the provisions of this Article, as so amended, would have permitted an underwriter to purchase or sell Bonds in the primary offering of the Bonds in compliance with the Rule, taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule to the date of such amendment, as well as such changed circumstances, and (ii) either (A) the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount (or any greater amount required by any other provisions of this Ordinance that authorizes such an amendment) of the outstanding Bonds consent to such amendment or (B) an entity or individual person that is unaffiliated with the City (such as nationally recognized bond counsel) determines that such amendment will not materially impair the interests of the Owners and beneficial owners of the Bonds. If the City so amends the provisions of this Article, it shall include with any amended financial information or operating data next provided in accordance with Section 13.01 an explanation, in narrative form, of the reasons for the amendment and of the impact of any change in the type of financial information or operating data so provided.

Section 13.04. <u>Amendments to the Rule</u>. In the event the Authorized Officer, in consultation with Co-Bond Counsel and the City's financial advisor, determines that it is necessary or desirable to amend the provisions of this Article XIII in order to facilitate compliance with

amendments to the Rule and related guidance from the SEC, the Authorized Officer may make such changes in the Pricing Certificate for the Bonds.

ARTICLE XIV

AMENDMENTS; ATTORNEY GENERAL MODIFICATION

Section 14.01. Amendments. This Ordinance shall constitute a contract with the Owners, be binding on the City, and shall not be amended or repealed by the City so long as any Bond remains outstanding except as permitted in this Section. The City may, without consent of or notice to any Owners, from time to time and at any time, amend this Ordinance in any manner not detrimental to the interests of the Owners, including the curing of any ambiguity, inconsistency, or formal defect or omission herein. In addition, the City may, with the written consent of the Owners of the Bonds holding a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding, amend, add to, or rescind any of the provisions of this Ordinance; provided that, without the consent of all Owners of outstanding Bonds, no such amendment, addition, or rescission shall (i) extend the time or times of payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds, reduce the principal amount thereof, the redemption price, or the rate of interest thereon, or in any other way modify the terms of payment of the principal of, or interest on the Bonds, (ii) give any preference to any Bond over any other Bond, or (iii) reduce the aggregate principal amount of Bonds required to be held by Owners for consent to any such amendment, addition, or rescission.

Section 14.02. <u>Attorney General Modification</u>. In order to obtain the approval of the Bonds by the Attorney General of the State of Texas, any provision of this Ordinance may be modified, altered or amended after the date of its adoption if required or requested by the Attorney General in connection with the Attorney General's examination as to the legality of the Bonds and approval thereof in accordance with the applicable law. Such changes, if any, shall be provided to the City Secretary and the City Secretary shall insert such changes into this Ordinance as if approved on the date hereof.

Section 14.03. <u>Partial Invalidity</u>. If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Ordinance shall for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such section, paragraph, clause or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Ordinance.

Section 14.04. <u>No Personal Liability</u>. No recourse shall be had for payment of the principal of or interest on any Bonds or for any claim based thereon, or on this Ordinance, against any official or employee of the City or any person executing any Bonds.

ARTICLE XV

PAYMENT OF REFUNDED OBLIGATIONS; APPROVAL OF ESCROW AGREEMENT; PURCHASE OF ESCROWED SECURITIES

Section 15.01. <u>Payment of Refunded Obligations</u>. Unless otherwise specified in the Pricing Certificate, the Refunded Obligations are to be paid by the Escrow Agent within five (5) Business Days following the Closing Date, in the principal amount thereof as set forth in the Pricing Certificate.

Section 15.02. <u>Approval of Escrow Agreement</u>.

- (a) The Authorized Officer is hereby authorized to select and appoint an Escrow Agent to hold funds to pay off the Refunded Obligations and the Escrow Agent shall be designated in the Pricing Certificate.
- (b) The Authorized Officer is hereby authorized to execute and deliver, or cause the execution and delivery by other appropriate City officials, an Escrow Agreement, having such terms and provisions as are approved by the Authorized Officer as evidenced by his execution thereof or the execution thereof by other appropriate City officials. The Escrow Agreement shall contain terms and provisions to be approved by the Authorized Officer including terms and provisions for the purposes of (i) carrying out the program designed for the City, (ii) minimizing the City's costs of refunding, (iii) complying with all applicable laws and regulations relating to the refunding of the Refunded Obligations, (iv) carrying out the other intents and purposes of this Ordinance and (v) complying with the terms set forth in the Pricing Certificate. The execution and delivery by the City Manager of the Escrow Agreement, if necessary, is hereby authorized and approved.

Section 15.03. <u>Subscription for Securities</u>. The Authorized Officer is authorized to make necessary arrangements for and to execute such documents and agreements in connection with the purchase of the Escrow Securities required by and referenced in the Escrow Agreement, if any, as may be necessary for the Escrow Fund and the application for the acquisition of the Escrow Securities is hereby approved and ratified.

ARTICLE XVI

EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY

Section 16.01. <u>Effective Immediately</u>. This Ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage and publication in accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Dallas, Texas, pertaining thereto, and it is accordingly so ordained.

FINALLY PASSED, APPROVED AND EFFECTIVE this March 27, 2019

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Christopher J. Caso, Interim City Attorney City of Dallas

SCHEDULE I

REFUNDED OBLIGATIONS

Agreed Final Judgment in Cause No. 1-95-107, *George G. Parker, et. al. vs. City of Dallas, Texas*, in the District Court 382nd Judicial District, Rockwall County, Texas, dated February 8, 2019; and

Agreed Final Judgment in Cause No. 1-95-506, *David S. Martin, et. al. vs. City of Dallas, Texas*, in the District Court 382nd Judicial District, Rockwall County, Texas, dated February 8, 2019.

EXHIBIT A

SALE PARAMETERS

In accordance with Section 12.01 (a) of the Ordinance, the following conditions with respect to the Bonds must be satisfied in order for the Authorized Officer to act on behalf of the City in selling and delivering the Bonds to the Purchaser:

- (a) the Bonds shall not bear interest at a rate greater than the maximum rate authorized by Chapter 1204, Texas Government Code, as amended;
- (b) the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds authorized to be issued for the purposes described in Section 3.01 shall not exceed the limits described in that Section, and the Bonds sold for the purposes of refunding the Refunded Obligations shall be in an amount sufficient, in combination with the net premium from the sale of the Bonds, plus other available funds of the City, if any, to provide for the payment of the Refunded Obligations and the costs and expenses of issuance of the Bonds, including underwriter's discount; and
- (c) the maximum term for which the Bonds issued under this Ordinance may be outstanding is twenty (20) years from the date of their issuance.

74124180.4 Exhibit A-1



City of Dallas

Agenda Information Sheet

File #: 19-407 Item #: 4.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY: Government Performance and Financial Management

AGENDA DATE: March 27, 2019

COUNCIL DISTRICT(S): N/A

DEPARTMENT: Department of Communication and Information Services

EXECUTIVE: Elizabeth Reich

SUBJECT

Authorize a twelve-month contract for data validation services related to human resources and payroll data contained in the City's systems - Premier International Enterprises, Inc. - Not to exceed \$936,000 - Financing: General Fund (\$468,000) and HR Health Risk Fund (\$468,000)

BACKGROUND

This contract will provide the City subject matter expertise for data validation services. The consultant will assess the City's human resource system and analyze and validate data contained within. They will also compare the data against files and databases from vendors providing benefits to City employees.

The consultant's data validation services will include:

- An assessment and report of the current state of the City's payroll and benefit data
- Reports and scripts for on-going data validation
- Identification of data issues and gaps by downstream systems
- Assessment of payroll deductions compared to selections

PRIOR ACTION/REVIEW (COUNCIL, BOARDS, COMMISSIONS)

The Government Performance & Financial Management Committee will receive this item for consideration on March 18, 2019.

FISCAL INFORMATION

General Fund - \$468,000 HR Health Risk Fund- \$468,000 File #: 19-407 Item #: 4.

M/WBE INFORMATION

In accordance with the City's Business Inclusion and Development Plan adopted on October 22, 2008, by Resolution No. 08-2826, as amended, the M/WBE participation on this contract is as follows:

Contract Amount	Category	M/WBE Goal	M/WBE %	M/WBE \$
\$936,000.00	Professional Services	N/A	N/A	N/A
The Business Inclusion and Development Plan does not apply to Special Needs contracts.				

PROCUREMENT INFORMATION

In accordance with Administrative Directive 4-5, Paragraph 10.5.6 (A), Special Need/Justification was approved to contract with Premier International Enterprises, Inc.

OWNER

Premier International Enterprises, Inc.

Craig Wood, Chief Executive Officer Mikel Naples, President

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DALLAS:

SECTION 1. That the City Manager is hereby authorized to execute a twelve-month contract with Premier International Enterprises, Inc. (VS100248), approved as to form by the City Attorney, for data validation services related to human resources and payroll data contained in the City's systems, in an amount not to exceed \$936,000.

SECTION 2. That the Chief Financial Officer is hereby authorized to disburse funds in an amount not to exceed \$936,000 to Premier International Enterprises, Inc., as follows:

General Fund

Fund 0001, Department BMS, Unit 1991, Object 3070 Encumbrance/Contract No. DSV-2019-00009753 Vendor VS100248

\$468,000

HR Health Risk Fund Fund 0260, Department PER, Unit 7906, Object 3070 Encumbrance/Contract No. DSV-2019-00009753 Vendor VS100248

\$468,000

Total amount not to exceed

\$936,000

SECTION 3. That this contract is designated as Contract No. DSV-2019-00009753.

SECTION 4. That this resolution shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Dallas, and it is accordingly so resolved.





1500 Marilla Street Dallas, Texas 75201

Agenda Information Sheet

File #: 19-329 Item #: 33.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY: Government Performance and Financial Management

AGENDA DATE: March 27, 2019

COUNCIL DISTRICT(S): All

DEPARTMENT: Office of Procurement Services

EXECUTIVE: Elizabeth Reich

SUBJECT

Authorize a three-year master agreement for liquid sodium hypochlorite - FSTI, Inc. in an estimated amount of \$472,500.00 and PVS Minibulk, Inc. in an estimated amount of \$190,121.40, lowest responsible bidders of four - Total estimated amount of \$662,621.40 - Financing: General Fund (\$190,121.40) and Dallas Water Utilities Fund (\$472,500.00)

BACKGROUND

This action does not encumber funds; the purpose of a master agreement is to establish firm pricing for goods, for a specific term, which are ordered on an as needed basis according to annual budgetary appropriations. The estimated amount is intended as guidance rather than a cap on spending under the agreement, so that actual need combined with the amount budgeted will determine the amount spent under this agreement. We anticipate the following City departments will use this agreement:

- Water Utilities Department
- Park and Recreation Department

This master agreement will provide sodium hypochlorite (bleach) to be used in water treatment processes throughout the City. Bleach is used to boost chlorine and maintain disinfection levels in accordance with State of Texas regulatory standards. These applications require high quality, commercial grade 12.5 percent sodium hypochlorite in solution form. The sodium hypochlorite is delivered in 4,500 gallon tank trucks and transferred to storage tanks where it is dosed directly into the water lines throughout the City. In addition, sodium hypochlorite will be used at Bahama Beach Water Park facilities, City Hall Fountain, Spray Grounds, and various City swimming pools.

As part of the solicitation process and in an effort to increase competition, the Office of Procurement Services used its procurement system to send out 1,072 email bid notifications to vendors registered under respective commodities. To further increase competition, the Office of Procurement Services uses historical solicitation information, the internet, and vendor contact information obtained from

File #: 19-329 Item #: 33.

user departments to contact additional vendors by phone. Additionally, in an effort to secure more bids, the Office of Business sent notifications to 25 chambers of commerce and advocacy groups to ensure maximum vendor outreach.

PRIOR ACTION/REVIEW (COUNCIL, BOARDS, COMMISSIONS)

On October 22, 2014, City Council authorized a two-year master agreement for sodium hypochlorite (bleach) with Petra Chemical Company and FSTI, Inc. by Resolution No. 14-1783.

The Government Performance & Financial Management Committee will receive this item for consideration on March 18, 2019.

FISCAL INFORMATION

General Fund - \$190,121.40 (Estimated amount)
Dallas Water Utilities Fund - \$472,500.00 (Estimated amount)

Fund	FY 2018-19	FY 2019-20	FY 2020-21
General Fund	\$63,373.80	\$63,373.80	\$63,373.80
Dallas Water Utilities Fund	\$32,000.00	\$220,250.00	\$220,250.00
Total	\$95,373.80	\$283,623.80	\$283,623.80

M/WBE INFORMATION

In accordance with the City's Business Inclusion and Development Plan adopted on October 22, 2008, by Resolution No. 08-2826, as amended, the M/WBE participation on this contract is as follows:

Contract Amount	Category	M/WBE Goal	M/WBE %	M/WBE \$
\$662,621.40	Goods	18.00%	71.31%	\$472,500.00
 This contract exce 	eeds the M/WBE goal.			

PROCUREMENT INFORMATION

Method of Evaluation for Award Type:

 Recommended vendor is based on the lowest competitive quoted price, who is also technically and financially capable of performing and completing the contract, and otherwise meets all material specification requirements
Negotiations are not allowed

File #: 19-329 Item #: 33.

The Office of Procurement Services received the following bids from solicitation number BG1902. We opened them on February 1, 2019. We recommend the City Council award this master agreement to the lowest responsive and responsible bidders by group. Information related to this solicitation is available upon request.

^{*}Denotes successful bidders

<u>Bidders</u>	<u>Address</u>	<u>Amount</u>
*FSTI, Inc.	6300 Bridgepoint Pkwy Austin, TX 78730	Multiple Groups
*PVS Minibulk, Inc.	10900 Harper Ave. Detroit, MI 48213	Multiple Groups
DCC	2929 Storey Ln. Dallas, TX 75220	Multiple Groups
Petra Chemical Company	2929 Storey Ln. Dallas, TX 75220	Multiple Groups

OWNERS

FSTI, Inc.

Staci Barton, President

PVS Minibulk, Inc.

Timothy F. Nicholson, President

WHEREAS, on October 22,2014, City Council authorized a two-year master agreement for sodium hypochlorite (bleach) with Petra Chemical Company in the amount of \$267,300.00 and FSTI, Inc. in the amount of \$82,500.00, by Resolution No. 14-1783.

Now, Therefore,

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DALLAS:

SECTION 1. That a master agreement for the purchase of liquid sodium hypochlorite is authorized with FSTI, Inc. (VS0000023020) in the estimated amount of \$472,500.00 and PVS Minibulk, Inc. (VC16463) in the estimated amount of \$190,121.40, approved as to form by the City Attorney, for a term of three years in a total estimated amount of \$662,621.40. The amount payable pursuant to this master agreement may exceed the estimated amount, but may not exceed the amount of budgetary appropriations for this master agreement during its term.

SECTION 2. That the Purchasing Agent is authorized, upon appropriate request and documented need by a user department, to issue a purchase order for liquid sodium hypochlorite. If a written contract is required or requested for any or all purchases for liquid sodium hypochlorite under the master agreement instead of individual purchase orders, the City Manager is hereby authorized to execute a contract, approved as to form by the City Attorney.

SECTION 3. That the Chief Financial Officer is hereby authorized to disburse funds in an estimated amount of at least \$662,621.40, but not more than the amount of budgetary appropriations for this master agreement during its term to FSTI, Inc. and PVS Minibulk, Inc. from Master Agreement Contract No. POM-2019-00009535.

SECTION 4. That this resolution shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Dallas, and it is accordingly so resolved.



City of Dallas

Agenda Information Sheet

File #: 19-128 Item #: 34.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY: Government Performance and Financial Management

AGENDA DATE: March 27, 2019

COUNCIL DISTRICT(S): All

DEPARTMENT: Office of Procurement Services

EXECUTIVE: Elizabeth Reich

SUBJECT

Authorize a three-year master agreement for the purchase of lamps and light bulbs - Dealer's Electric Supply Co. in an estimated amount of \$1,901,656, Facility Solutions Group, Inc. in an estimated amount of \$1,311,050, Regency Enterprises, Inc. dba Regency Lighting in an estimated amount of \$695,252, Voss Electric dba Voss Lighting in an estimated amount of \$204,533, and Simba Industries in an estimated amount of \$25,200, lowest responsible bidders of eight - Estimated total amount of \$4,137,691 - Financing: General Fund (\$3,326,300), Dallas Water Utilities Fund (\$649,891), and Convention and Event Services Fund (\$161,500)

BACKGROUND

This action does not encumber funds; the purpose of a master agreement is to establish firm pricing for goods, for a specific term, which are ordered on an as needed basis according to annual budgetary appropriations. The estimated amount is intended as guidance rather than a cap on spending under the agreement, so that actual need combined with the amount budgeted will determine the amount spent under this agreement. We anticipate the following City departments will use this agreement:

- Department of Convention and Event Services
- Building Services Department
- Fire-Rescue Department
- Water Utilities Department
- Office of Cultural Affairs
- Park and Recreation Department
- Police Department

This master agreement will provide various size and types of energy efficient light bulbs, tubes and LEDs for all City facilities. Energy efficient light bulbs and tubes have replaced standard bulbs throughout most City facilities.

File #: 19-128 Item #: 34.

As part of the solicitation process and in an effort to increase competition, the Office of Procurement Services used its procurement system to send out 481 email bid notifications to vendors registered under respective commodities. To further increase competition, the Office of Procurement Services uses historical solicitation information, the internet, and vendor contact information obtained from user departments to contact additional vendors by phone. Additionally, in an effort to secure more bids, the Office of Business Diversity sent notifications to 25 chambers of commerce and advocacy groups to ensure maximum vendor outreach.

PRIOR ACTION/REVIEW (COUNCIL, BOARDS, COMMISSIONS)

On August 27, 2014, City Council authorized a five-year master agreement for energy efficient light bulbs, tubes and LEDs for City facilities with Facility Solutions Group, Voss Electric Co. dba Voss Lighting, Simba Industries, Inc., and Triton Supply, Inc. by Resolution No. 14-1354.

The Government Performance & Financial Management Committee will receive this item for consideration on March 18, 2019.

FISCAL INFORMATION

General Fund - \$3,326,300.00 (Estimated amount)
Dallas Water Utilities Fund - \$649,891.00 (Estimated amount)
Convention and Event Services Fund - \$161,500.00 (Estimated amount)

Fund	FY 2018-19	FY 2019-20	FY 2020-21	FY 2021-22
General Fund	\$1,067,766.67	\$1,108,766.66	\$1,108,766.67	\$41,000.00
Dallas Water Utilities Fund	\$185,630.34	\$232,130.33	\$232,130.33	\$0
Convention and Event Services Fund	\$60,000.00	\$60,000.00	\$41,500.00	\$0
Total	\$1,313,397.01	\$1,400,896.99	\$1,382,397.00	\$41,000.00

M/WBE INFORMATION

In accordance with the City's Business Inclusion and Development Plan adopted on October 22, 2008, by Resolution No. 08-2826, as amended, the M/WBE participation on this contract is as follows:

Contract Amount	Category	M/WBE Goal	M/WBE %	M/WBE \$
\$4,137,691.00	Goods	18.00%	16.27%	\$673,013.00
This contract does not meet the M/WBE goal, but complies with good faith efforts.				

PROCUREMENT INFORMATION

Method of Evaluation for Award Type:

File #: 19-128 Item #: 34.

Low Bid	 Recommended vendor is based on the lowest competitive quoted price, who is also technically and financially capable of performing and completing the contract, and otherwise meets all material specification requirements
	Negotiations are not allowed

The Office of Procurement Services received the following bids from solicitation number BI1816. We opened them on November 11, 2018. We recommend the City Council award this master agreement to the lowest responsive and responsible bidders by group. Information related to this solicitation is available upon request.

*Denotes successful bidders

<u>Bidders</u>	Address	<u>Amount</u>
*Dealer's Electric Supply Co.	2320 Columbus Ave. Waco, TX 76701	Multiple Groups
*Facility Solutions Group, Inc.	2525 Walnut Hill Ln. Dallas, TX 75229	Multiple Groups
*Regency Enterprises, Inc. dba Regency Lighting	9261 Jordan Ave. Chatsworth, CA 91311	Multiple Groups
*Voss Electric dba Voss Lighting	11420 Ferrell Dr. Suite 304 Farmers Branch, TX 75236	Multiple Groups
*Simba Industries	753 Port America PI. Suite 210 Grapevine, TX 76051	Multiple Groups
Stanford Precision	3372 Garden Brook Dr. Farmers Branch, TX 75234	Multiple Groups
Mavich, LLC	525 Commerce St. Southlake, TX 76092	Multiple Groups
Telecom Electric Supply Company	1304 Capital Ave. Plano, TX 75074	Multiple Groups

File #: 19-128 Item #: 34.

OWNERS

Dealer's Electrical Supply Co.

Scott Bracey, President Chris Lanham, Vice President

Facility Solutions Group, Inc.

William Graham, President Steve Byrne, Vice President

Regency Enterprises, Inc. dba Regency Lighting

Evan Regenstreif, Chief Executive Officer Judah Regenstreif, President Scott Anderson, President

Voss Electric dba Voss Lighting

Robert Jensen, President Stephen Sanderson, Vice President

Simba Industries

Vickie L. Kasten, Owner

WHEREAS, on August 27, 2014, City Council authorized a five-year master agreement for energy efficient light bulbs, tubes and LEDs for City facilities with Facility Solutions Group in the amount of \$839,784, Voss Electric Co. dba Voss Lighting in the amount of \$790,322, Simba Industries, Inc. in the amount of \$379,372, and Triton Supply, Inc. in the amount of \$216,255, by Resolution No. 14-1354.

Now, Therefore,

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DALLAS:

SECTION 1. That the a master agreement for the purchase of lamps and light bulbs is authorized with Dealer's Electric Supply Co. (VS93195) in the estimated amount of \$1,901,656, Facility Solutions Group, Inc. (VS0000010481) in the estimated amount of \$1,311,050, Regency Enterprises, Inc. dba Regency Lighting (VS0000061649) in the estimated amount of \$695,252, Voss Electric dba Voss Lighting (238705) in the estimated amount of \$204,533, and Simba Industries (519720) in the estimated amount of \$25,200, approved as to form by the City Attorney, for a term of three years in a total estimated amount of \$4,137,691. The amount payable pursuant to this master agreement may exceed the estimated amount, but may not exceed the amount of budgetary appropriations for this master agreement during its term.

SECTION 2. That the Purchasing Agent is authorized, upon appropriate request and documented need by a user department, to issue a purchase order for lamps and light bulbs. If a written contract is required or requested for any or all purchases for lamps and light bulbs under the master agreement instead of individual purchase orders, the City Manager is hereby authorized to execute a contract, approved as to form by the City Attorney.

SECTION 3. That the Chief Financial Officer is hereby authorized to disburse funds in an estimated amount of at least \$4,137,691, but not more than the amount of budgetary appropriations for this master agreement during its term to Dealer's Electric Supply Co., Facility Solutions Group, Inc., Regency Enterprises, Inc. dba Regency Lighting, Voss Electric dba Voss Lighting, and Simba Industries from Master Agreement Contract No. POM-2019-00009153.

SECTION 4. That this resolution shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Dallas, and it is accordingly so resolved.



City of Dallas

Agenda Information Sheet

File #: 19-102 Item #: 35.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY: Government Performance and Financial Management

AGENDA DATE: March 27, 2019

COUNCIL DISTRICT(S): All

DEPARTMENT: Office of Procurement Services

EXECUTIVE: Elizabeth Reich

SUBJECT

Authorize Amendment No. 17 to increase the service contract with AssetWorks, LLC for the purchase, installation, hosting, maintenance, and support of mobile fuel island control units and related hardware for the Equipment and Fleet Management Department - Not to exceed \$89,065.67, from \$5,381,851.95 to \$5,470,917.62 - Financing: Equipment and Fleet Management Fund

BACKGROUND

This amendment will provide for the purchase, installation, hosting, maintenance, and support of mobile fuel island control units (ICU) for use with the City's M5 Fleet Management System. The addition of these fuel ICUs will allow the Equipment and Fleet Management Department (EFM) to accurately track fuel being transported from bulk storage tanks to smaller dispensing stating located throughout the city. Examples of these smaller dispensing stations include, but are not limited to, service centers and fire stations where fuel is dispensed directly into vehicles or equipment.

The new fuel ICUs include devices that are installed at the bulk storage tanks to monitor how much fuel is being loaded into a tanker truck. Additionally, a similar ICU will be installed on the tanker truck that will track the amount of fuel being transferred from the truck to a dispensing station. The addition of these mobile ICUs will offer EFM improved accountability and management of fuel stored in City owned tanks located throughout the city. EFM bulk fueling operations services approximately 95 different locations such as:

- Fire-Rescue stations
- Water utility plant facilities
- Sanitation landfill locations
- Park and Recreation centers
- Watershed management facilities

File #: 19-102 Item #: 35.

On November 10, 2015, the City Council authorized a living wage policy that requires contractors to pay their employees a "living wage" rate as established annually by the Massachusetts Institute of Technology Living Wage Calculator for Dallas County by Resolution No. 15-2141. The current calculated living wage during the solicitation process of this contract is \$11.15; the selected vendor meets this requirement.

PRIOR ACTION/REVIEW (COUNCIL, BOARDS, COMMISSIONS)

On February 11, 2015, City Council authorized a five-year service contract for ongoing hosting for the Fleet Data Management System and related hardware; and a five-year service contract for maintenance and support for the FuelFocus software with AssetWorks, LLC by Resolution 15-0265.

The Government Performance & Financial Management Committee will receive this item for consideration on March 18, 2019.

FISCAL INFORMATION

Equipment and Fleet Management Fund - \$89,065.67

M/WBE INFORMATION

In accordance with the City's Business Inclusion and Development Plan adopted on October 22, 2008, by Resolution No. 08-2826, as amended, the M/WBE participation on this contract is as follows:

Contract Amount	Category	M/WBE Goal	M/WBE %	M/WBE \$	
\$89,065.67	Other Services	23.80%	0.00%	\$0.00	
This contract does not meet the M/WBE goal, but complies with good faith efforts.					
 Supplemental Agreement No. 17 - 0.00% Overall M/WBE participation 					

OWNER

AssetWorks, LLC

John H. Hines III, President

WHEREAS, on February 11, 2015, City Council authorized a five-year service contract for ongoing hosting for the Fleet Data Management System and related hardware; and a five-year service contract for maintenance and support for the FuelFocus software with AssetWorks, LLC, by Resolution 15-0265; and

WHEREAS, on November 2, 2015, Administrative Action 15-7156 authorized Amendment No. 16 to add funds and amend the contract to utilize professional services provisioned under Optional Future Services of Amendment no. 15 with AssetWorks, LLC; and

WHEREAS, on February 11, 2019, Administrative Action 19-5276 authorized Amendment No. 18 to update to the interface with the City's AMS Advantage 3 Financial System with AssetWorks, LLC.

Now, Therefore,

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DALLAS:

SECTION 1. That the City Manager is hereby authorized to execute Amendment No. 17 to increase the service contract with AssetWorks, LLC (243388), approved as to form by the City Attorney, for the purchase, installation, hosting, maintenance, and support of mobile fuel island control units and related hardware for the Equipment and Fleet Management Department, in an amount not to exceed \$89,065.67, from \$5,381,851.95 to \$5,470,917.62.

SECTION 2. That the Chief Financial Officer is hereby authorized to disburse funds in an amount not to exceed \$89,065.67 to AssetWorks, LLC from Master Agreement Service Contract No. DSV-2017-00001908.

SECTION 3. That this resolution shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Dallas, and it is accordingly so resolved.



JEX No

City of Dallas

1500 Marilla Street Dallas, Texas 75201

Agenda Information Sheet

STRATEGIC PRIORITY: Government Performance and Financial Management

AGENDA DATE: March 27, 2019

COUNCIL DISTRICT(S): All

DEPARTMENT: Office of Procurement Services

EXECUTIVE: Elizabeth Reich

SUBJECT

Authorize (1) Supplemental Agreement No. 2 to increase the service contract for compressed natural gas for equipped fleet vehicles for the Equipment and Fleet Management Department in the amount of \$623,490.75, from \$2,493,963.36 to \$3,117,454.11; and (2) Supplemental Agreement No. 2 to increase the service contract for compressed natural gas fuel station parts and maintenance for equipped fleet vehicles for the Equipment and Fleet Management Department in the amount of \$114,180.00, from \$456,720.00 to \$570,900.00 - Clean Energy, a California corporation, registered to do business in Texas as California Clean Energy, Inc. - Total not to exceed \$737,670.75, from \$2,950,683.36 to \$3,688,354.11 - Financing: Equipment and Fleet Management Fund

BACKGROUND

These Supplemental Agreements will allow the Equipment and Fleet Management Department to continue providing compressed natural gas (CNG) for the City's fleet vehicles and the maintenance support for the City's two CNG stations. These stations provide overnight filling of vehicles, thus saving staff time and ensuring completely filled tanks at the beginning of each shift. The contractor makes frequent trips to each site to verify that the facility is operating properly. Preventative maintenance will be performed per equipment manufacturer requirements, including the compressors in which failed components are repaired or replaced as needed. These two stations provide an average of 21,000 gallons of CNG monthly.

PRIOR ACTION/REVIEW (COUNCIL, BOARDS, COMMISSIONS)

On March 23, 2016, City Council authorized a three-year acquisition contract, which resulted in a service contract, for compressed natural gas for equipped fleet vehicles with Clean Energy dba California Clean Energy, Inc. by Resolution No. 16-0419.

On March 23, 2016, City Council authorized a three-year service contract for compressed natural gas fuel station parts and maintenance for equipped fleet vehicles with Clean Energy dba California Clean Energy, Inc. by Resolution No. 16-0420.

The Government Performance & Financial Management Committee will receive this item for consideration on March 18, 2019.

FISCAL INFORMATION

Equipment and Fleet Management Fund - \$737,670.75

FY2019-20 \$368,835.37 FY2020-21 \$368,835.39

M/WBE INFORMATION

In accordance with the City's Business Inclusion and Development Plan adopted on October 22, 2008, by Resolution No. 08-2826, as amended, the M/WBE participation on this contract is as follows:

Contract Amount	Category	M/WBE Goal	M/WBE %	M/WBE \$	
\$737,670.75	Goods	18.00%	0.00%	0.00%	
This contract does not meet the M/WBE goal, but complies with good faith efforts.					
 Supplemental Agreement No. 2 - 0.00% Overall M/WBE Participation 					

OWNER

Clean Energy, a California corporation, registered to do business in Texas as California Clean Energy, Inc.

Andrew J. Littlefair, President Mitchell W. Pratt, Secretary

WHEREAS, on March 23, 2016, City Council authorized a three-year acquisition contract, which resulted in a service contract, for compressed natural gas for equipped fleet vehicles with Clean Energy dba California Clean Energy, Inc., in an amount not to exceed \$2,493,963.36, by Resolution No. 16-0419; and

WHEREAS, on March 23, 2016, City Council authorized a three-year service contract for compressed natural gas fuel station parts and maintenance for equipped fleet vehicles with Clean Energy dba California Clean Energy, Inc., in an amount not to exceed \$456,720.00, by Resolution No. 16-0420; and

WHEREAS, on March 4, 2019, Administrative Action No. 19-5499 authorized Supplemental Agreement No. 1 to extend the service contract for one year for compressed natural gas for equipped fleet vehicles with Clean Energy, a California corporation, registered to do business in Texas as California Clean Energy, Inc. from March 22, 2019 to March 21, 2020; and

WHEREAS, on March 4, 2019, Administrative Action No. 19-0139 authorized Supplemental Agreement No. 1 to extend the service contract for one year for compressed natural gas fuel station parts and maintenance for equipped fleet vehicles with Clean Energy, a California corporation, registered to do business in Texas as California Clean Energy, Inc. from March 22, 2019 to March 21, 2020.

Now, Therefore,

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DALLAS:

SECTION 1. That the City Manager is hereby authorized to execute **(1)** Supplemental Agreement No. 2 to increase the service contract for compressed natural gas for equipped fleet vehicles for the Equipment and Fleet Management Department, in the amount of \$623,490.75, increasing the service contract amount from \$2,493,963.36 to \$3,117,454.11; and **(2)** Supplemental Agreement No. 2 to increase the service contract for compressed natural gas fuel station parts and maintenance for equipped fleet vehicles for the Equipment and Fleet Management Department, in the amount of \$114,180.00, increasing the service contract amount from \$456,720.00 to \$570,900.00, in a total amount not to exceed \$737,670.75, increasing the contracts from \$2,950,683.36 to \$3,688,354.11, with Clean Energy, a California corporation, registered to do business in Texas as California Clean Energy, Inc. (VC14154), approved as to form by the City Attorney.

SECTION 2. That the Chief Financial Officer is hereby authorized to disburse funds in amount not to exceed \$737,670.75 to Clean Energy, a California corporation, registered to do business in Texas as California Clean Energy, Inc. from Service Contract No. BQ1605.

- **SECTION 3.** That these contracts are designated as Contract Nos. POM-2019-00009399 and POM-2019-00009400.
- **SECTION 4.** That this resolution shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Dallas, and it is accordingly so resolved.



City of Dallas

Agenda Information Sheet

File #: 19-337 Item #: 58.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY: Government Performance and Financial Management

AGENDA DATE: March 27, 2019

COUNCIL DISTRICT(S): N/A

DEPARTMENT: Office of Budget

EXECUTIVE: Elizabeth Reich

SUBJECT

A public hearing to receive comments on the FY 2019-20 Operating, Capital, and Grant & Trust Budgets - Financing: No cost consideration to the City

BACKGROUND

Each year the City of Dallas holds public hearings to provide the residents of Dallas the opportunity to speak on the upcoming year's budget. This public hearing is one of three to be held. Two will be at Dallas City Hall on March 27, 2019, and August 28, 2019 and one on May 8, 2019 at Kleberg-Rylie Recreation Center. Resident input is an important part of the budget development process.

PRIOR ACTION/REVIEW (COUNCIL, BOARDS, COMMISSIONS)

On February 27, 2019, City Council authorized the public hearing by Resolution No. 19-0324.

FISCAL INFORMATION

No cost consideration to the City.